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STUDENT LOAN CONSOLIDATI9N

WEDNESDAY, MAY 25, 1983

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,,EPRESENTATIVES, SUBCOMMITTEE ON POSTSEC-
ONDARY EDUCATION, COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND
LABOR, JOINT WIT'H SENATE SUBCOMMITTEE ON EDUCA-
TION, ARTS AND HUMANITIES OFvTHE SEN.ATE'COMMIT-
TEE ON LABOR AND HUMAN RESOfIRCES,

Washington, RC.
The subcommittees met, pursLnt to call, at 2 p.m., in room 2175,

Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Robert Stafford (chairman of
the Senate Subcommittee on Education, Arts and Humanities) pre-
siding.

Members present.: Senator Stafford, Repregentatives Simon,
Harrison, Jeffbrds, and Petri.

Mr. SIMON [presiding]. The Subcommittee of the House on Post-
secondary Education and Senate Subcommittee on Education, hold-
ing a joint hearing on student loan consolidation..

I will enter my statement in the recordJ, We have some time
problems here.

[Opening statements of Chairman Simon and Chairman Stafford
follow:]

OPENING STATEMENT OF IION. PAUL. SIMON, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM
THE 3TATI:0E ILLINOIS, AND CHAIRMAN, SUBCOMMITTEE ON POSTSECONDARY EDUCA-
TION

Today the Subcommittee on Postilecondary Education and t Senate Subcommit:
tet on Education hold a joinTArts and Humanities hearing o udent loan consoli-
dation. By law only the Student. Loan Marketing Associati (Sallie Mae) has the
authority to consolidate student loans and that authority is . eduled to expire on
August 1, 1983_ State guarantee agencies have requested the statutory authority to
consolidate loans.

The Education Amendments of 1980 (Public Law 96-374) granted loan consolida-
tion authority exclusively to Sallie Mae. Over the last two years the Association has
used that authority to consolidate over $100 million in Guaranteed Student Loans
(GSL's) and National Direct Student Loans (NDSI;s). During, consideration of the
Student Financial Assistance Technical Amendments of 1982, state guarantee. agep7
ries requi!sled the-tiullority to consolidate student loans. At that time, the Congress
was unsure of the implications of such an extension on Federal costs and had not as
yet reviewed the activities of Sallie Mae in their consolidation program. The confer-
ees decided that before any further legislation was enacted regarding consolidation,
the General Accounting Office should review the loan consolidation program and
report on its findings to Congress.

The report language accompanying Public Law 97-301 specifically directed GAO
to investigate the following issues in regard to consolidation: The need for legisla-
ti'e change in the current authority under which Sallie 1144e consolidates loans, spe-
cifically addressing whether or not. Salli6. Mae has the capability when consolidating
loans, to average varying interest rates of three percent and fi\Ph percent; the capa-
bility of state loan guarantee agencies to consolidate student loans and the capabil-
ity of state ;agencies to average varying interest rates of such loans which may in-/
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elude NUS[, loans carrying int rates of three to five percent; the potential sav-
ings to the Federal fiovernmen expanding consolidation authority to state,guar-
antee agencies; and the need for minimum aggregate loan size under consolidation
provisions and what limits would ie appropriate.

The Subcommittees also reque t GAO provide general cost estimates on
how .much loan consolidation costs the Fe- eral Government as it is presently car-
ried out by Sallie Mae and how much it woe Id cost if state guarantee agencies were
also allowed to consolidate loans_ GAO has w completed the requested study and
are here today to report on their findings. At he same time that the Congress re
quested the stUdy, it also provided that Sallie ac's authority to consolidatoloans
would lapse on August I1983 without further egislative action. However, the con-
gress made it clear that they did not intend for the authority to expire but that they
did feel it watt necessary to review the existing law add potentially rewrite the stat-
ute.

Based on the information we receive here today our Subcommittees will be meet-
ing to discuss what direction we want. to take in providing for future consolidation
authority. Along with GAO we will also be hearing from Dr. Edward Elmendorf, thet Assistant Secretttry for Postsecondary Education, on the Department of Education's
position on loan consolidation.

At this time I would like Co welcome Senator Stafford and the Subcommittee on
Education, Arts and Humanities and ask Senator Stafford for any opening remarks
he would like to make.

OPENING. STATEMENT OF LION. ROBERT T. STAFFORD*, A U.S. SENATOR FROM THE STATE
or VERMONT AND CHAIRMAN, SENATE Suncommurr F: ON ETD :ATION, AMTS AND
HUMANITIES

I am pleased to join with ray good friend and colleague, Paul Sithon, to conduct
this joint heating/15h the findings of the General Accounting Office with respect to
the consolidation of student loans.

In order to provide sonic background to this study, I would like to review tlit his-
tory of loan consolidation. In the Educatiod-Amendmonts of 1980, Congress author-
ized the Student Loan Marketing Association (Sallie Mae) to consolidate the loans of
.;students with multiple loans' exceeding $5,000, or with a single loan exceeding
47,500, in order to afford students with high indebtedness the opportunity to reduce
their monthly payments by extending the repayment period, Congress in 1980 ilear-
ly intended loan consolidation as a mechanism for preventing defaults.

In considering last ,year's higher education technical amendments, the Senate
heard testimony from certain .State loan guarantee agencies indicating that they
could consolidate loans ou the same basis as S4jie Mae, at lower cost to.,Federal
Governmen,t, and that. they should be afforded an opportunity to compete in the
consolidation maiiket with Sallie Mae. The provisions of the Senate version of the
technical amendment, S..2852, included such authority by the States_ In conference,
however, it becalme clear that there would he no final agreement between the House
and Senate as to consolidation, since it was difficult to gauge the costs of consolida-
tion under Sallie Mae, and would equally be difficult to assess the prospective costs
of-consolidation under .['State agency-managed program.

Therefore, in an effort to achieve compromise, the conferees agreed to suspend
Sallie Tae's cotisolidation authorit,ti, as of August 1, 1983 and to direct GAO to con-
duct a study of consolidation, its current and projected costs, and the capabili y of

,the States to consolidate loans on the same basis as Sallie Mae. I do not believe
the conferees intended to allow loan consolidation to lapse absolutelywe clearly
intended that the GAO report provide us with accurate information so that an ade-
quate program of consolidation could be authorized by Cress in advance of the
Atigust 1 deadline_

We are pleased to have Mr. Morton Henig of GAO with us today to discuss the
findings of the study My good friend Dr. Edward Elmendorf of the Department of
Education will he our second witness. We look forward to your testimony and your
help in our efforts to come up with a strong program of consolidation.

Mr. SIMON. Senator Stafford will be here shortly. I am, going to
turrythe chair over to my colleague from Vermont th$s may be an
all Vermont day here very shortlytemporarily until Senator Staf-
ford gets here, and then we will hear 'from the witnesses.

8
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My apologies to the witnesses. You have been around here long
enough to understand.

Mr. JEFFORDS. Fine.
Mr. Henig, why don't you proceed?

STATEMENT OF MORTON HENIC, SENIOR ASSOCIATE DIRECTOR,
HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION, GENERAL ACCOUNTING
OFFICE, ACCOMPANIED BY ALBERT B. J9JOKIAN, GROUP DI-
RECTOR, HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION; WILLIAM A. SCHMIDT,
PROJECT MANAGER, HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION; DONNA
BEILVIN; AND JOAN DENOME

HENIG. Thank you, Mr. Jeffords.
I would like to introduce other members of the General Account-

ing Office who are here with me today. My name is Morton Ilenig.
I am a senior associate director for the General Accounting Office.
On my- left is Mr. Al Jojokian, group director with the Human Re-
sources Division, GAO. On my right is Bill Schmidt. He is the pro-
gram manager, project' manager for this particular assignment. I
also'have behind me Donna BeilVin and Joan Denome, who worked
on the assignment.

I have a stirtement for the record which lras been submitted. I
will try and summarize that a little bit, take a little less time.

We are pleased to be here today to discuss the information you
requested us to develop concerning the Student Loan Marketing
Association's [Sallie Mae's] loan consolidation program. Specifical-
ly, we were requested to develop information on program costs and
the program's impact on default& and on potential legislative
modifications affecting program expansion, interest rates, mini-
mum loan amounts, aid interest subsidies.

The loan consolidation program is intended to reduce a borrow-
er's repayment burden by providing extended repayment periods
and lower monthly payments on relatively high student loan in-

...debtedness. Repayment,terms.jointly developed by Sallie Mae and
the Department of Education can vary from 10 years for loans of
up to $7,500 to 20 years for loans totaling more than $16,000.

Sallie Mae began consolidating student loans in November 1981,
and by December 31, 1982, had consolidated 10,648 loans totaling
$6.6.9 million from 5,473 borrowers. About 70 percent Of the consoli-
dated loans exceeded $10,000. By April 1983, the consolidated loans
had reached $107 million. ti

Sallie Mae offers three repayment options to borrowers partici-
pating irk the loan consolidation programa straight line, or con-
stant, monthly repayment schedule, and two types of graduated re-
payment schedulell,The repayment periods for consolidated loans
are generally longtr than for the original loans and monthly pay-
ments are often substantially less' than those for the original loans.

Sallie Mae estimates that ithe consolidation program will cyst the
Federal Government an additional $2 million, or 5 percent, for
every $100 million of loans consolidated. The additional costs would
be spread over the life of the consolidated loans, which currently
averages about 13 years. The estimated cost increase is based on
the expectation that the added special alloWance payments result-
ing from extended repayment periods will exceed savings resulting
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from fewer defaults. The cost estimates can change with variations
in a number of factors affecting, special allowances including Treas-
ury bill yields that are the basis for setting special allowances:

Volume of consolidated NDSL's, that is, national direct student
loans,-which are not eligible for special allowances until they are
consolidated; and

Aggregate borrower indebtedness which affects the length of the
repayment periods and thus special allowance payments.

Because the program has been operating for only about 1 year, it
is too early to assess_ the program's impact art' loan defaults. The
annual default rate for the GSL program is 10 percent of the out-
standing loan value and for the NDSL program, it is 11 percent.

Department of Education and State student loan program offi--
cials expect the consolidation program to reduce defaults.

We reviewed the potential legislative modifications to Sallie
Mae's loan consolidation program in terms of four issues;

One, extending loan consolidation authority to States; two, deter-
mining individual loan interest rates by averaging the rates of the
loans being consolidated; thiee, revising or eliminating the aggre-
gate qualifying loan balance requirements; and four, limiting spe-
cial allowance payments to thq consolidated loans that were eligi-
ble for the allowance prior to consolidation.

*We identified 33 programs within the States with secondary
market or direct-student loan authority. These programs would be
the most likely to participate in loan consolidations. We contacted
officials of the 33 programs, and 20 indicated that their programs
would participate in the loan consolidation program if authority
was extended to the States. We visited 8 of the 20 pkograms to
obtain additional information on their interest and on their capa-
bility to administer consolidated loans.

Six had issued tax-exempt bonds to fund their secondary market
and direct loan programs. One was considering issuing such bonds
and the other used State pension funds to finance its operations
but had authority to issue bonds. Recent bond issues, by the pro-
grams have ranged from $92 ill'ion..,,ta--$140 and in early
1983 the outstanding bonds totaled about $800 million.
-A preliininary estimate provided by Sallie Mae indicates a poten-

tial nationwide market for loan consolidations of between $300 mil-
lion and $5,40 million, and $300 million in new consolidations annu-
ally after a few yyvrs.

Using the assumption that demand for loan consolidation would
be related to outstanding GSL's, we computed each Mate's percent-

* age sh'aiT, of total outstanding GSL's at September 30, 1982. We es-
timate that potential consolidations for the eight States would
range,, from about $3 million to $51 million and total about $140?
million:

Because these ranges are well within the ranges of recent bond
issues by the State programs we visited, it appears the programs
could raise the funds needed to consolidate loans.

All of the State programs we visited used automated systems to
service student loans, and according to officials of the programs,
their functions for servicing, purchasing, and making student loans
are similar to those required to consolidate loans. Any modifica-

4
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Lions to allpw for extended repaymeawriods could be readily im-
plemented.

None of the State programs offer borrowers graduated repay-
ment schedulesoptions that have been selected by about 75 per-
cent of those who obtained consolidated loans from Sallie Mae.
However, each of the programs expressed the opinion that the tech-
nical expertise to develop arid implement such option,s is available.

Whether the functions involved in the State secondary market ordirect loan activities are similar to those required for loan consoli-
dation is, according to Sallie Mae, questionable. In any event, on
the basis of our discussions with the State programs and Sallie
Mae, it would seem that the programs could obtain the administra-
tive tind technical capability to operate a loan consolidation pro-gram"

We attempted to estimate the potential net impact on Federal
costs of extending loan consolidation authority to States. We were
unable to come 4p with- anything near a precise figure because of
the difficulty in obtaining reliable information on several of the
elements needed to compute relative costs. There is a cost factor

-that would need to be addressed, however, if consolidation author-
ity is extended to the States; that is, the administrative cost allow-
ance on GSL's that would be paid to the Stae guaranty agecy by
the Department of ..Education. Since the Federal Government has
already paid the 1- percent' administrative cost on the face value of
the original loans, the desirability of haying the Government pay a
second fee for the consolidation of these same loans is something
the Congress may wish to consider.

State program officials agreed that if consolidation authority is
extended, criteria should be established to insure borrowers full
access to consolidations and to limit repayment periods based onaggregate loan amounts.

According to officials of three of the State programs we visited, if
consolidation authority is extended some-State guaranty agencies
may be unwilling to insure loans ogered for consolidation which
were originally insured by another guarantor because they did no
receive insurance fees on the original loans.

Officials 95-all the programs indicated that requirements shoul
be established to insure that borrowers are able to consolidate al
.eligible loans with a participating program. In those instanceswhen a guaranty agency is unwilling to insure all of a borrower's
eligible loans, the Department of -Education could offer to insure.
the loans directly as it now does with Sallie Mae.

With regard to loan repayment periods according to Sallie Mae
and Department of Education officials such limits are needed to
prevent unreasonable increases in special allowance payments
which could result if borrowers with relatively low loan amou_nis,.
could extend repayment periods up to the 20-year maximum. State
program officials agreed.

13Oth Sallie Mae and officials of most State programs we visitedindicated that their programs have or could acquire the capability
to determine consolidated loan interest rates by averaging, cal aweighted basis, the interest rates of the underlying loans. However,
Sallie Mae and Department of Education ,officials stated that such
a modification would cause administrative problems with the spe-

,
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cial allowance billing process and limit the Department's ability to
assure itself that lenders' billings are accurate.

According to Sallie Mae, 931)ercent of their consolidated loans
through December 1982 'were GSL's and 7 percent were NDSL's.
The average weighted interest rate was 6.7 percent. At this rate,
Federal costs on a consolidated loan volume of $100. million would
increase by about $300,00,W, or about 4 percent, in the first year,
and by $2.9 million, or about 5 percent, over the life of the loans.
The modification would be likely to induce more borrowers to con-
solickfte NDSL's, but we cannot e,stimate how much.

Determining consolidated Jen interest rates by averaging the
original loan rates would decrease special allowances associated
with 9 percent\ GSL's because tilse 'bans are now consolidated at 7-
percent. Sallie Mae and the Department of Education favor a
change to prevent borrowers from receiving windfall interest rate
reductions by consolidating 9 percents loans at 7 percent.

To 4ualify for consolidated loan borrowers must have loans total-
ing more than $5,000 from more than one lender, or totaling more
than $7,500 from one lender. While borrowers with more than
$7,500 can choose extended repayment periods, those with less are
limited to tit same 10-year rriaximum---as-provided fOr GSL's. How-
ever, the mohthly payments to Sallie Mae by a borrower with less
than V,500 will usually be lower than they would have been with-
out conlsolidation because, due to loan servicing costs, each of the
original lenders would usually require at least the $50 minimum
payment provided forGSL's.

The $5,000 tivalifying level iT approximately consistent with the
current GSL requirements that provide for a minimum monthlyre-
payment of $50 and a maximum term of 10 years. Providing more"
liberal repayment terms to lower indebtedness,, borrowers by elimi-
nating or reducing the qualifying `amounts would increase Federal
special allowance payments.

Officials at most of the eight State programs we visited agreed
that minimum qualifying criteria is needed to preventS excessive in-
creases in special allthkance payments.

Because the total monthly payments of borrowers with multiple
loans who d not qualify for consolidation can be inordinately high
because of le'nders minimum payment requirements, several States
had established procedures to alleviate the burden.

I would like to point out that relatively few borrowers with lower
iebtedness levels have chosen to consolidate their loans. Of the
consolidated loans made through December 1982, about, 13 percent
were less than $8,000, and about 71. percent were greater than
$10,000.

We do not believe the current qualifying loan amounts are un-
reasonettle. If the specific levels are eliminated, one way to limit
Federal costs would be to require a minimum monthly payment
similar to that in theGSL program.

The last point we were to deal-With was limiting special allow-
ances on consolidation loans. While lending institutions are not eli-

ibleXor Federal spiecial allowances on the original NDSL's, Sallie
Mae receives suchMlowances when the loaris are consolidated.

Sallie Mae estimates that by eliminating Federal special allow-
ances on the NDSL portion ,of consolidated loans, the allowances

12
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paid on a $100 million consolidated loan portfolio would decrease
by $500,000 in the first year and by $4.3 million over the life of the
loans.

According to Sallie Mae and Department of. Educatioh officials,
there are certain benefits to the Federal Government of consolidat
ing NDSL's which should be.considered when assessing the equity
of paying special allowances on these loan amounts, including prob-
able tediNtion of ND:SI, defaults and reduced Federal contributions
needed to replenish college revolving funds as a result of early re-
payment of NDSL's.

While paying special allowances on the NDSL portion of consoli-
dated loans may be inequitable to the Federal Governinent, offi-
cials of the eight State programs we visited indicated that eliminat-
ing such payments would give State programs little incentive to
consolidate these loans. The officials pointed' out that pe cost of
money and operating expenses associated with consolidating
NDSL's would probably exceed borrower interest payments, in
which case they would not be willing to accept the loans.

Thus, if 'special allowances are eliminated on the NDSL portion
of consolidated loans and borrower interest rates are not increased
to compensate for the lost Federal payments, borrowers may be
unable to consolidate all of their loans. Of the 5,473 borrowers who
consolidated their loans through December 1982, 1,601 included
NDSL loans totaling $5 million. If NDSL's were not eligible for
consolidation, 442 of these borrowers would not have qualified for
loan consolidation.

Messrs. Chairmen, this concludes my statement. We will be
happy to answer any questions you or members of your subcommit-
tees may have.

[Prepared statemen,t, of Morton E. Henig follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF MORTON E. HENIG, SENIOR ASSOCIATE DIRECTOR, HUMAN
RF.SI ICES DIVISION, U.S. GRNERAI. ACCOUNTING OFFICE

Messrs. Chairmen and members of the subcommittee, we are pleased to be here
today to discuss the information you requested us to develop concerning the Stu ent
Loan Marketing Association's (Sallie Mae's) loan consolidation program. Speci al-
ly. we were requested to develop information on program costs and the progra
impact on defaults, and on poterktial legislative modifications affecting pro r ex-
pansion. interest rates, minimum loan amounts, and intetest subsidie

nAcxcritouND....--

Sallie Mae is authorized by the Education AmendMents of 1980 to make new
loans and extend the repayment terms of Guaranteed Student Loans (GSL's) and
National Direct Student Loans tNDSL's) to borrowers whose aggregate indebtedness
exceeds $5.000 from more than one lendef, loan program, or guarantor, or exceeds
$7,500 from one lender. The act sets the interest rate on consolidate loans at 7 per-
cent. Sallie Mae is paid a special allowance by the Federal Government on the full
amount of the loans to compensate for the difference between market and consoli-
dated loan interest rates. .

The loan consolidation program is intended to reduce a borrower's repayment
burden by providing extended repayment periods and lower monthly payments on
relatively high student -loan indebtedness. Repayment terms jointly develoged by
Sallie Mae and the Department of Educatiori can vary from 10 years for loans of up
to $7,500 to 20 years for loans totaling more than $16,000. Under the act, only Sallie

oi
Mae can provide consolidated loans to student loan borrowers. Sallie Mae is a pri-
vate for-profit c poration created in 1972 to provide liquidity for student loans by
providing a sec dary market and related activities for lenders participating in in-
sured student loan programs.
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Sallie Mae began consolidating student loans in November 1981, and by December
31,- 1982, had consolidated 10,648 loans totaling $66.9 million from 5,473 borrowers.
Of these loans, 8.624 totaling $61.9 million were GSL's and 2,024 totaling $5 million
were NDSL's. The consolidated loans averaged $12,232. The),GSL's that were consoli-
dated averaged $7,179 and the NDSL's averaged $2,488. About 70 percent of the con-
solidated loans. exceeded $10,000. By April 1983, loans consolidated by Sallie Mae
had reached $107 million.

Sallie Mae offers three repayment options to borrowers participating in the loan
consolidation program --a straight line, or constant, monthly repayment schedule,
and two types of graduated repayment schedules where by initial monthly payments
are significantly lowtr than the straight line option but increase every 24 months.
However, while repayment periods depend on the aggregate loan amount, the repay-

, ment periods for consolidated loans are generally longer than for the original loans
and monthly payments are often substantially less than those for the original loans.
For example, borrowers with aggregate indebtedness between $11,000and $16,000
can elect to repay the loan over a period up to 16 years, rather than the 10 year
maximum permitted by the GSL and NDSL programs. Typically, a borrower'in this
range would pay $166 monthly under the original loans and $96 monthly if the
loans are consolidatedan average monthly reduction of $70,

COSTS OF CONSOLIDATED LOAN PROGRAM AND ITS IMPACT ON DEFAULTS

Sallie Mae estimates that the consolidation program will cost the Federal Govern-
ment an additional $2 million, or 5 percent, for every $100 million of loans consoli-
dated. The additional costs would be spread over the life of the consolidated loans,
which currently averages about 13 years.

The estimated increase in costs is based on several assumptions. Sallie Mae's esti-
mate assumes that investors incur no expenses associated with the purchases of
Sallie Mae securities which are to provide funds for consolidated loans, and there-
fore pay Federal income taxes on the full amount of interest earned. To the extent
that investors' expenses reduce taxable income, Sallie Mae's estimate of4Federal
costs for the program would increase. The estimated cost increase is also based on
the expectation that the added special allowance payments resulting from extended
repayment periods will exceed savings resulting from fewdMelaults. Sallie Mae
used a 2 percent default rate for consolidated loans in its estimate o f t eltil program
costs, figure they believe is conservative. The cost estimates can changZ with vari-
ations in a nuinber Of factors affecting special allowances including, Treasury Bill
yields that are the basis for setting special allowances which rise or fall with
changes in the yields; volume of consolidated NDSLs which are not eligible for spe-
cial allowances until they are consolidated; and aggregate borrower indebtedness
which affects the length of the repayment periods and thus special allowance pay-
ments.

With respect to Sallie Mae's default experience, as of December 1982, three con-
solidated 'loans totalling about $32,000 went into defaultless that one-tenth of one
percent of Sallie Mae's consolidated loan portfolio of about $66.9 million at that
time. However, because the prograni has been operating for only about one year, it
is too early to assess the program's impact on loan defaults. The annual default rate
for the GSL program is 10 percent of the outstanding loan value and for the NDSL
program it is 11 percent.

Department of Education and State student loan program officials expect the con -'
solidation program to reduce defaults. However, a Department official indicated it
would be misleading to compare consolidation default rates with GSL and NDSL de-
fault rates because default rates tend to decline as the level bf borrower indebted-
ness increases. According to a 1982 study prepared for the National Commission on
Student Financial Assistance, borrowers with cumulative GSI3 debts of over $9,000
the cumulative debt of most borrowers at the time of repayment is less than
$3,000default less often than borrowers with smaller loan amounts.

ASSESSMENT OF PROGRAM ALTERNATIVES

We received the potential legislative modifications to Sallie Mae's loan consolida-
tion program in terms of four issues: (1) extending loan consolidation authority to
States, (2) determining individual loan interest rates by averaging the rates of the
loans being consolidated, (3) revising or eliminating the aggregate /qualifying loan
balance requirements, and (4) limiting special allowance payments to the consolidat-
ed loans that were eligible for the allowance prior to consolidation.

We developed information on the administrative and financial capability of State
programs to administer loan consolidations, the administrative and financial capa-
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bility of Sallie Mae and State programs to administer consolidations with the poten-
tial legislative moilifications, and the impact of the potential legislative modifica-
tions on Federal costs.

Extending loan consolidation authority to State progiTints
With the assistance of the National Council of Higher Education Loan Programs,

Inc., we identified 33 programs with the States with secondary market or direct stu-
dent loan authority. According to a council official, these programa would be the
most likely to participate in loan consolidations because they have established fund-
ing mechanisms and the authority to buy, sell, and/ormake student loans. We con-
tacted officials of the 33 programs by phone to determine their interest in partici-
pating in the student loan consolidation program. Officials from 20 of the State pro-
grams indicated that their programs would participate in the loan consolidation pro -
gram if authority was extended to the States. We visited 8 of the 20 State programs
to obtain additional information on their interest in the consolidation program and
On their programs' administrative and financial capability to adniinister consolidat-
ed loans. These irograrns provide a balance in terms of Lan volume, funding
levels. and geographic locations. (-

We sent letters to the rdinainint) 12 programs requesting similar information, and
received responses from four. Because the information they provided was more gen-
eral than we were able to obtain through personal discussions, their response are
riot included in our analysis. However, they generally agreed with the views ex-
pressed by officials of the 8 programs we visited.

Six ,-of the eight programs visited had issued tax-exempt bonds to fund their sec--
ondary market and direct loan programs. Of the remaining two, one was consider-
ing issuing such bonds to fund a secondary market program which had been author:'
ized but not yet implemented, and the other uscd state pension funds to finance its
operations but had tiuthoiAty to issue bonds if necessary to met funding require-
ments. Recent bond issues by the programs have ranged from $92 million to $140
million, and in early 1983 the outstanding bonds totalled about $800 million. Offi-
cials from each of the programs we visited believed that necessary funds cpuld he
raised to meet demand for loan consolidations.

According to Department of Education and State program officials, adequate in-
formation is not readily available to identify borrowers who are eligible for loan
consolidation in order to develop aCcurate estimates of the potential volume of loans
that would be consolidated. However, a preliminary estimate provided by Sallie Mae
indicates a potential nationwide market for loan consolidations of between $300 mil-
lion and $500 million, and $300 million in new consolidations annually after a few
years.

Using the assumption that demand for loan consolidation would be related to out-
standing GS1..'s because they comprised over 90 percent of the consolidations, we
computed each State's percentage share of total outstanding GSL's at SepteMber 30,
1982. By applying the percentages to the preliminary market estimates, we estimate
that potential consolidations for the eight. States, bitsed On Sallie MACS' lower na-
tionwide. estimate of $300 million, range from about $3 million to about $31 million
and total about $84 million. At Sallie Mae's higher estimate of $500 million, the
range would be ithout $4 million to $51 million and total $110 million.

Because these ranges are well within the ranges of recent bond issues by the
State programs we visited, it appears that--as State officials indicatedthe pro-
grams could raise the funds needed to consolidate loans. In any 'event, borrowers
encountering unanticipated funding limitations at the State programs could consoli-
date their loans with Sallie Mae.

All of the State programs we visited used automated systems to service student
loans. Four had developed their own systems and tbur contracted wish organizations,
that had student loan processing systems available to interested servicers. These-
systems maintain demographic.and loan history data, provide for merging multiple
loans to establish single monthly payments over terms based on loan amounts. gen-

. erate monthly billings, account for collections, initiate delinquency folliiwup actions,
and produce information needed to prepare special allowance billelgs to the Depart-
ment of Education.

Of the eight State programs we visited: four operated secondary makkets whereby
they purchased student loans from lendurS to impro,Te lender liquidity; two operated
direct. loan programs under whicsh, loans were made 1.6 students who otherwise could
not obtain thorn; one operated -both a secondary market and direct loan program;
and one had the authority to operate a secondary market but had not.exercised it.
In addition to servicing the loans in their portfdlios, Tour of these programs had con-
tends to service Ga.'s in Sallie Mac's secondary market portfolio_
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According to officials of the eight State programs, their program functions for
servicing, purchasing, and making student loans are similar to fhose required to
consolidate loans, and any modifications to illow for extended repayment periods
could be readily. .implemented:- The officials pointed out that: Their practice of merg-
ing borrowers' multiple loans (many students receive more than one loan during
their education) to provide a single monthly repayment over periods which wiry
with loan amounts is a form of consolidation similar to that.practiced by Sallie Mae;
arid their secondary market and direct loan activities involve procedures similar to
those needed to consolidate loans whereby loan payk)ff amounts are obtained, checks
are prepared and forwarded to lenders to repay student loans, arid new loans are
established,'

None of the State programs offer borrowers graduated repayment schedules----op-
bons that have been selected by about 75 percent of those who obtained consolidat-
ed loans from Sallie Mae. However, each ofthe.programs expressed the opinion that
the technical expertise to develop and implement such options is available. On the
other hand, an official observed that if state% 'Mr! not offer graduated repayment
scheduleswhich would generally increase borrower interest costs and Federal spe-
cial allowance paymentsstudents wanting graduated repayments could obtain con-
solidated loans from Sallie Mae_

Whether the functions involved in the State secondary market. or direct loan ac-
tivities are similar to those required for loan consolidation is, according to Sallie
Mae, questionable. In anyevent, on the basis of our discussions with the State pro-
grams and Sallie Mae, it would seem that the programs could obtain the adminis-
trative and technical capability to operate a-loan consolidation program.

We attempted to estimate the potential net impact on Federal costs of extending
loan consolidation authority to States. We were unable to come up with anything
near a precise figure because of the difficulty in obtaining reliable information on
several of the elements needed to compute relative costs. There is a cost factor that
would need to be addressed, however, if consolidation authority is extended to the
States; that is. the administrative cost allowance on GSI.,'s that would be paid to the
State guaranty agency by the Department of Education. Since the Federal Govern-
ment has already paid the 1 percentadministrative cost on the face value of the
original loans, the desirability of having the Government pay a second fee for the
consolidation of these same loans is something the Congress may wish to consider_

State program officials agreed that if consolidation authority is extended, criteria
should be established to ensure borroWers full access to consolidations and to limit
repayment periods based on aggregate loan amounts.

According to officials of three of the State programs we visited, if consolidation
authority is extended some State guaranty agencies may he unwilling to insure
loans offerqj for consolidation which were originally insured by another guarantor
because they did not receive insurance fees on the original loans. Of the $66.9 mil-
lion of loans consolidated by Sallie Mae through December 1982, $33.4 million (49.9
percent) were made with borrowers consolidating multiple loans insured by more
than one gun r a n to r

Officials of all the programs indicated that requirements should be established to
ensure that borrowers are able ty consolidate all eligible loans with a participating
program. An official of one program suggested that participating programs offer
consolidation only to those borrowers who obtained at least one of the original loans
in that program's jurisdiction. In those instances when a guaranty agency is unwill-
ing to insure all of a borrower's eligible loans. the Department of Education could
offer to insure the loans directly as it now does with Sallie Mae.

With regard to loan repayment periods based on aggregate loan amounts, accord-
ing to Sallie Mae and Department of Education officials such limits are needed to
prevent unreasonable increases in special allowance payments which could result if
borrowers with relatively low loan amounts could extend repayment periods up to
the 20-year maximum. State program officials agreed with this.

Averaging interest rates
Because al( consolidated loans made by Sallie Mae currently carry a 7-percent in-

terest rate, borrowers who consolidate NDSI, loans made at 3, 4, or 5 percent experi-
ence an interest rate increase, while those who consolidate 9-percent CSI, loans ex-
perienCe a decrease.

Both Sallie Mae and officials of most -State programs we visited indicated that
their programs havt or could acquire the capability to determine consolidated loan
interest. rates by averaging, on a weighted basis, the interest rates of the underlying
loans. However, Sallie Mae and Department of Education officials stated that such a
modification would cause administrative problems with the special allowance billing
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process and limit the Department's ability to assure itself that lenders' billings are
accurate. Billings for special allowances are submitted to the Department qukOterly
for verification and payment. The loans are summarized by the statutory interest
rates, and the categories would have to be expanded if consolidated loans IA re
gkruped by the average interest rates.

According to Sallie Mae, 93 percent of their consolidated loans through December
1982 were GSL's and 7 percent were NDSL's. The average weighted interest rate of
the GSL's and NDSL's was 6.7 percent. At this rate, Federal costs on a consolidated
loan volume of $100 million would increaseaby about- $30t),000 -or about 1 percent-
in the first year because special allowances will increase to make up for reduced
interest payments by borrowers_ Sallie Mae estimates that special allowance pay-
ments On such a portfolio would increase by $2.9 millionor about 5 percent----over
the life of the loans. The modification would be likely to induce more borrowers to
consolidate NDSL's, but we cannot estimate how much.

Determining consolidated loan interest rates by averaging the original loan rates
would decrease special allowances associated with 9 percent GSL's because these
loans are now consolidated at 7 percqqt. Sallie Mae and the Department of Educa-
tion favor a chakige to preyent borrowers from receiving "windfall- interest rate re-
ductions by consolidating 9 percent loans at 7 percent.

In addition to GSL's and NDSL's, the law authorizes Auxiliary Loans to Assist
Students and Health Education Assistance Loans. which carry higher interest rates
than GSL's4 to be consolidated. While these loigis do not now participate in the con-
solidation program, their consolidation would affect the weighted average,ipterest
rate of loans being consolidated and thus special allowance payments.
Revising qualifying loan amounts .

As I mentioned earlier, to qualify for a consolidated loan borrowers must have
loans totaling more than $5,000 from more than one lender, or totaling more than
$7,500 from one lender. While borrowers with more than $7,500 Can choose extended
repayment periods, those with less are limited to the same 10 year maximum as
prolided for GSL's. However, the monthly payments to Sallie Mae by a borrower
with leas than $7,501) will usually he lower than they would have been without con-
solidation becausedue to loan servicing costs -each of the original lenders would
usually require at least the $50 minimum payment provided for GSL's.

The $5,000 qualifying level is approximately consistent with the current GSI, re-
quirements that provide for a minimum monthly repayment of $50 and a maximum
term of 10 years_ For example, a borrower would have t.o have loans of about $4,300in order to pay off the principal and interest over 10 years at $50 a month., Provid-
ing more liberal repayment terms to lower indebtedness borrowers by eliminating
or reducing the qualifying amounts would increase Federal special allowance pay-
ments. For example, the special allowance payments on a $4,000 consolidated loan
with a l0-year repayment. period would be about 14 percent greater than the allow-
ances paid on a similar loan with a required minimum monthly repayment of $50Which would limit the repayment period to 9 years. Similarly, special allowance
payments on a $3,000 consolidated loan with a 10 year repayment period would be
about 84 percent greater than special allowances paid on a similar loan that would
be paid off in 6 years under a minimum monthly payment requirement of $50.

Officials at most of the eight State programs we visited agreed that minimum
qualifying criteria is needed t.o prevent excessive increases in special allowance pay-
ments. Officials of six programs indicated that the current $5,000 level is reasona-
ble, and the other two believed the specific criteria should he dropped but that mini-
mum loan requirements should be consistent with the repayment requirements of
the GSL program of $50 per month.

Because the total monthly payments of borrowers with multiple loans who do not
qualify for consolidation can be inordinately high because of lenders' minimum pay-
ment requirements, several States had established procedures to alleviate the
burden. Two State programs generally require borrowers to obtain all of their loans
from the same lender, which enables the lender to merge the loans at the beginning
of the repayment period to provide for a single monthly remyment,. Because loan
servicing costs are relatively constant regardless of loan amounts, the resulting
monthly payment will usually be lower than the total of the payments which would
have been required by multiple lenders. Similarity, four State programs havebeen
successful in encouraging lenders to buy loans from one another so that all of a bor-
rower's loans are held by one lender.

While Sallie Mae accepts all eligible loans of borrowers who meet the qualifying
levels; relatively fewbkgrowers with lower indebtedness levels have chosen to con-
solidate their loans. Of the consolidated loans made to 5,173 borrowers through De-
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cember 1982, 729or akut 13 percentwere less than $8,000, and 3,901---or about
71 percentwere greater tlian $10,000. A

We do not believe the current. qaualifAlgg loan amounts are unreasonable, and
some State programs have denionstrated that means otkier than reducing the levels
can he developed to prevent high payment burdens of borrowers with low' indebted-
ness obtained from multiple lenders. If the specific levels are eliminated, one way to
limit Federal costs would be to require a minimum monthly payment similar to that
in the GSI, program.

Lenuting special allowances on consolidation loans
INDS!, loans are made by educational institutions mod -are funded in part by the

The interest rate on these 100116 was 3 perept prior to .1980, 4 percent in 1980, and
institution 110 percent) and in part by the Department Of ..Ltication (9(1 percent).

is currently 5 percent. While lending institutions are not eligible for Ft)deral.special
allowances on the original NDSI:s, Sall.t_141ae receives such allowances when the
loans are consolidated.

Based AM past experience, Sallie Mae estimates that by elirniqating Federal spe-
cial allowances on the NDSI. portion of consolidated loans, the allowances paid on a
$100, million consolidated loan portfolio would decrease by $500,000 in the first year
and by $1.1 million aver the life of the loans. If original loan interest rates were
averaged and special allowances on the NDSI, portion were eliminated, the savings
would be about 5200.000 in the first year and about $1.6 million over the life of the
/vans.

According to Sallie Mae and Department of Education officials, there are certain
benefits to he Federal Governmerkt of consolidating-NDSL's which should he consid-
ered when assessing the equity of paying special allowan4s on these loan amounts,
including probable reduction ,of,..NDSI, defaults tut ri5duced Federal contributions
needed to replenish college revolving funds ds a result of early iepayment of
NDS1,.s.

While paying special allowanc,es on the NMI. portion of consolidated loans may
be inequitable to the Federal Government. officials of the eight State prvgrams we
visited indicated that eliminating such payments would give State programs little
incentive to consolidate tb6se loans. The officials pointed out that the cost of money

sand operating expenses associated with consoliating NDSL's would probably exceed
borrower interest payments, in which case they would not be willing to accept the
loans.

Thus, if special allowances are eliminated on the NDSI, portion of consolidated
loans and borrower interest rates are not increased to compensate for the lost Fed-
eral payments. borrowers may be unable to consolidate all of their. loans. Of the
5.473 borrowers who consolidated their loans through December 1982, 1,601 included
NDSI. loans totaling,$5 million.. if NDSL's were not eligible for consolidation, 142 of
these borrowers would not have qualified for loan consolidation.

Messrs. Chairmen, this concludes my statement. We will be happy to answer any
questions you or, members of your Subcommittees may have.

Mr. JEFFORDS. Thank you, Mr. Henig. Excellent statement. I

know. you have provided us with much valuable information. I am '
going to have the very rare opportunity, and, probably one I may
never have again. That is to now provide the blistinguished Senator
from my State .the opportunity to ask some questions. I appreciate

athis chance. I am very excited.
Senator STAFFORD. Thank you very much, Congressman Jeffords.-

nce this is a joint -hearing of the Senate Subcommittee on Edu-
canton, Arts and Humanities and I-louse Postsecondary Education
Subcommittee, it gives me the opportunity to returp to the side of
the House where I started almost 23 years ago. I spent 10 years on
this side of the Capitol, much of it in hearing rooms like this one,
occupied by the House Armed Services Committee. So it is a pleas-
ant opportunity to return to a former scene and very pleasant
memories.

Mr. Ilenig, we appreciate the work you have put-into the Jreport
you have prepared for us. As the chairman-said, it is very helpful
to us in understanding the problems involved in consolidation of
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student loans. I might ask you at the outset, should consolidation
be authorized beyond the present limit for Sallie Mae, is there any-
thing which would compel students who have loans at 3, 4, or 5
percent rates, fo go into consolidation and thereby be bumped up to
a 7-percent rate?

Mr. IIENIG. We found nothing which would compel a student to
do so. That is up to the student, himself, to make that determina-
tion._

Senator STAFFORD. Well, I concur in that conclusion. But I appre-
ciate your making that statement. The obvious situation probably
would be that students- who have 9-percent loans might wish to
consolidate at the present time in view of the fact a 7-percent rate
is currently the Sallie Mae rate of interest. Are we on the same
track again?

Mr. HENIG. Yes; I would think that would be very natural if a
student had a lot of 9-percent loans, he would try and consolidate.
That hasn't happened to any large extent yet. I understand both
the Department and Sallie Mae, as I said, are in favor of changing
that situation, so that there wouldn't be that kind of a windfall.

Senator STAFFORD. Right. Is there any reason to expect that the
number of students choosing to consolidate their loans would in-
crease substantially if States were allowed to consolidate on the
same terms as Sallie Mae?

Mr. IIENIG. There is nothing that we found that would indicate a
large increase, because State agencies had the same authority
Sallie Mae did. Sallie Mae made an estimate of what the probable
market would be. That would be the same market whether the
State agencies were involved, or just Sallie Mae.

Senator STAFFORD. Is there any reason to expect that Federal
costs would be increased as a result of extending consolidation au-
thority to State agencies?

Mr. HENIG. Senator, that is where we had our big problem of
trying to figure out what the additional costs, or what the compara-
tive costs would be. The State agencies would not get the full spe-
cial allowance payment, so that would be a saving to the Govern-
ment. By the same token the States now use tax-free bonds to fi-
nance their programs. That is a loss to the Government to the
extent that money is money that might otherwise be invested in
taxable-type information. But because we could not really get a
good handle on what the additional amounts that would be bor-
rowed by the States would be, it would be hard to estimate what
the additional loss to the'Treasury would be.

Senator STAFFORD.. After reviewing the current consolidation pro-
gram, what would be the elements in your mind of a cost effective
program of loan consolidation, assuming you have some thoughts
on it? -

Mr. HENIG. Well, the existing program according to Sallie Mae
would not, as Sallic Mae operates it would not be that terribly
costly to the Goverfi ent if the default rates are reduced to where
Sallie Mae believes they would be. I indicated earlier Sallie Mae
figures the program would cost about $2 million over the life of the
program for each $100,000 in a portfolio. Their estimate is based on
a default rate going down to about 2 percent. Their present default
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exivrience is very much lower than that, considerably lower than
that.

But as 1 said, it is toosearly to tell. Whether that default rate will
go down or stay that low under a long-term basis, that is a 'ques-
tionable thing. It is hard for us to forecast. If yOu add some of the
other features we discussed in my testimony, they wouldopdd costs
to the present program. Some things would decrease costs. So I
can't. say what the best type of a program is. I think that would
have. to be based on an assessment of all the information we have
developed. ,There are other factors besides cost which would getter-,. ate, interest in chatting the program.r.n-

Sertator STAFFORD. Tlfank you very much, Mr.:. I lenig. I think
before I yield to the microphone that. I would just like lo note for
the record that in a sense this joint hearing of the House Senate
Committees on Education is unusual in the fact that both commit-
toes temporarily at least are headed by lrepresentatives from the
State Of Vermont and not only from .the State of Vermont but from

-1 the same kiometown and who grew up maybe a couple,' hundred
yards apart from each other.

.4.FORDS. That is a good trend. I hope we can keep it up.
Mr. Harrison.
Mr. HARRISON. Thank yOu, Mr. Chairman. I think Vermont has Pa

majority of those present.
Mr..flenig, I guess just to summarize, if I understand what you

said to Senator Stafford, it really isn't possible to estimate what
would be the loss in revenues to the Federal Government if the
States were allowed to consolidate. Is that a fair summary?

IIHNIG. Yes; part of our dilemma ist7this. The States presently
have something over $4 billion in tax-free bonds out, something
like $4.5 billion, perhaps. There is only about $2.5 billion as far as
our present data show of loans purchased with that money. So
there is about a $2 billion float out there that hasn't been used to
purchase student loans under their existing programs. That would
seem to be plenty of money to use for consolidations, so if you don't
float any more bonds, you are hurting no more.

But if the. States do go out and float some more tax-free bonds,
then the Treasury is hurt to some extent. Another factor is, how

1. much of that money would come from existing investors who invest
in tax-free bonds. How much of that money would come from inves-
tors switching from taxable to tax-free bonds? Those are figures we
can't get, any real good information on, so it is hard to figure out
what the additional cost would be. That is our dilemma.

Mr. HARRISON. There seems, t e a similar difficulty in the sense
that you anticipate that cons ation would lead to a saving by re-
ducing the default rattl ou are not able to pin that down very
precisely, either.

Mr. HEN1G. No. Sallie Mae's estimate of 2 percent may be pretty
good. It may be a lot lower than that. At this point it is only an
estimate and we don't have any experience under a consolidation
program that bears that out. We do know the larger the loan the
less. likely it is for default. The default rates are higher as the loan
amottnt is smaller. And Sallie Mae is dealing with larger loan
amounts, so it would tend to have a lower default Late anyhow.

Mr. HARRISON. Very good. Thank you, sir.



15 ti

Mr. JEFFORDS. Senator Stafford.
Senator STAFFORD. Thank you. I would ask unanimous consent6-7

Mr. Chairman, that an opening stateedht that I had intended to
deliver hqd the vote on MX not forced me to 'be arriving here
slightly tardily, be placed in the record along with that of Chair-
man Paul Simon at the opening of the hearing.

Mr. JEFFORDS. Without objection so ordered.
Mr. Petri.
Mr. PETRI. Thank you.
I would like to tlymk you for your report. I guess, trying to sum-

marize in a sentence or two what you have found, tell me if this is
accurate or inaccurate. The program cobts are really moderate. It
helps on defaults, rather than hurting on defaults; which is a plus.
An1 there is a problem on interest rates being changed so as to
avoid a wiindfall. One thing I am curious about, if you can specu-
late at all and maybe you can't, is that as1 understand it, current-
ly about t5 percent of the people who coOolidate are opting for a
graduated option, and is there any reason for that?

HMr. EVIG. would speculate, I suppose ydu could ask the clues-
tidn to Mr. Fox when he testifies in a "few weeks, he may have
better information, but I would think that the lower the repayment
periodor the lower amount of repayment in the early yeal-s,
seems to fit well with most people's earnings capacity. -You usually,
coming oul of school, earn a lot less in the first couple of years
than you will later on, so that most pea* would seem to opt for
that type of a repayment schedule.

It is the same thing with a lot of mortgages which were made
available several years ago when interest rates were very high in
order to induce people to buy homes, the banks were using a grad-
uated rate which got people in at the early years.

Mr. PETRI. If you could offer an opinion, would you think it
might be feasible to set up some sort of an income sensitive system
of repayment directly, so,ou could go up and down on the individ-
ual payment rather than having=

Mr. HENIG. I think you are asking me to speculate on something
which is beyond the scope of this job. I could pX9bably give you a
personal opinion, but I would prefer not to.

Mr. PETRI. OK. ',

Mr. JEFFORDS. Did you have any evidence which would indicate
that those that are consolidating are those that probably would not
be likely to default, anyway?

Mr. IIENIG. The only evidence we have that this is likely is the
fact that the loan default rate is less as the amount of t e indebt-
edness is higher. There seems to be a relationship betwe defaults
and the amount of the indebtedness. So to the extent that Sallie
Mae is consolidating loans which average over $10,000, and if
$10,000 has a lower default rate than say $3,000 or $4,000, yes, the
default rate will come down.

Mr. JEFFORDS. Whatever conclusions you could draw from that.
Mr. HENIG. Pardon!
Mr. JEFFORDS. I said whatever conclusions you could draw from

that. Thank you.
.4-

Did you make any effort to ascertain whether the existence of
the loan consolidation program encouraged any students who con-
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solidate from going on to grfitivate schools? Did you have any infor-
-ination on that?

Mr. HENIG. No, sir, we don't. We did not interview any students
or that type of thing.

Mr. JEFFORDS. IS there any information statistically available
which would' tell the number of students who consolidated for the
purpose of going on to graduate school, or immediately thereafter?

Mr. HENIG. No; we don't have any information like that, Mr. Jell
fords.

Mr. JEFFORDS. Presently, many observers are concerned that
GSL's are not always available to borrowers either seeking a small
GSL or who have enrolled in short -term educational programs. Do
you believe extending loan consolidation authority will encourage
them to make small GSL's available in that their average portfolio
size wild increase?

Mr. IIENIG. I can't venture an opinion on that. It would be specu-
lation on my part to assume what a bank would dO if, or State
guaranty agency or. lending agency might do.

Mr. JEFFORDS. You didn't see any evidence?
Mr. HENIG. No, sir.
Mr. JEFFORDS. Any other questions?
Mr. HARRISON. Mr. Chairman, I just have one.
Mr. JEFFORDS. Corfainly, Mr. Harrison.
Mr. HARRISON. Mr. Henig, if the Congress were to extend the

loan consolidation authority from August 1, 1983, where:it is at
now, to say August 1, 1985, and if we were to permit' the States and
other commercial lenders, as well as Sallie Mae, to consolidate stu-
dent loans, do you think as a result of that GAO would be in a
better position to answer some of the cost questions?

Mr. HENIG. Oh, yes. We would have some better experience to
analyze at the end of a 2-, 3-year period than we Dave now.

Mr. HARRISON. Very good. Thank you, sir.
.

Mr. JEFFORDS. Thank you very much.° Very, very worthwhile
study and it will be very valuable to the conjimittee. I 'appreciate
your efforts.

M. HENIG. Thank you, sir. &;

Mr. JEFFORDS. Next in order, to comp1te the Vermont scenario,
we have hereSenator, I want to ask our next witness Hon.
Edward Elmendorf, Assistant Secretary for -Postsecondary Educa-
tion, to come forward.

He came down here from Vermont in order to get things under
control, and I understand has done a super job in doing that.

It is a pleasure to have you here to give us some further Ver-
mont flavor to our testimony today.

STATEMENT OF EDWARD ELMENDORF, ASSISTANT SECRETARY
FOR POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION, DEPARTMENT OF EDUCA-
TION, ACCOMPANIED BY DAVID C. BAYER, CHIEF;- GUARAN----

'4113EDUDENT LOAN BRANCH, OFFICE' OF STUDENT FINAN-
(JAL ASSISTANCE-

Thank'Mr. ELMENDORF. you.; Mr. Chairman.
Mr. JEFFORDS.- Please proceed.

?2.

-
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I would add to tha- t, of course, Vermont I think has more postsec-
ondary students per capita than any other State, so here is some
reason why we have a rathe'r deep and abiding interest in the col-
lege educations. It is a pleasure having you here.

Mr. ELMENDORF. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Would you take my
statement for the record? 0'

Mr. JEFFoRns. Certainly will.
Mr. ELMENDORF. Fines I will try, to summarize in about 5 or 6

minutes.
Let int first begin by saying that I do enjoy the opportunity to be

here, especitilly when I have two colleague Vermonters to address
some of these concerns to, because I know they are concerns that
students have, as well as the *Federal Government, particularly as
it relates to cost. In the area of loan consolidation I think it would
be helpful to cite the purpose of the program. It is a very simple
statement. It is to help students who have large loan debts to try. to
reduce the monthly payments and try to avoid defaults that might
result as a consequence.

We believe, however, that this can be done without further subsi-
dizing interest costs. That is one of our major points today. Our
aim is that we, another way to say it, we do not object to loan con-
solidation. I would like to repeat that, we do not object to loan con-
solidation. But we do oppose the proposal now written and before
the committee primarily because of the unwarranted increases in
Federal interest subsidy costs for educational loans. I would like to
get into that as part of my statement.

It is our understanding that in the conference report of the Sallie
Mae technical amendments of 1982 there was a requirement that a
(AO report be delivered and discussed, and that is what we have
just heard. I would be happy to have Mr. Bayer, who, on my left, is
the Chief of the Guaranteed Student L4n Branch for the Depart-
ment of Education, Office of Student Financial Aid.

We would like to respond to the comments we have just heard,
but I would also like to add some other information from our
sources that we think might help the committees. The concluding
summary statement I would make is that we do plan to develop a,
loan consolidation authority proposal and submit it to the Congress
for consideration before the expiration of the current law.

Specifically, as relates to my testimony, I would like to talk
about two problems, and they are major problems. One is a prob-
lem with administration of the program, and the other focuses on
some of the cost issues. Within the Department, we see as a major
problem the interest rate confusion aspects of the proposal, Under
the law, there is a 7-percent maximum which is fixed, but the stat-
ute that we live with also refers to the possibility of an 8-percent
loan in certain cases where you have the consolidation of two 9-per-
cent loans. That inconsistency essentially allows for an 8-percent,
for thee consolidation of two 9-percent loans, at the same time an-
other provision allows for two higher interest loans like the PLUS
loan, which is currently 14 "Jercenti and the_HEAL loan, which
could run as high as 17 or 1g percent, to be consolidated but at 7
percent. So there is that inconsistency that I think needs to be ad-
dressed.

23
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T.-- impact, of course!, leaving that in there in its current state,
is to significantly increase the special allowance cost, that in some
cases aren't even being previously paid. Senator Stafford men-
tioned that NDSL program does not now havksny subsidy. The
GAO report also confirmed that. But we also note with some en-
thusiasm that there isn't a reason for a person with a 5-percent
loan to want to consolidate at 7 percent. Still, that is left in the law
at the current time.

On page 4 of'the testimony we, I think, have addressed ourselves
to an inequity that exists in the current law. Right now the cur-
rent law, and it applies only to Sallie Mae, allows the use of a
weighted average interest rate if one or more of the loans to be
consolidated is a HEAL loan. This authority is not included in the
proposed legislation. Uniiess that is changed, any extension of the
authority to guarantee agencies or others would not4include that
provision for a weighted average.

On page 4 we try to deal with, some of the technical problems
that we think exist, one of whichaconcerns us is the fact that a loan
check given to a student and requiring the-student's endorsement
would not be traced by us back to what we consider to be tie origi-
nal purpose for making the loan, and that is paying off the under-
lying loans that have been consolidated. But giving the check di-
rectly to the student, letting them take that -loan and ldorse it,
there is no assurance we have that the money is being u d to pay
back the original obligation.

Finally, in the area of departmental problems we think e have
cited on page 5 some of the open-endedness in the prop sal that
allows for ambiguities to appear. One example I cou d e is there
apparently is no real authority that would disallow someone from
extending the repayment beyond. the 20-year possible, or to use bal-
loon pakments, or to use a schedule of graduAed payment, Or
income tingent payment. We think that is not intended, and
can be corrected with some legislative drafting.

Our second issue is the more serious one and relates to the cost
issue.

Mr. JEFFORDS. Mr. Secretary, I have to interrupt you. I have to
worry about another Vermont problem. We have important votes
in agriculture involving the dairy industry now, and I have to get
back and rescue our cows. I would just like to say, before I leave
and turn this hearing over to Senator Stafford, that I am deeply
concerned about your statement as to when your proposal will be
ready. I would just like to urge you if at all possible to have the
proposal from the'administration ready before mid-June, as I an-
ticipate this subcommittee will be marking up legislation prior to
that time. I would not want to put you on notice that if it comes up
as you indicated, it might be nice to look at it, but it might be too
late.

ELMENDORF. I think it is possible. We would like to have-the
benefit of not only the GAO report but deliberations here, and any
counsel we can get from Congress on it. We do have some issues
that need to be decided in order for a proposal to be developed.
Your counsel on that would be certainly helpful.

Mr. JEFFORDS. I appreciate that. Please proceed.

4
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Mr. ELMENDORF. The second issue, as I mentioned before, is a
much more serious one to us' and it deals with some of the cost
issues or problems in extending the authority. As GAO found, we,
top, found it almost impossible to make any definite cost estimate
due to the broad ambiguous language of the amendment as well as
the substantial agency discretion that is allowed in the proposal.
For example, in setting repayment terms, or other cost areas that
may affect the Federal Government outlay. We have prepared
some tables and charts in response to a letter from Congressman

that I believe is en route, and will lay out not costs for the
program using current volume but will give examples of not only
individual loans, consolidated versus nonconsolidated, but also as-
sumed volumes and assumed percent showing the difference not
only in the early years but the out-years as relates to the payouts
by the Government.

In the area of the cost issues the extension part of the proposal
will expose the Government to increased costs on the existing port-
folio which is about $25 billion in total right now. That exposure
comes from lengthening the repayment period from having a delay
in the decline of the repayment, by adding to the GSL portfolio
some non-GSL loans like NDSL's, which I mentioned, and there is
a $5 billion portfolio out there in the national direct student loan,
and also increasing the cost to the Government vis-a-vis the allow-
ance for an administrative cost to guaranty agencies which is not
paid currently to Sallie Mae.

There is or) the other side of that some offset from default reduc-
tion. To answer Mr. Harrison's questions, we, too, find it very diffi-
cult to understand what the reduction in default might be from the
availability of an options program. The average consolidation is
about $12,300, and we have about $97 million in consolidated loans
under the Sallie Mae program, almost 8,000 loans. And that is
since the program began over a year ago. The exacerbated cost
issue I think is created also by the fact that there is really in the
proposal too much agency discretion which further complicates' the
GSL program by putting more of it outside the control of either the
guaranty agency or the Government.

There is an arm's-length problem, I think, in that the law, pro-
posed language, allows both the lender to be a lender and a guar-
antor at the same time. That I think is something that if we can
avoid in building the legislation we ought to, so that we don't have
built in potential conflict of interest.

Finally, on the revenue loss, GAO mentioned this, fiscal year
1983 Treasury estimated in communique to the Department that
they assumed they had about $2.5 billion in outstanding paper and
it was costing about $155 million as a result of that outStanding,
issue.

Later, they came back, in March 1983, with an exact estimate of
$4.1 billion in outstanding tax-exempt paper. We can only assume
that the revenue loss on that would be between $200 and $300 mil-
lion. That is a very significant tax loss, and in our opinion, one

at I think has to be addressed in any proposal that is brought
for rd through Congress.

A .1 point I would make is that I think that the legislation is
unbalan d in the sense that it has concerned, itself primarily with

'25
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borrower liability, but it is not sufficiently aedressed what. I think
are some burdens that will be created on the Government from
this proposal. So with that, Mr. Chairman, I conclude my summary
statement and would be happy to accept your questions.

[Prepared statement of Edward Elmendorf follows:]
*411

PREPARED STA:rnmENT or DR. Enwmtn EnrytErmotiF, ASSISTANT SECIWIARY
POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION

FOR

Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee; We are delighted to have the
opportunity to te!tify today on various aspects relating to the loan consolidation
issue.

The Education Amendments of 1980 authorized r the Student Loan Marketing As-
sociation (Sallie Mae) to make consolidation Mans to students holding loans under
the Guaranteed Student Loan (GS1,), National Direct Student Loan (NDSIA. Health
Education Assistance Loan (IIEAL) and PLUS propfams if a student has loans total-
ing $5.000 under two or more programs or lenders or where the borrower's outstattd-
ing debt with a single lender under the GSL, NDSL, or PLUS programs is $7,500 or
more. Sallie Mae has implemented this urogram. called OPTIONS, with tle Ilepart-
ment of Education serving as the insur0" for these loans. Through March 31, 1982,
Sallie Mae has made 7.870 .orrioNs loans in the amount of $97,460,197 with the
average loan being $12.384.

Under current law. Sallie Mae has the authority to offer students repayment pe
ods of up to '20 years t10 years is the maximum under other Title IV student l an.
programs, and provide borrowers with the option of equal or graduated repayment
plans. The maxi interest rate under current. law is 7 percent. We believe thatrt m
this interest lit tat in is the major problem with the current law and the proposal.
Making a new a 7-pe cent load to a borrower whose underlying loans have signifi-
antly higher interest :ates is not loan consolidation. it is an unwarrented -increase

Federal interest subs-dies.
'he basic purpose bet -nd loan consolidation is to help student; with large loan

del t.s to reduce their mon ily payments and thus avoid default. We believe that this
ea be ac .omplished by ext .nding the repayment period without further subsidizing
int rest st,s. . .

L , the Senate considered S. 2852, which, among other provisions, would
have e ten ed the authority to make consolidation loans to guarantee agencies,
State Inds c .rtain private non-profit lenders. The Administration objected to this
prov . ion. di e to cost considerations. The extension of the loan consolidation author-
ity o these . dditional lenders and guarantee agencies was not enacted. However. as
a way of asst ring that the issue would be taken up this year, the Stu dent Financial
Assns nce T chnic ii Amendments Act of 1982 terminates Sallie Mae's authority to
make c is dation-loans on August 1, 1983. The conference report accompanying
this legis talon also makes clear the intent of the Congress to consider comprehen-
sive student loan consolidation legislation prior to that time, taking into account the
recommendations of a requested GAO study. The conference report also states that
the conferees felt it important to discuss this information before expanding the au-
thority of the States or continuing Sallie Mae's authority to make consolidation
loans We wish to contribute to that discussion, and we are preparing to submit, the
Administration's recommendations on loan corisobdation to the Congress very soon.

PROHLEMS WITH CURRENT LAW

We have identified a number of problems with section 439io) of the Higher Educa-
tion Act which provides Sallie Mae with the authority to make consolidation loans.

As previously indicated, we are still very concerned about the increase in the in-
terest subsidies allowed under current legislation. The current legislation specifies
that if a borrower has two or more 9 percent loans and the applicable interest rate
for new GS1, loans is 8 percent, the interest rate on the consolidation loan may not
exceed percent_ These interest rate limitations in current law create the following
anomalous situations: A student that has a single 9 percent loan would end up
paying 7 percent. A student who had a a percent and 7 percent loan would pay 7
percent. A student who had both a 9 percent GSI, and a 12 pescent PLUS loan
would pay 7 percent. However, a student with/two 9 percent GSL's would qualify for
an 8 percent consolidation loan.

Thus, the amount of special allowance paid will increase as a result of the ex-,
tended repayment period. In addition, subsidies will he increased as special allow-
ance paid increases for regular GS!, and PLUS, loans, and a new commitment will
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be made to start paying a special allowance on NDSL's where no subsidies had been
paid.

Sallie Mae's authority to make consolidation loans was altered by the Omnibus
Budget Reconciliation Act of1981 which specifies that, if one or more HEAL loans
is included in the consolidation loan, the interest on the consolidation loan must be
a weighted average interest rate. However, this weighted interest rate does not
apply to a student who might have a 12 percent PLUS loan and thus end up with a
7 percent consolidation loan under current law. Furthermore, this provision govern-
ing Sallie Mae's consolidation of HEAL loans is not included in the proposed legisla-
tion which would extend the authority to make consolidation loans to guarantee
agencies and other lenders.

Section 439(o) of the Act now provides that section 427 of the Act governs the
terms of consolidation loans with two exceptions. Consolidation loans are exempt
from both the 10 year repayment period and the fifteen year life of the loan limita-
tions Which apply to most guaranteed student loans. However, there are a number
of other provisions in section 427 which establishes the terms of loans under the
Federal Insured Student Loan Program, which are of questionable value or applica-
bility to the loan consolidation program, but which would, us written, apply to The
existing Sallie Mae loan consolidation program, and under S. 2852, to the Guarantee
Agency Consolidation Programs.

Section 427 creates further problems by requiring that the loan check be made
payable to the student and requiring the student's endorsement. There is no way to
Insure that the proceeds from consolidation loans are used to retire prior debts
unless the check is made payable to and sent to the holder of underlying loans.

Another provision of the current slaw which especially causes us some concern
states: u

"Notwithstanding any other provision of this part, the Association, with the
agreement of the borrower, may establish such repayment terms as it determines
will promote the objectives of this subsection including, but not limited to, the estab-
lishment of graduated, income sensitive repayment schedules."

This language appears to be overly broad and would appear to authorize the
lender (Sallie Mae) to disregard the statutory provisions relating to the repayment
terms, such as the maximum 20 year repayment provision. We assume, the intent
was to authorize flexibility within the statutory prohibitions. While there has been
tub indication that there are problems with Sallie Mae regarding this provision, if
the program is extended to a significant number of new lenders, this'could present
significant problems, especially with regard to increased costs to the Federal Gov-
ernment for special allowance payments. For example, it appears lenders could
begin authorizing repayment periods longer than 20 years or authorize limited peri-
odic payments with a "balloon Payment at the end of the repayment period.

EXTENDING CONSOLIDATION

We are concerned about the proposal to extend loan consolidation authority to the
guarantee agencies and other'direct lefiding authorities as it will further expose the
Federal Government to increased costs on the existing portfolio.

Inzeneral, loan consolidation increases Federal subsidy costs by lengthening the
repayment period, delaying the decline of the borrower's balance, and adding to the
GSL outstanding portfolio the potentially large amount of currently non-GSL loans.
(There is approximately $5 billion Outstanding in the NDSL program alone.) In addi-
tion, in the Senate proposal, loan consolidation also would rednee formerly 8 per-
cent GSL's and 9 percent GSL's as well as potentially 12 and 14 percent PLUS loans
and market rate HEAL loans to a 7 percent interest rate. Although NDSL loans
already bear low interest (3, 4 or 5 percent) they do not require Federal interest
subsidy appropriations and extending their repayment period could still lower a bor-
rowers monthly payment even at a higher interest rate. Also the proposal creates
higher "new" loan volumes under guaraRtee agency guarantees. This "new" consoli-
dated volume would be the basis for increased guarantee agency Administrative
Cost Allowances which requires further Federal outlays.

All of the above ractors tend to increase direct Government costs. Reduced default
rates due to consolidation/refinancing would be expected to off -set these increased
costs to a limited extent. However, long, term net default costs are extremely hard
to estimate, and the impact of these new consolidation authorities on such costs are
very hard to identify. We would especially like to stress the fact that the consider-
able agency discretion (in setting, borrower repayment periods and other areas) pro-
vided in the proposed expansion amendments would place the GSLs liabilities even
further out of Government control.
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The Senate bill specifies that loans made by a guarantee agency under this new
authority would also be insured by that guarantee agency_ The lack of an "arms
length" relationship between the lender and the guarantor could present some prob-
lems, especially in the enforcement of due diligence in collection rcmuirements. As a
matter of fiscal 15rudence, we believe it more reasonable if the guarantor and the
lender are not one and the same.

Finally, there is one more Federal cost issue which needs to be addressed. Sallie
Mae obtains its funds in the marketplace and pays Federal income taxes. The inter-
est earned by investors in Sallie Mae's obligations is taxable. However, as the pro-
posed legislation is drafted, it would appear that many of the agencies that would be
extended the authority to make consolidation loans would obtain their fund
through the issuance of tax exempt obligations. The net affect would be that student
loans made from the proceeds of taxable obligations would be refinanced with fundS
obtained from non-taxable obligations. There is major concern within the Adminis-
tration about the loss of Treasury revenue resulting from tax exempt obligations
issued for student loans and other purposes.

In summary, the Administration opposes the proposals now before the Committee
to extend and expand the loan consolidation authority (currently limited to Sallie
Mae) because they provide unwarranted increases in the Federal interest subsidy
for education loans. These proposals open the door to major abuse of these programs
operation and their original congressional intent. As proposed, these loan consolida-
tion bills are not as much focused on consolidation as. they are focused on reducing
the interest liabilities of the borrower. We have not yet estimated the full cost of
these proposals biit they are substantial because any one with a 9, i2, 14 percent or
market rate loan will not hesitate to consolidate them into a 7 percent loan as soon
as they are able. The potential increase in interest subsidies paid by the Federal
Government would be huge.

We do not object to loan consolidation. We plan to develop a loan consolidation
authority that does not increase Federal interest costs and submit it to you in time
for ybiir consideration prior to the expiration of current law.

I am happy to have had this opportunity to appear before you today. I shall be
happy to answer any questions that you may have.

Senator STAFFORD. Thank you very much, Dr. Elmendorf. I en-
joyed listening to your testimony. I think you have pointed out
some issues both sides of the Capitol need to address in considering
the consolidation of loans for Sallie Mae and extending that to
State agencies.

I would like to reinforce what Congressman Jeffords said earlier
about the timeliness of getting the administration proposals up on
the fill. I expect the Senate is going to be in session through July
accoNding to all the tea leaves I can read at the present time, and
the House. also. But the August recess is now coming up on us
fairly rapidly. The sooner we could have any administration pro-
posals, the better, both for the administration and for us here. on
Capitol Hill:

Last year during the -conference on the higher education techni-
cal amendments bill, the administration suggested that.extending
consolidation to,States would cost, as I recall it, about $250 million.
I wonder, Mr. Secretary, if you could tell, us how the Department
airti\ved at that figure, and whether or not that is still a legitimate
estimate of the increased costs th.at might be involved.

Mr. HENLG. Mr. Chairman, I would like to turn this over to Mr.
Bayer, who has some tables available to him that can, for an indi-
vidual loan, show you essentially what the difference would be.

Senatd..STXFFoR0. All right.
Mr. ELMENDORF. I must state though, again, in trying to put to-

gether any proposal, the combination of variables you have to
decide on up front really do create the difference between consoli-
dated and nonconsolidated loan packages. In most of the proposals
we tried to cost out, I will say we used the 7- and 8-percent interest
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rate. We tried to use a typical loan amount as being $6,000 or
$7,500: We used the repayment periods that were either under cur-
rent law 10 years or extended out to 15.

Finally, in trying to determine the special allowances really
where the burden of the Federal Government is most directly felt,
we assumed that there would be guaranty agency involvement in
terms of our costing, and we mixed both the current Sallie Mae fi-
nancing with half special allowance financing.

So considering just those variables, Mr. Bayer has got some num-
bers I think he can share relative to individual loans and some
bulk loans.

Mr. BAYER. I might point out some of the problems in trying to
come up with cost estimates is to try and make the assumption as
to read the proposed legislation literally, or the way we assumed
you meant it to read. For example, in the legislation as drafted
right now the cost to the Federal Government would be very mini-
mal because if the program were extended to guaranty agency pro-
grams, the law would not permit us to pay any special ,allowance to
consolidation loans made by guaranty agencies.

- I Am not sure that was intended. So therefore we assumed that
there would be guaranty agency ,special allowance consolidation
loan costs. On a 7-percent consolidation loan, again, one of the
problerft is the fact that all loans must be 7 percent loans under
current law, on a 7-percent loan, assuming an average loan of
$7,500, repaid over a 15-year life of the loan, the costs of a consoli-
dated loan would be about $649 more to the Federal Government
than for a nonconsolidated loan paid over a 10-year period, which
is the current statutory maximum repayment life of the loan.

Senator STAFFORD. Do you have the figures with you that sub-
stantiates that statement?

Mr. BAYER. Yes, sir.
Senator STAFFORD. I wonder if there would be any objection to us

putting those figures in the record of this hearing so both of our
subcommittees could have them.

Mr. BAYER. We will be happy to provide these four tables of sta-
tistical tables for the record.

Senator STAFFORD. The statement bas been made there is a loss
of Federal income if State agencies were allowed consolidation, and
I have a little trouble with thatfbecause I accept the fact that
Sallie Mae goes to the marketplace for borrowing funds to imple-
ment their programs, which is true. But States may get tax-free
revenues from bonds, from selling bonds. They are doing that
anyway. So I wonderif you could explain to me why there would
be a loss of Federal tax dollars if the States were allowed consoli-
dated loans of students.

Mr. ELMENDORF. If, Mr.. Chairman, we assume Sallie Mae's' pro-
jections of a $500 million loan consolidation portfolio under the op-
tions program, realistic, we take that over a 3-year "period of time
and look at what has happened just since tax exempts have been
made 'available, just for this program we find that there has been

/114almost a doubling 1 the amount of tax-exempt paper in the last 2
years,ifrom $2.1 b Ili n now to $4.2 billion.

If the ratio of climb iswithout the options program full in
effect, is $2 billion, and the interest rates or revenue loss that

29
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would be paid to Treasury on that is anywhere near the $150 to
$300 million, I think what we are talking about is the Treasury of
the United States not having $300 million it might otherwise have
if we could work a different way to consolidate these loans and
extend the authority.

Senator STAFFORD. I guess my difficulty, Doctor, is I don't really
understand the difference between the States consolidating loans,
and borrowing tax-free money to do it, and making the loans with-
out consolidation, then borrowing tax-free money to do that. That
is the difficulty I have with that particular argument at this point.

Mr. ELMENDORF. I would have a question about where we are get-
ting the tax -free money to borrow under the current program, be-
cause we are looking at $180 billion deficit that we are trying to
make every effort to reduce. We would like to get that down to a
zero sometime in the future.

Senator STAFFORD. I presume, Mr. Secretary, you may not be
able to be in a position to answer this question, but let me ask it
anyway. Does the administration, to your knowledge, favor loan
consolidation as a matter of prudent Federal policy?

Mr. EI.MENDORF. As a matter of?
Senator STAFFORD. Prudent Federal policy.
Mr. ELMENDORF. We have stated in our testimony that we do

support the concept of loan consolidation, yes, sir.
Senator STAFFORD. If so, and maybe this is a premature question

in view of the fact you are going to have some legislation up to us
for consideration, how would you deVise a cost-effective program of
loan consolidation?

Mr. ELMENDORF. I knew you were going to ask that question. I
would first, of all.safeguard the Federal Government from alf of the
inherent weaknesses I have cited thus far. And I would go to some
issues I think need to be addressed. If f might just cite four of them
I think should be tackled by at least us, and we hope by Congress
as well.

Senator STAFFORD. Certainly.
Mr. ELMENDORF. We think a serious issue is what source of cap-

ital is there for consolidated loans. This addresses itself to your
concern about using tax exempt, my concern, and other funds that
may be available. A second concern we have deals essentially with
whether that authority under 2852S. 2852 should be extended to
guaranty agencies and to certain nonprofit lenders. There is a
series of issues relating to that.

We are certainly supportive of any competitive system. and if we
can work out more competition, I am sure Sallie Mae in their testi-
mony supported the notion that they do not intend to be monopo-
listic in their practice of being the only agent right now for the
consolidation program.

The third issue I think is the interest rate. I have cited what I
think some of the inequities are with, that. I would like to see us
deal straight up with the issue of the 7 percent, and the contradic-
tions in alb law that deal with the weighted average, and come up
with an acceptable interest rate formula.

I think we also have to talk about the types of loans to be con-
solidated and whether or not we want to include just GSL, or GSL
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and NDSL, or PLUS loan, or HEAL loan, or all the other loans out
there that students are currently eligible to receives

There is a fourth issue that deals with a loan fee of some sort.
Right now, Sallie Mae consolidates and does it on the baths of a
dollar per loan, and they pay the dollar. Under the proposed, law, I
cited that we would have an administrative cost allowance, and
that could run quitebe quite an expensive outlay if it were under
current law paid out to guaranty agencies. At least those four
issues, with various options under each of those issues, I think,
need to be addressed, and addressed rather promptly.

Senator STAFFORD. Thank you very much, Mr. Secretary.
Mr. Harrison.
Mr. HARRISON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It seems like you and

I keep meeting at hearings. I was testifying before the Senator yes-
terday, and we are sitting up here together on something else
today.

Mr. Secretary, I think in your testimony you mentioned a com-
munication which you received from the Treasury Department.
Would you have any objection to making that available for the-
record?

Mr. ELMENDORF. N9, sir.
Mr. HARRISON. Second, I think n your last answer to Senator

Stafford, you emphasized again the not-for-profit nature of most of
the lenders. I guess the question that occurs to me is, do you think
there would be any cost differential if we were to include for-profit _r

lenders, banking institutions, as well as not-for-profit lenders in the
program?

Mr. ELMENDORF. As I said, it is one of those major issues that I
think needs to be addressed. If you were to open it up to commer-
cial lenders for profit, you certainly would have on the plus side
the reduction of some of the outlays that would normally go only to
State guaranty agencies. Qn the other hand, you would want to
have some assurance of a sufficient portfolio there to underwrite
these loans. So I think a formula with some criteria attached to it
would be appropriate to answer that response.

Mr. HARRISON. Very good. Lastly, I think you heard the gentle-
man from the GAO in response to a question I asked him, I guesS I
would like to get ypur reaction. What would be your reaction to an
extension of the loan consolidation authority to, let us say, August
1, 1985, permitting the States, other commercial lenders; and Sallie
Mae to consolidate? Do you think that that timeframe for further
study would be helpful? (

Mr. ELMENDORF. I would like to answer that two ways. No. 1,
given the fact that we would oppose the way the law is written
now, which includes in an open-ended way all of the other possible
authorities, I would say we would probably oppose that unilateral
extension. At this point, however, since we have the agreement
with Sallie Mae which originated the options program, J don't be-
lieve we would have any objections to the continuation of the op-
tions opportunity as it is now construed into the outyears in order
to study the problem further,

But we have taken seriously the concept of loan consolidation,
and the concept that, if there is good reason for there to be other
authorities, then those authorities ought to have the ability to com-

o
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pete for this type of program. And that is why we are anxious to
develop loan consolidation legislation that takes some of the bugs
out that we think are in there, and opens the door to others.

Mr. HARRISON. In that event, then, can I just, from this side of
the table, emphasize again what Mr. Jeffords and Senator Stafford
have said, and that is that if the administration has a proposal, I
guess the sooner it gets up here the better.

Mr. ELMENDORF. I can certainly speak for the Assistant Secreta-
ry for Postsecondary Education on his part for getting that propos-
al out.

Mr. HARRISON. Thank you, Mr. Secretary. Good to see you up
here again.

Senator STAFFORD. Thank you, Mr. Harrison.
Mr. Petri.
Mr. PETRI. Thank yoU, Sengtor. I guess I"do have a couple of

questions. Am I right to say that you are not against the principles,.
or the idea of consolidation,,but you are worried that it not be a
device for increasing government expenditures without thinking it
through carefully?

Mr. ELMENDORF. That is correct. The concept is certainly accepta-
ble, the proposal as it is now construed leaves too many open doors
through which we think fraud, waste, and abuse kind of opportuni-
ties can enter.

Mr. PETRI. Now, one question I had, and I don't know if you have
thought of it or people have figured it out, in all the talk about the
possible costs to the government. of consolidation, have you calcu-
lated the pessible savings to individuals and financial institutions
and so on from consolidation? I don't know how much they figure a
check costs and postage and everything else. There is certainly a
big saving just from consolidation. We really shouldn't be looking
at it purely from the point of view of the U.S. Government, but '
from the point of view of the whole society in calculating that.

There is some cost to the government, but there is greater sav-
ings Co individuals and financial institutions and so on in pa
work and overhead. That at least is a good argument for h
some small costs on the govei-nment side of the ledger.

Mr. ELMENDORF. That is a good question. And the part of it that
deals with the commercial lenders or Sallie Mae, they have had ex-
perience with the program. And in their testimony I believe I read
a number of citations that deal with what they consider to have
been a return on profit, or in this case they like to use -return on
assets, which is in the corporate world a good measure of an invest-
ment.

In this particular case 'if you were to include in what they have
done with this portfolio as they have configured it, with average
loans of $12,300, there is a return on that investment that is satis-
factory to, keep them in the program.

From the other perspective, 'Unless you are able te"get a good
grip on how many defaults which potentially would ha* occurred
if the program hadn't been in place, you don't get a good fix on a
balance between the Federal cost to continue against the actual
savings by bringing someone into repayment.

Sallie Mae has a rule which I think is a rather good one that
someone has to be in repayinent for at least three consecutive pay-

.

1 0 2
..4;.;/,



27

merits before they can be eligible for the options program. That
sort of says that we don't want people that are not in repayment to
suddenly find this to be an easy Way out of paying what is due the
government. I think provisions like that thought out for Sallie Mae
and other authorities are really what we need to seriously address.

Mr. PETRI. But absent everything else, I mean I as someone who
graduated from school and had several loans, would be much hap-
pier, if everything else were even, just paying one check rather
than three or four to different people)wecause. of the paperwork and
postage. Banks charge 25 cents to $1.50 a check these days, and so
on. 1 assume that is because it costs them. So if you just can reduce
all that, that has to be a social benefit of some considerable size, if
enough people do that.

EtmENDom.-. Maybe Mr. Bayer would like to respond to the
latter half of your question.

Mr. BAYER. I think your point is well taken, Mr. Petri. The stu-
dent certainkdoes save an awful lot of administrative headaches
and nightmares to make sure they don't forget a payment and put
all the various checks in the mail they have to with multiple loans.',.,
Especially today with borrowers frequently having loans from more
than one lender through more than one guaranty agency prograni','
through more than one program itself with conflicting repayment
terms and conflicting repayment requirements, it does certainty
provide incentive for the borrower to have a single place to "pay
loans.

Finance companies for years have been making their bread and
butter by arguing just this point, for making consolidation loans to
consumers whO .have loans from a wide variety of creditors. Lend-

-erscm Lain:IT-would save collection costs and -other -costs-by-Ifaihng.'
the loans converted into a single consolidation loan. To the ,extent
you consider all the costs incurred by all the various lenders in-
volved. Schools participating in the national direct student loan
program would get their capital back a lot faster, thus ablejo lend
it again, thus reducing the demand or need for additional Federal
capital contributions.

I think there are a great many benefits of this sort that could be
cited.

Mr. PETRI. Sometimes consolidation result in extending the
period of repayment, and therefore, under current practices, in-
creasing the subsidy. Have you considered having somoltsprt of an
end to that extended subsidy? That might invove having the con-
solidated loan balloon at the end, and the person get no subsidy or
pay market rates at the end of the current subsidized period. For
example, the loan might go from 7 years to 9 years' repayment, but
the last 2 year would be profitable, or at least income neutral to
the Government, rather than 2 more years of subsidy.

Mr. ELMENDORF. Yes. Not only that but the income. contingent
factor is also a part of what is already in the proposal. Under the
current operation, you heard stated that 75 to 80 percent of the
volume that Sallie Mae underwrites is 'written under a graduated
payment schedule, rather than in equal payments. I am sure there
is good reason for that on behalf of both the borrower and the
lender. So I think those financial as well as convenient opportuni-
ties are potential 'and should be looke'd at.
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Mr. PETRI. I have to ask one or two more questions here. Sallie
Mae presently offers loan consolidation to students at a 7-percent
interest rate. Do you believe raising this interest rate to 9 percent
would discourage students needing loan consolidation ,from consoli-
dating their loans?

Mr. ELMENDORF. I really would prefer not to answer that ques-
tion on the basis that I couldn't answer it any better for 9 percent
than I could for 12, or even 7. I have only got data on 7, and the
hypothetical 8 that is in the current law. We have not done a
matrix with a whole set of different interest rates and costed them
out. Just what we have done between 7 and 8 from our initial table
does not show a very high increase in the Federal Government of
the program. But I don't know that that would be the case with a 7
to 9 jump. So I would really want to cost that out.

Mr. BAYER. It should be pointed out it is less of an advantage to
a student who currently has four or five NDSL loans if the rate
were changed from 7 to 9 percent. I am not sure it would be con-
strued as an awful disadvantage to the student who has a market
HEAL rate if changes from 7 to 9 or a person with a PLUS loan of
14 percent if that rate were changed to 7 or 9. That would still be a
decrease if the rate were changed for the borrower.

Mr. PEm. One point made at the hearing yesterday was that
consolidations could discourage banks from making small GSL's.,
The concern expressed was that types of loans that would be con-
solidated, the larger loan portfolios, would be 'transferred to Sallie
Mae, thus reducing the average portfolio size at the lending institu-
tions and placing further pressure on the lender not to make small
loans.

Do you agree with that analysis, or hay*, any comment on that
testimony?

Mr. ELMENDORF. No; I really couldn't say that I agree with it.
But I don't have enough data to disagree with it at this point. We
have not had direct consumer complaints from those that have
been excluded from the program because of the insufficient size of
the loan, or the inability of the lender to give small loans. There
have been a lot of allegations around that this is keeping people
out of the program. But my sense is that, as secondary markets
become more experienced with buying portfolios and servicing
them, they are learning for themselves what is profitable in terms
of a cumulative "number of loans that they can buy from a bank.

I think that analogy can also be applied to the cumulative
number of dollap that would be advisable for a guaranty agency
loan consolidation authority to want to get into. One way it may
help them, by having that minimum that is now $7,500 for one
source, or $5,000 for -two sources, be reduced essentially.

Mr. PETRI. One final question. You are very patient. You did
refer in your testimony I think to a whole series of miscellaneous,
different loan programs, and that there should be some systematic
examination of what should be eligible for consolidation, or what
'should not. I assume that is one of the things you hoped to cover in
this proposed legislation..

Mr. ELMENDORF. Yes, sir.
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Mr. PETRI. But in that connection, do you believe that health
education assistance loans should be eligible for loan consolidation?
Why, or why not? I guess maybe that is a litmus test. Are you
going to be leaning in the direction of making more loans eligible
for consolidation, ,or trying to reduce the loans that are eligible?

Mr. ELMENDORF. Well, we haven't really come to any kind of con-
sensus on that, but my sense is that-a prior question has to be ad-
dressed. That is the question about the interest rate and how it is
determined. If it is a fixed rate, I might answer the question one
way. If it is a weighted average I might answer it an entirely dif-
ferent way. And the HEAL loan benefits from the weighted aver-
age approach. We would in the Government not be advantaged if
we had a fixed rate and those HEAL loans were in our scope of
consolidation, because the special allowance difference that we had
to pay out would be significant, and the costs would escalate. So I
would answer that differently depending upon the answer to the
prior question about which interest rate Sormula we would propose
using in any new loan consolidation authority.

Mr. PETRI. So if I read you right, what you are saying is if you
were not extending the subsidy, then it might be a good idea to
broaden the consolidation because of the general convenience. But
if you are somehow increasing the costs to the Government, then
you would be,very reluctant to bring more of these loans--

Mr. ELMENDORF. That is a good principle.
Mr. PETRI. Is that the one
Mr. ELMENDORF. That is the one we are following, yes, sir.
Mr. PETRI. So you are saying if we keep the interest rate low,

then you wouldn't mind haying consolidation, but then you
wouldn't like that low-interest rate to apply to the other loans that
were brought in. They would have to 'be at a higher'rate?

Mr. ELIVIENDORF. You can afford to be more magnanimous if you
know that the Federal Governmentjis not paying the cost in terms
of the numbers of loans that are you allowed to be consolidated.
But if your subsidy costs shoot up directly, you are going to be
more in a mode of trying to confine that upward cost to the Gov-
ernment as much as possible.

Mr. PETRI. I think it would be useful, at least if you m.T ld think
about it, figuring 'out some sort of cost savings to the some y in gen-
eral that could occur from consolidation even if there were no sub-
sidy. In trying to sell something like that, I think everyone would
agree it would be better to have cqnsolidafion as broad as possible
just from the point of view of convenience for the citizenry and sav-
ings in paperwork and -costs. You could nonetheless sell this as a
break for people, even if it is not a direct Treasury subsidy.

Mr. ELMENDORF. I think that is a good approach.
Senator STAFFORD. Thank you very much, Mr. Petri.
Mr. Secretary, we are grateful to yak for appearing in front of

this joint meeting today with us and with your colleague. We again
urge you to get whatever legislation the administration has to us
as soon as possible, certainly before the Fourth of July recess of the
two Houses, which will give us the month of July to digest them.
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I guess if there is no further testimony, this joint meeting of the
Senate Subcommittee on Education, Arts and Humanities and
House Subcommittee on Postsecondary Education is adjourned sub-
ject to call of the joipt Chairs.

[Whereupon, at 3113 p.m., the subcommittees were adjourned, to
reconvene subject to, the call of the Chairs.]
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STUDENT LOAN CONSOLIDATION

WEDNESDAY, JUNE 8, 1983

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION,

COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND LABOR,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 9:35 a.m., in room
2261, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Paul Simon (chairman
of the subcommittee) presiding.

Members present: Representatives Simon, Andrews, Penny, Cole-
.. man, Gunderson, Petri, and Packard':

Staff present: William A. -Blakey, majority counsel; John Dean,
Assistant minority counsel; Patricia Morrissey, minority legislative
associate; and Betsy Brand, minority legislative associate.

Mr. SIMON. Good morning. The Subcommittee on Postsecondary
Education today continues its hearings/ on student' loan consolida-
tion. Last year during congressional consideration of the student fi-
nancial assistance technical amendments of 1982, the authority of
the Student Loan Marketing Association, better known as "Sallie
Mae," to continue consolidation of student loans was terminated,
effective August 1, 1983.

Congress authorized a study of the costs and policy implication of
expanding loan consolidation authority to State guarantee agen-
cies. Recently, the General Accounting Office reported, and I am
quoting now:

We attempted to estimate the potential net impact on Federal costs of extending
loan consolidation authority to States. We were unable to come up with anything.
near a precise figure because of the difficulty in obtaining reliable information on
several of the elements needed to compute relative costs.

State program officials agreed that if consolidation authority is extended, criteria
should be established, to insure borrowers full access to consolidations and to limit
repayment periods based on aggregate loan amounts.

End of the quote':
Many of questions related to the cost of extending loan consolida-

tion authority to State agencies and other lenders remain 9n-
.. swered. I am especially concerned about the revenue implications

of using tax-exempt student loan bonds to provide loan consolida-
tion capital.
. I .am also concerned that a uniform set of terms and conditions
be utilized by all who engage in loan consolidation in order to
avoid any additional complexity in the current student loan system
anti a loan conwlidation maze among the States. Finally, while I
believe some form of loan consolidation is essentialthat's too
strong a wordlet's make it desirable, creating additional cos in
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the student loan programs at this time is not advisable. The Feder-
al responsibility to provide access and some measure of choice in
postsecondary education for low- and middle-income students ex-
tends to students while they are students.

The principal argument supporting loan consolidation was that it
would reduce defaults. In fact, loan consolidation has had a negligi-
ble impact on reducing student loan defaults. The available evi-
dence suggests that those persons most likely to consolidate their
loons are those who are best able to repay_ their indebtedness
anyway.

his means that the objective originally sought is not necessarily
being achieved and the Government's costs are increasing d e to
extended repayment period accorded those who use Sallie
services.

I believe we should concentrate limited Federal higher education
dollars on students seeking access to a quality higher education
and that, less attention should be directed to former students who
have already benefited from these programs.

I am anxious these concerns and others expressed by our wit-
nesses today.

We have another member who has joined us. You may have to
take over here in a little while because we have some conflicts
going on today.

Do the others have any opening comments here?
Mr. PACKARD. No, thank you.
Mr. SIMON. Out first witness is Edward A. Fox, president of

Sallie Mae, who is getting to be a regular herethese days.

STATEMENT OF EDWARD A. FOX, PRESIDENT, STUDENT LOAN
MARKETING ASSOCIATION (SALLIE MAE)

Mr. Fox. Thank' you, Mr. Chairman.
Your opening remarks indicate a pretty substantive knowledge of

the issues so I will give you my testimony for the record aid will
just highlight one or two things.

Mr. SIMON. OK. Your full statement will be entered in the
record.

Mr. Fox. Thank you very much.
[Prepared statement of Edward A. Fox follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF EDWARD A. Fox:PaEsi T AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
STUDENT LOAN MARKETING A IA ON (SALVE MAE)

Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the opportunity to testify before this Subcommittee on
student loan consolidation and on Sallie Mae's OPTIONS Program. In mrtestimony
I will review the creation of the OPTIONS' Program, the complexity of the process
of consolidating a student's indebtedness, the General Accounting Office (GAO)
study recently submitted to the Subcommittee, and the concetns of the Department
of Education that have been expressed to this Subcommittee.

The Education Amendments of 1980 authorized Sallie Mae to make consolidation
loans to borrowers with federally insured or guaranteed student loans where the ag-
gregate indebtedness from 2 or more lenders or programs exceeds $5,000, or $7,500
from a single lender, with maximum repayment periods not to exceed 20 years.
Under this authority Sallie Mae has created the OPTIONS Program.

Sallie Mae's OPTIONS Program is a workable, successful concept representing
substantial investment of our resources for program design and for originating and
servicing capacity. We want to continue to offer this program. We leave to the Con-
gress the policy determinations as to how many programs of loan consolidation
should exist. We will endeavor to provftle loan consolidation consistent with any
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program you authorize. However, our greatest concern is that the structure of any
program of loan consolidation you authorize take into account the complexity of the
process. Sallie Mae currently provides a nationally uniform system, making the stu-
dent's choices clear and understandable, and providing secure servicing capacity for
these extended and graduated repayment loans. Are cannot stress top strongly the
advantages to the student and to the program of fi uniform set of consolidation
standards and uniform originating and servicing requirements/7°r consolidated
loans.

Students who receive loans under the Guaranteed Student Loan Program (GSLP)
or the National Direct Student Loan INDSL) Program may be eligible to consolidate
monthly payments on several loans into one payment and to extend the length of
repayment beyond the ten-year term allowable under the current GSL or NDSI,
Progtams. Consolidated loans are guaranteed under the terms of the GSLP. Consist-
ent with this legislative intent, Sallie Mae provides sound debt management-for stu-
dents through a nationwide, readily available program of loan refinancing for bor-
rowers.

Rapidly increasing tuition and fees have dramatically increased the dependency
of students on loans to finance a significant portion of postsecondary education

-costs. While the GSLP is the largest single source of educational loan capital, stu-
dents often borrow under other programs in addition to the GSLP. Likewise, stu-
dents may borrow from different GSLP lenders depending on the number of schools
attended, residency, and availability of funds. In authorizing loan consolidation,
Congress recognized that student borrowers couldbe faced with severe debt manage-
ment problems due to the mul plicity of loans and the requirement of simultaneous
repayment of thesg4.51ebts. 'Re mancing or consolidation of loans establishes initial
repayment burdens more .even with the borrower's current ability to repay, there-
by reducing the potential for default.

Sallie Mae was designated to implement loan consolidation because of its ability
to apply sound credit and lending principles to this program and because of its capa-
bility to deliver service on a nationwide basis. Development of any financial service
requires a significant investment of time, money, anti expertise without assurance
that the product

GSLP
be,. successful. Such an investment is justified by the potential

benefits to the GSLP and to student borrowers of a sound program of loan consolida-
tion. Further, Sallie Maelms the financial resources to invest in this program with-
out,diverting resources from primary loan availability because Sallie Mae is not a
primary lender in the GSI,P. As the largest holder of student loans; it has the proce-
dural and systems support which assures the integrity of this program..

Immediately after the passage of the Education Amendments of 1980, Sallie Mae
began the process of designing a workable loan consolidation system and negotiating
such a system with the Department of Education which had agreed to insure the
consolidated loans. This process was time consuming and complicated, but through
it we were able to establish a uniform national rogram with terms that the Depart-
ment assured were consistent with fedvral law at policy.

Considerable research was undertaken to deter ine -the number of'students eligi-
ble for the program because of the lack of an inte aied data base. In point of fact,
Mr. Chairman, we cannot tell you todayaltow many udents qualify for 'loan consoli-
dation. We simply do not know. -

The process, procedures,.controls, and documentation had to be created for a prod-
uct that nevw existed before. An entirely new originating and servicing system was
developed_ By October of1981, the necessary systems, controls, and procedures were
in place and the approval of the Secretary of Education was secured.

Sallie Mae's loan consolidation process has been designed to meet the broad set of
objectives we believe intended by the federal statute. Sallie Mae's investment in a
computer system and in analyses of the complexities of the process has been sub-
stantial.

The automated system which supports Sallie Mae's program was developed at sig-
nificant cost. One of the dominant design Qbjectives was to achieve consistent treat-
ment of the many unusual conditions which give rise to the need fin- a consolidation
loan. For this reason, the computer system is on-line and maintains a very large
data base for each borrower. Further, Sallie Mae has made a major investment in
documentation of all procedures and in establishing a thorough consumer lending
training program.

An important advantage of the OPTIONS Program is in the graduated repayment
feature. The graduated repayment module of Sallie-Mae's program cffers two repay-
ment alternatives and is designed to automatically interface with the complex re-
quirements needed to amortize a loan with graduated repayment.
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Sallie Mae's automated system also provides for a significant amoja,it of data on
the demographics of borrowers who apply for consolidation. This syMm capability
was included in recognition of the need to provide adequate program reporting to
federal agencies and Congressional committees having interest in the OPTIONS use.

The extensive investment by Sallie Mae in the system and the processing controls
surrounding it have produced a timely, full compliance, and consumer oriented ap-
proach to the legislative intent of the prografn. The shortcuts others have suggested
may come about only at the sacrifice of compliance with"the statute's provisions, or
by reducing the amount of relief accorded the borrower, or finally, at the expense of
traditional banking practices for loan origination.

Sallie Mae's knowledge of loan consolidation has come after a very concentrated
effort to design and administer the best possible program. Should the number of
participants in the consolidation program be increased, the same 'measure of care
and diligence in design and implementation must be achieved. Otherwise the con-
cepts envisioned by the original statute and confirmed' by the GAQ audit as provid-
ed by Sallie Mae will be lost through hastily constructed programs with widely dif-
ferent procedures and interpretations of compliance.

Our goal was to provide maximum participa n for the borrower in selecting pay-
ment terms, both fixed repayment and grad d repayment, which could be effec-
tively serviced hut which did not present th rrower with a bewildering array of
decisions. We believe we have succeeded in that effort. I have appended to my state-
ment a copy of the information provided to the student on OPTIONS as well as
other documentation which is necessary to complete the consolidation process.

We believe the experience in the Sallie Mae OPTIONS Program shows the useful-
ness of the concept of consolidation.

WAN CONSOLIDATION STATISTICS THROUGH APR. 30, 1983

Percent

Program volume .$117.1

Borrowers 9,328.0

Average balance ti $12,500.0

Average term selected (months) 171

Progra mix

L 93 $108,800,000

NDSL 7 $8.200,000

Distribution of indebtedness

$5.000 to $1,000 10

$1.000 to $9.000._ .... 14

59.000 to $15.000 52

$15,000 and above.._...... 24

Opt selected.

I (extended term, fixed payment) 25

II (graduated repayment) 70

Illy.(accelerated, graduated repayment) 5

Delinquency.

30 to 60 days 1.23

61 to 120 days 77

Over 120 days. .24

Defaults. Claims in process 13

The loan consolidation process appears straight foward and simple:
A borrower is madeaware of the program through: a Sallie Mae mailing; a finan-

cial institution mailing; a school mailing or exit interview; a guarantor mailing; or
national advertising.

The auplicant contacts his/her school creditor, and/Or Sallie Mae to request fur-
ther infemation.

Sallie Mae mails an application package including the required certification form
to the borrower. The certificates are 'used to verify that the underlying loans are
NDSL, GSL, and/o,FISL.

The borrower completes the application and borrower portion of the certificate.
The completed forms are returned to Sallie Mae.

The application and certificate are reviewed by allie Mae and pay-off date (60
days the future) is assigned.
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Certificates are mailed to the creditors.
The creditors complete and sign the certificates which provide account informa-

tion, quote and required payoff as of the date projected above, and certify the infor-
mation. The form is then returned to Sallie Mae.

Sallie Mae prepares a promissory note, which includes the repayment schedule
selected by the borrower, and mails the note to the borrower for signature.

The borrower reviews the promissory note, signs it: and returns it to Sallie Mae.
The note is reviewed and payoff checks are mailed to the original Creditors.
A coupon book is then sent to the borrower.' Repayment begins in 60 days.
(NOTE: Creditors are expected to return obligatory documentation to the borrower

based on their standard operating procedures.)
However, because the program (1) requires signed documentation, (2) is supported

through the mail, and (3) requires input from both borrower and multiple creditors,
it is much more complex than would otherwise be obvious:

When borrowers receive an application, they often do not complete it right away.
Borrowers procrastinate because: The application terminology is unfamiliar, they do
not wancto lose their grace period, they are out of town when the application ar-
rives, they have questions about the product, or it takes time to gather the informa-
tion necessary for completion.

If a borrower does not complete the application on a timely basis, he/she can miss
the opportunity to enter loan repayment under the OPTIONS Program. This causes
creditor dissatisfaction because conversion is the most costly phase of student loan
processing.

The product contypt is simple. The product benefits become complex. Borrowers
do not understand: Who qualifies, what the terms of the loan will be, how to choose
which Option is right for them, or the intricacies of the decision-making process in-
volved in deciding financial alternatives with which they must live for up to 20
years. 4

In fact, we find borrowers do not understand many financial details vis-a-vis stu-
dent loan indebtedness.

They don't know who their creditors are while in grace.
'They don't understand reassignment, i.e., the purchase program.
They don't know if thier loans are GSL, NI)SL, or HSI,.
This results in calls to the consolidation center. Three-fourths of those who consol-

idate will call the consolidation center with questions sometime during the consoli-
dations process.

Each caller, on average, Calls twice.
Each call last five minutes.
In many cases, we are asked to play the role of financial advisor; for example, we

are asked to advise about which Ciption and term the borrower should choose.
Due to the transient nature of the borrower population, certain borrowers do not

receive the application after it is mailed. This causes: Phone calls to Sallie Mae to
request a new application, and the process of mailing applications must be repecAed.

Since the legislation authorizes OPTIONS to payoff only principal and accrued in-
terest, the payoff has to Occur on the prescheduled date. This causes the application
process to be time sensitive and delays caused by incomplete or incorrect informa-
tion become problematic.

Critical information, such as creditor name and address, is required to process the
application. Lack 'of information: Necessitates a phone call or letter to the borrower,
which usually takes two tries; when reached, the phone call averages en minutes.

Often there is borrower confusion over the $5,000 and $7.500 debt level..
We thus get applications from those who don't qualify because of the misunder-

standing of single vs. multiple debt, and/or the inclusion of interest.
Those on the border of qualifying in the grace period are forced to wait until re-

payment to apply (so they will qualify), which causes phone calls or letters to
answer questions.

The process is mail oriented. All paperwork must be signed. The characteristics of
the population are transient and mail forwarding causes delays which create proc-
ess hold-ups and redundancies.

Each problem that arises causes a phone call between the borrower and Sallie
Mae. This results 41 the use of a considerable amount of customer service time and
causes delays which affect product delivery on the scheduled date. This affects the
amount required to pay the underlying debt in full.

Certificates are returned with the borrower portion incomplete. Because OP-
TIONS is a GSL loan and the OPTIONS documentation supports the validity of the
underlying loan, in the event of a future Maim the application cannot 1e processed

4 without a signed certificate.

ti
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We must call the borrower or creditor to obtain the information (creditor name,
address, and borroyer balance).
'Each call on avage lasts 15 minutes and requires 2 tries.
Creditors often delay returning certificates to Sallie Mae.
We must send a letter to the borrower advising of the delay and the potential

effect it will have on the closing schedule.
110tAYUL.QuttSt.. pay zQff Liates_to he
The (lit ay causes additional interest accruals, and makes certificate updates nec-

essary.
Delays requ calls to creditors and/or borrowers
Some creditorS' have trouble completing the certificate or confuse the program

with a loan purchase program.
Creditors confuse grace, deferred, delinquent,and default statuses, and report

them in error_
They will call the consolidation center for help.
They will refuse to verify the certificate because it is viewed as competitor request

as opposed to a client request.
Letters to follow-up these delays are often met with resistance, creating additional

follow-ups and delays.
When borrowers are notified that their creditors have not returned the certifi-

cates, and are urged to contact the creditor to remedy the situation, they call Sallie
Mae to ask help in getting the institution to cooperate in the consolidation process.

This, requires additional phone conversation with the borrower, and requires a
call to the bank, school, or guarantor.

When all of the borrowers certificates are returned, the certificates are often re-
turned with different debt levels than the borrower indicated on the application.
This may cause: Calls to the borrower or creditor, or a restart of the certificate proc-
ess.

At times, certificates will indicate the borrower is delinquent or in default_ A de-
cline will result and may generate a Call from the borrower.

Some statuses are obviously in error and are remedied by contacting the creditor.
Once all of the certificates are reviewed and verified as complete, the promissory

note is prepared and sent to the borrower.
Borrowers sometimes hesitate to sign the promissory note when they receive it

because:
This is the first time they may have seen the full disclosure of all debt, and they

are unsure it is accurate.
They want to select a different repayment schedule.
This causes missed payoffs, requiring certificate updates and generation of new

promissory notes.
If the note is not signed and sent back to us within the allowed time, the borrower

o
misses the payoff date. This requires: Certificate communication with the
borrower and all creditors, and a new promissory note.

The GSLP is theoretically a national unifo s stem of loans. In reality it is not.
Every guarantor has a slightly different set to be followed in the creation of
the documentation of a GSL. Implementation : state -by -state basis is subject to
diverse state statutory and regulatory procedures. This has created substantial serv-
icing problems in the GSLP. Lack of uniformity in the GSLP means that each set of
rules requires a different servicing system, and creates uncertainty as to the avail-
ability of gervicing capacity over the life of a student loan.

The potential for crippling complexity for borrowers, students, lenders, and ser-
vicers is inherent in the loan consolidation concept unless a nationally uniform
system is mandated. Because loan consolidation offers the student a variety of re-
payment plans, in length of repayment and amount of payment, the permutations
and combinations are limitless. For example, if Sallie Mae offers three OPTIONS to
the student with a certain level of indebtedness, one fixed repayment and two differ-
ent graduated repayments; state A may offer five; lender B, two; etc. None of these
may be identical or even similar except in respect to the basics such as interest rate.
This will create the necessity for different servicing computer routines for each type
of consolidated loan most of which will probably be incompatible. Therefore, an ex-
isting system,. such as Sallie Mae has, will be unable to service non-conforming
loans.

Further, the documentation, the forme and procedures can vary widely; they do
in GSL, and the potential is vastly greater in consolidation. Lenders in confirming
loans and providing documentation necessary to determine indebtedness would be
faced with multiple sets of guidelines and documents which may tend to inhibit co-
operation and support for consolidation. Borrowers may be presented with innumer-
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able choices for consolidating their indebtedness, each slightly different, leading to
confusion and artifically inhibiting the borrower from taking advantage of consoli-
dation This confusion may also affect the overall financing plans as early as high
school because of the uncertainty of the terms and conditions which will be avail-
able to repay student loan debt.

We believe a national uniform system is an absolute necessity in this program. To
allow a proliferation of non-conforming paper will overburden an already strained
servicing system. Mortgages have moved in precisely the opposite direction. there is
now a national system of documentation for home mortgages. Such a concept is pos-
sible for student loans and an absolute necessity for loan consolidation. At a mini-
mum, however, we sincerely believe the standards for loan consolidation must be
uniform if we are not to create a bewildering array of non-conforming programs
which will confuse students, and create havoc for the delivery system.

We have reviewed the testimony of Dr. Edward Elmendorf of May 25, 1983, pre-
senting the views of the Department of Education on student loan consolidation. As
you requested. we have set forth below our reaction to those concerns. We believe
the technical concerns can be easily resolved and we suggest that the cost to the
federal government is a policy determination best left to Congress

Dr. Elmendorrs testimony discussed several problems- wiVti the current law au-
thorizing Sallie Mae's OPTIONS Program. The 7 percent interest rate for the cur-
rent consolidation program (alkali to be adjusted. We have testified that the interest
rate could match the borrower s GS1, interest rate without creating a disincentive to
the program and would endorse such a statutory change.

Sallie Mae is not currently consolidating either ALAS or HEAL loans. We do not
believe that the concept of weighted average interest rates is a viable one. Under
the current Sallie Mae OPTIONS Program, borrowers are provided 48 different pay-
ment plans to match the new payments with their particular financial situation. We
believe that maximum borrower participation in the financial decision helps reduce
the likelihood of default. If weighted rates were applied, the number of permuta-
tions and combinations of monthly payments would be infinite, and the borrower
could not be informed up front of the new payment schedules until after the new
promissory notes were generated_ The federal government interest billing currently
requires that the bill be itemized by stated interest rate and separated by their
origination date (some loans have a different special allowance payment rounding
formula depending on the date originated). It would be extremely difficult to accu-
rately generate and control the government interest billing if weighted rates arc re-
ported to and must. he validated by the Department of Education. The reduction in
monthly payments to borrowers would virtually he nil, while the administrative
complexities would be substantial.

The Department points out that, bs written, the statute applies all the require-
ments of section 427 of the Act to the loan consolidation program. We believe these
requirements should be reviewed and the loan consolidation program be exempted
from those which are not viable such as the student. endorsement provision. We will
be pleased to review these technical points with your staffs.

We agree with the underlying concern of the Department on the establishment of
flexible repayment terms; that there be a national uniform system. However, we do
not agree that the statute, as written, allows Sallie Mae or would allow any other
lender offering consolidation to unilaterally disregard statutory provisions as to the
terms of repayment. We would note, however, that as the Department has been the
sole guarantor of our consolidation loans, we have Inien able to agree, as a condition
of the guarantee, to appropriate limitations not only in this respect, but ih other
technical issues such as that discussed in the preceding paragraph.

The Department's concerns about extension of loan consolidation to other lenders
are primarily of a policy nature. We would note in this connection that Sallie Mae
does not receive administrative cost allowances, it is funded on a fully taxable basis,
and pays federal income taxes. As we have stated, Sallie Mae neither requests nor
requires a monopoly. We leave this policy determinations to the Congress.

As Dr. Elmendorf noted, there are significant costs to the federal government
from existing programs financed through the issuance of tax-exempt securities. The
Estimate of Federal Tax Expenditures prepared for the Committee on Ways and
Means and the Committee-on Finance in March, 1983, by the staff of the Joint Com-
mittee on Taxation, states that the exclusion of interest on state and local govern-
ment student loan bonds will cost the federal government more than $2.t billion in
revenues foregone during Fiscal Years 1983-1988. This is based on continued use of
revenue bonds to finance the GM' and is actually understated relative to the
amount of bonds currently outstanding. In addition, the state agencies which are
financed through the issuance of revenue bonds, and which earned approximately

4 ,1
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$150 million in Fiscal Year 1982. are exempt from federal income tax on these prof-
its. This substantially increases revenue lost to the federal government. In circler to
offset these losses, in 1980 Congress reduced the special interest allowance by half
for those loans prospectively acquired or originated by tax-free entities However,
the experience of the past three years has shown the federal revenue loss potential
from state agency tax-exempt revenue bonds was substantially greater than antici-
pated. Department of Education data indicates that there were less than $1 billion
of loans eligible for the half special allowance during the first quarter of Fiscal Year
1983. Assuming that these were all 7 percent loans, the first quarter offset to the

itederal government in reduced special allowance payments was approximately $5
million. Assuming that these loans were 9 percent, which is more probable, the fed-
eral offset was approximately $3.5 million. Based on Congressional Budget Office
(CB()) and Office of Management and Budget (OMB) interest rate forecasts for the
next five years, the halved special interest allowance savings will remain minimal
relative to the billions of dollars of revenue losses to the federal government. Addi-
tionally, becAuse the minimum yield on student loans to tax-exempt. entities has
been set at 91/2 percent, while other holders have a minimum yield of 9 percent on
the same loan, under the interest rate forecasts there will actually be periods
during the next five years when the Treasury will be providing additional sub-
sidy.

We have had the opportunity to review the testimony of Mr. Morton E. Henig,
Senior Associate. Director, Human Resources, General Accounting Office, before the
Joint Committees on May 25, 1983. Mr. Henig and his associates spent many
months evaluating the student loan consolidation program and Sallie Mae's man-
agement of the OPTIONS Program. We look forward to receiving the final report of
this study from GAO and believe that it will indicate that loan consolidation is a
worthy program and that Sallie Mae has administered its responsibility fairly and
in a manner that is consistent with its legislative mandate.

It is important to note that in the GA() report various state agencies have indicat-
ed the capacity to provide a loan consolidation program and that. they have the fi-
nancial and operational wherewithal to accomplish this task. The GAO did conclude
that the state agencies appear to have the financial ability because of their success
in marketing low-yielding, tax-exempt student loan revenue .bonds. However, it is
our understanding that the GAO did hot audit or test the assertion that systems
and controls are already in place or that consolidation was similar to functions cur-
rently being undertaken by the states, thereby reaching a GAO conclusion relative
to the operational capacity of the state agencies. The GAO report stated that, "Ac-
cording to officials of the eight state programs, their program functions for servic-
ing, purchasing, and making student loans are similar to those required to consoli-
date loans. . . .- This statement was reported, rather than confirmed by GAO anal-
ysis. Based on our experience, we think it most unlikely that the capacity to operate
a consolidation program currently exists. However, we do not believe that perform-
ing loan consolidation is beyond the capacity of others to initiate, assuming an ap-
propriate expenditure for staff, systems, and controls.

Mr Henig 's report also makes clear that the GAO was not able to perform an
analysis of the costs to the federal government associated with the extension of the
program to entities financed by tax -free. securities. However, it should be rioted that
studies by the Treasury Department, the CBO, the Joint Committee on Taxation,
and the testimony of Dr. Edward Elmendorf of the Departawnt of Education on
May 25. 1983, before this Committee on behalf of the Administration, have conclud-
ed that there is a significant loss of revenue to the federal Treasury through the
issuance of tax-exempt revenue bonds for this purpose.

We have begun to notify borrowers who have already applied for consolidations
scheduled to occur after August 1 of potential problems. We are especially con-
cerned that certain borrowers in repayment whose current level of indebtedness is
close to the statutory minitnums may lose their entitlement to a consolidation loan
if their outstanding balance drops below $5,000 or $7,500 during any temporary mor-
atorium on the program. The following notice is now provided to all applicants:

"IMPORTANT NOTICE

"As with many federal program, Congressional authorization for loan consolida-
tion includes a program termination date. This authorization expires on August 1,
1983.

"Sallie Mae has been advised in connection with recent Congressional hearings on
reauthorization, that the Congress will make every effort to extend the program
prior to the August 1, 1983, termination date. However, in the event that this exten-

4 4
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sion is delayed, it will be necessary for Sallie Mae to postpoq the final steps in
processing your application. In the unlikely event that,a change in our authoriza-
tion that affects your application occurs, we will notify you promptly. We recom-
mend that you submit your application upon receipt with the assumption that a
timely reauthorization will be forthcoming.

Thank you for your interest in Sallie MaeOPTIONS."
We hope you will be able to proceed swiftly with this legislation so that we may

continue to offer consolidation.
We are, as always, available to provide any technical assistance you or your staffs

require. We hope you will consider the impact of statutory change on the complex
process of consolidation as you deliberate. Thank you for this opportunity to express
our concerns.
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Student Loan
Consolidation Cosner

. . .

()ear Applycant

hard. you for your inhere- n OPT IONS E ock)seti are all the rtialertAls you will need to
rcpty Inv loHrowityl 110,1 beell tiA(Ade(1

One Instrucnon Sheet
One Application
One certificate (Two it you listed more than 3 cleOstOr'..)
One N 10 Postage Paid Envelope to return the completed

application and certificate to Sallie Mao
Ono OPTIONS Selector
)rte Benefits CurnpartSon (Mart

If are mr,51014 or of you t1,1Ve quesnuns tegarding !hell ,Aunpiehon.
call 800-446 40)5)

A-. .,iron as We I CC e.Ve your completed applicdtion and cer hficatets). we will begin pro
cessing you! request It wilt take about 60 days It any delays occur doting the processing.
you will be notified

We feel we have a very attractive plan for you and look forward to receiving your ap-
plication Why not complete the forms TODAY' And let OPTIONS work for you"'

Enclosures

(
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STUDENT LOAN MARKETING ASSOCIATION
ERAL INFORMATION ABOUT YOUR APPLICATION

About The Progra

OPTIONS was Auth mired tkv Congrens for ,mpternenta
hon by the Student oan Marketing Association (Sniliri
my:i With Ito 30erin emits ntiondam fr, nrqa/rUnQ 71 (Ins!
secondary education raliy :-.tildents find themselves uor
nosing under either r heti,. the Guaranteed Student Loran'
Program CC-i.StPt. an( Me NatiOnal Orreetipateale Student
Loan Program (NOS i 01 r:ourse kit:teased costs mean
larger ioans and Ili. i means higher payments wean the
teens -must be paid beck peceute of thew highet pay
mem., sonic ex Stu ante, have found themselves unable to
moot !herr oblige!! tits) and they end co Telling I') repay
rhea debt OPTION; is filtered as one way to reduce iris
default rate By cot solidahrig sevral loans and/or extend-
Ing repayment tor r the debt becomes more Manageable
le., Ina borrowers he net result will be fewer defaults anti
Overall krwer told or the goVernTrierit (tAXy(tse Ell) to sup-
ped trio program

r

--' /To- ,i-gd,ction ; which !oltow are inteddeci In help ru
complete you( ti pric000n both quickly and accurately
Please !eel lies 0 cooloct us it 30 questions arise white
you are Jilting of the imro$.

The Process

Qualificatio

In order to Quality tot OPTIONS you mugs 'have over
$5,000 (pie cipat -t interest) Outstanding in guaranteed
Welcher( lo, n Indebtedness made under either the Wi-
llem'''. Dir. LiDelense Student Loan Program (NOS)), the
Ouarante f Student Loan Program 0:3$0, and/or. Fed-
eral!), Ins red Student Loan Program.ln.SI-)

It you eh e between $5.000 arid S7,500. your indebted-
ness m t de to More than one creditor or under both
prove or it all loans are (lateens. muted by room
than On guarantee agency The multiple indebtedness
criteria rt.not applicable It you owe mote than $7.500
on your 'qualaying Student loans.

reixerei not required to consolidate all of your qualified
student loans. but all at the loans you want to Consort-

. date mulct be current Delinquent, defaulted, or deferred
Jeans do r10t qOalifyTor ConSolidation. This includes loans .
that beeeme delinquent during the consolidation process.

Atter you have reviewed the material in the package.
sour next step is -to complete the application and tte10411
year OPTION Then complete are top ...at. 0! the veriliCalten
certificate and return nom the opplication ant col Micah) to
SaltrO Mae to Ilie onstage oak) envetope provide/1 for that
pirhpose

Upon receipt tit your signed application. Santa Mae will
Assign a scheduled payoff date GO days Item the day we

reCONO your lexwerd The coilicate(1)10-
your CreClitOrt.A for completion- When your creditors have
returned trio CeditrCidel; we Yule ppm:we a Promissory Note
and mail the new note to you for your review and t.itratyre
trio promissary note will

Show how much and when Sallie Mae writ Day
each reditOt

Disclority tiro rntereSt rule, total kTan amount.
treat interest to be paid and the OPTIONS
repayment schedule you setectea

When you whim your signed Piontissory Nom to us We
will marl the cheCkts) to your credithrts) for the amounts
Slated on be Note E ach check will he payable to your
creditor to be appatm against your student loan account
We will notify you or the chetk remittance and explainyour
repayment obligations

'Within 30 dayS alter you teceive. this notice yeti wilt
receive your lust bit! horn Sallie Mae.

We estimate that it Wa( lake Lietween. 45 and 60 days In
complete the PrOtesS This liming' assumes a quick
response 110111 yeti and your orOditor.(5).puting this period It
its cote! that you Continue lorlkutp payments. Cur your ex-
isting loar1(5)1

Forms Completion

Eletore proceeding, ,pleate Inventory the paOkageseed
Make sure you have all the tones indicated on the cover tot-
let II you don't call us al (000) 446-4000.

The application, ecumenic and OPTIONS SELCIOR
have Instructions detailing how to complete (or Me) then).
Some highlights on. each form may be uSelel.
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Application OPTIONS Selector
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This pamphlet illustrates the thiee repayment plenS
available to you The number of dtlferen1 monthly pay-
ments you may c000so Porn ts based on your total out-
stenon9 tiatanc5es This booklet is provided as Il guide to
aril yes, in your selection The amount .of monthly pay-
menttt may (Idler slightly horn that en yOur PrOmiSSOry
Note ASSerning your estimated balar:Co is correct and
at)tees won 1Y.10 1.,011,11XIS) anti you use the selector prop-
erly your OPTIONS Ppnnitssory Note and tepayment
li tterjum wilt ioltect the plin and Monnay payment term
you chose

Your Now Loan

When your loans are Connolirlated the new OPTIONS
man you receive veil be horn Salim Mae the ONIONS
todri vett be a GM. hearing a /94, interest rate (Annual
Pepceedage Rale) Your new OPTIONS loan enter) lepay.
Men! status the day it is made and the lest payment will be
due W111110 60 .day's of the dale the chteck(s) are mailed to
your credttor(s)

IMPORTANTIII Every effort will be made lo tenet the
Payoll amount to the (redact on the scheduled date Oc,
casionally. however the 0.4.4.1 amount required to Pay au,
ofd man will not be (emptied because the payment is cot
received 0l- the onyinalty scheduled date le the event lit
underpayment er overpayment II is Your reciX)nSibility to
resolve any dalnle.1110 with your cieditor arv1 to take the re-

, outred ayion to pay the old loan at lull
Since the new loan a GST. the NITS' benehts you

now have will no longer be, apprable The NITSL(s) you
consoltdated ts/are pad In full (See tmoortarit note above)
However. you will be eligible for-the GS' benefits' that
exist when you consolidate Your OF;'TIONS Man via bear
the same haw txinefils as other GSI loans and you will
have the same basic fights and responsibilities to Sallee
Mae as you did to your previous 651, Creditors. Those will
tin detailed in the Promissory Noto. You should be aware
that a you r;onsOlidate an NDSI lean. you will lose the
tower NDSI interest rate and lorgiveneSS of repayment due

'See the enclose:1 bpnelftS (Malt lot a description of those
till tee: 51Ung

1),J.%..)
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APPLICATION INSTRUCTIONS

IMPORTANT: Detach this sheet, carefully road the instructions that folitpx. and retain for future reference
clearly ell information requested

TWO EASY STEPS

Stop 1 Comprele alt items in the Application

Stop 2 Mau the application to Sallie Mae mg4dietary in
the enclosed postage-paid envelope

Nat
No. ENTER THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION:

1. Your name and complete address

Your social security number must be given. If in.
complete. the application will be returned

3

4

5

Your birthdate

A telephone number whore you can be method
during the day hours

A telephone number where you can ho reached
during the evening hours

STUDENT LOAN INFORMATION

6. The lull name of each of your student ldhn credi-
tors to whom you are sending certificates

7 Either "GSL" (Guaranteed Student Loan) or
"NDSL" (National Direct or Defense Loan)
depending on the student loan program under
which the corresponding loan was made Other
student loan programs do not qualify for consolida
tion under the .OPTIONS program

8 Tho initials of the guarantee agency which insured
ydur GSL student loan. ROW to the guarantee
agency codes on the reverse side of the certificate
II you do not know these Initials Enter "N/A- if cot-
responding loan Is an NDSL loan

9. The original principal amount of each loan

10. Original Payment Terms. Enter in the correspond-
ing blocks the repayment terms for each account
This can bo obtained from the Repay-
ment Scliter or Disclosure Statement provided
by your creditor.

Paymentsthe total number of payments.

Monthly or Quarterly how often you make
each payment

Faymont Amountamount of each payment

11 The amount now outstanding with each creditor
(principal plus unpaid accrued interest, if any)

12 The sum of each column In the appropriate Total
block

NOTE: Item 11 Total" must be-at least $5,000 to
ho ollgIbto.for consolidation.

30-SS2 1;) 84 ----- 4
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SCHOOL INFORMATION

13 Your graduation/school separation date in the ap-
propriate blocks

14. The name and address of the last school you
attended

15 Tho last degree you sought For example BA. BS,
MBA. MD, JD. etc Enter one of the foiremeng codes
(pr your mater course of study

16 Coda Classification Code

01 Agriculture/Natural Resources
02 Arls/Communrcation
03 Architecture
04 Business /Finance /Computer Science
05 Engineoring/Technicat
06 English/Journalism/Foreign language
07 Forestry /Environmental Science/Geography/

Geotog
06 Health/Medicine/Nursing
09 Home Economics
10 Law/Government Service/Political Science
11 Math/Statistics
12 Philosophy/PsychCIO9Y
13 Flo lig&
14 Scientific/Lbrary Science
15 Social Sclence/History
16 Leaching
17 Trade/Industrial Training
18 Other

17. This item must be completed

EMPLOYMENT INFORMATION

18. Appropriate data about your employment status

19. ' Your employer's name and addresi Cif applicable)

REFERENCES

20. Enter the full name and complete mailing address
Of a relative not living with you

21. Enter the lull name and complete nailing address
of a no/Mel/111v° not living with you

OPTIONS CHOICE

22- Select your desired repayment Option and enter an
"x- in the corresponding box Refer to the
OPTIONS Selector for instructions and guidance In
selecting the right option for your circumstances

23. Enter the term (number of months) you desire for
your OPTIONS repayment period Refer to the
OPTIONS Selector for assistance in making the ap-
propriate choice

NOTE: If you fall to comptele those Items. Sallie
Mae will give you OPTION I with the shortest term

24 Sign and date the Application and return both
copies to Sallie Mae

#I1
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O .4rTiro rf identrtierl in Mrs certificate has requested that Sallie Matt consolidate curtain 01 hisMer eligible student Mans In orderfor S. re Mae t irovtrai that service for your customer. It is necessay for you to complete Pail 11 of the certificate

/
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STUDENT LOAN MARKETING ASSOCIATION
LOAN CONSOLIDATION VERIFICATION CERTIFICATE

Dear Stu onn Creditor

in effort to make rt nasy for you to help your chant, wo have included Malt cc lions for completion of the term Altar the information
'been completed. savvy have the apprePr tale °racial sign the form and Med rt to Sallie Mac in the enclosed postage -paid envelope

Urn Mae von then complete ihe procriss.rig of the appircant's redoes! Both Sam¢ Mae and the applicant thank you for your asSistancp
Mrs matte,

GENERAL INFORMATION

OPTIONS the Sere Mae loan Consolidation Program. Is designed to assist student borrowers al meeting Inert repayment oblige
hens on infra student loans node under the Guaranteed Student Loan (GSM ti. National Defense or Direct Student loans NOS!) and/or
FedUral InSUr00 Student I ran (I ISL) Programs Boronvers who owe over W00° to more !loan Ono CrefIllOr 01 WhO have loans made
under any condonation of the programs. or who have towns made under the GSL only but which ate insured by more Man one guarantee
soency are eligible for consetirliman in the OPTIONS program Also. Borrowers who owe more than $7.500 are eligible without regardrouthplojourc a IQQ,IlerneritS

finder the OPTIONS program. the applicant applres,diroctly to Sallie Mae for.the consolidation othis/herqualared student loans The
enclosed cerldicate must be completed by your inftection In older to COM01Q10 IhQ COnSOliaah0OpioCeSh (Please nsto, your borrower
has Signed the form requestrng release of the intomintion to Sallie Mae ) When alt certificates havabeeniecelved. a promissory note in
Ira: aggregate amount 01 the qualifying col tifIcates is Issued to the borrower.

Tins certificate is Mircossary to obtain an accurate recent of the applicant's current student lan obligatrons and to determine the
payoff animal inn yOur institution Phrase complete alt 01 Pall II of this certificate and return to Sallie Mae promptly

NOTE: The envoif date is a date assigned by Sallie Mae Wo advise all borrowers to crareinee meeting their obligations with
their creerlorre) until They ior) notified that the consolidation prectssing is completed However. to assure that your inside
lion Is paid m lull C alciaaTe Me payoff figure a Ssuming that no hat re' payments will be made! If you receive a payment from
1144 applicant aver cnntroeong me certificate. post the account In the usual manner When you I echNe the OPTIONS check
tor the payoff amraini and rt overpays the accounl, please refund the overpayelani amount to the appircant.

CERTIFICATE COMPLETION INSTRUCTIONS

Before COMplelinn Port II of this tOr/ri. pfeasu 40,140W P4111. 1, the applicant's portion te Insure that you have adequate information to
cemplehr Pert II COnleC t lee IV, lesser at the phone mina)°, listed On the form It you cannot Process the form because of urauthClent in-
tormutron or II there is a significant Onic.repancy between your institution's records and those of the applicant, By expel:Ming the comple-tion of Mrs tone you can rase, the payroll check roaches your restitution on or before the scheduled Moll date

CHECK OR ENTER THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION:

Verily the account number and type 01 roan indicated by checking the appropriate box Please correct account numberfstand typeel loan 11 necessary

ACCOUNT NUMBER: Enter your restitutions correct account nurnbor it oilmen! than trsted by ilia applicant
3 GUARANTOR; For each loan made under the G.% Program. enter the millets ohltie guarantee agency which InSMOS the loan

1 I Rater toihe Ouoranlee agency Codes table On 1110 'matte° Wu of rhPPertilMate,/4 SLMA OWNED?: Check the appropriate box lo rrahcato d the toarras already owned by Satire Mae
SUBSIDIZED?: Check the appropriate box to indicate if 1110 Mart has been etigaite tor federal interest benefits while the applicantI was in-School,gracta and delernent staluS.

DATE OPENED: Enter the dale the loan was made (II the loan Is now in repayment enter thy date of the conversion )
7 ORIGINAL AMT: Enter the original principal amount of each loan r,

8 INTEREST RATE: Enter the repayment Interest rate -for the loan
9 STATUS: Rorer to the status code table on the torm atra enter the appropriate Code Adefault status must be Indicated it the loan Ss

detach regardlefiS Of the recent payment history
II) LAST PAYMENT MADE: Enter dm dale hemsl payment was made d dal applicant rs maktng 'chap-mots 01 principal and Interest
II. NEXT PAYMENT DUE: Inter the date the applicara's firatrirad payment is clue
17, CURRENT PRINCIPAL: Enter the amount of outstanding principal as of the payed date asluming that no payments will be reed°
14 INTEREST DUE: QIIrattate and enter the amount of unpaid accrued interest otestgnding as of the payroll dale also assuming that

or/ Payntont writ be rnade. P( the loan is 00W on 41 discbunted method Of earnings an -a rebate will be due. ideality the ()mount ofrpe rowel) Mit block.)
r a UNCOLLECTED LATE CHARGES: Enter the amount 01 .0104 tate churgns II arapkitbre
is TOTAL, PAYOFF: Sum the currant poncspal and interer due ameonIS and enter that amount (IIa rebate. was due troth step 13:

subtract and enter the difference) This figure is the amount yeti reduile for the borrower to pay the loan rn lull on lee scheduled payoff dale

PAYOFF REMITTANCE SHOULD BE MADE PAYABLE TO: Cornpiete this kecheri only si paymentshorn the applicant are to be
, made myapie 10 en rnsmoree dieemet than provided by the upollciint If the Wran is an NMI. Mane edicate the school which williecerve cow tor the fronton!

7 PAYMENT REMITTANCE ADDRESS IF DIFFERENT FROM ABOVE: Complete this sectaincery d paymners from die applicant
ere dent le ae address Ofterent than provided by Inn nOpfiCellf

ID CREDITOR CERTIFICATION: Ewer the name. trite and letephore nurruyer,01 the odic 21 who has completed and yeriliedMiSinIce-
motion Sign and date Me Cerlitreate on the appropnate IlnaS.

19 Prat/Vey Marl the certificate Kt the student Loan Consititaation Contra In the postage paid Onyelope

ttrtr elthNiard anti Utte Manappretrate your assistance us Corm:donne Mai !Oral
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STUDENT LOAN MARKETING ASSOCIATION
LOAN CONSOLIDATION VERIFICATION CERTIFICATE

woipaot ottorrat q Sao.. Ma. *to. 1.1oco Wifoomol /nay &I.'', N. twat to co....dotal% coolittaottop 14441, 0'030 tottovaol
atoaotte-0 The 1...12010 01 Oos 10- t In 0141.. ivoliOaltOn 10 OfidoM) tp. iOn01.001iim, 0t i

Pan. va I....4W the vonovon pan. CCracOon'I M ,y10 Pi 44401 0010 ball

PART I TO SE COMPLETED BY THE APPLICANT

APPLICANT NAME AND ADDRESS

[..., 10 m.11, ii7---

CO v

0
CREDITOR ei 1

UAW.

CREDITOR b 2

A

Sean

VAIL

MATE_

-4--

0
1

2

3

1

2

3

DAYTIME TELEPHONE EVENING TELEPHONE

SOCIAL sicunitY NO I

O
(.34eAl OtiE

ACCOUNT NUMBER nALANCEiS) NOM 0144 _

my I.". 1 nn

1

2

3

(3 TOTAL

1 am appirog 10 Sa Ott Ms. Ip IM tamtfol.allttOtt W IOY 110041.1. talto(1)1411.t1 roma I twr.by oilqualt and aultlotlia lb* disci.... to &M. M.a.of may info,.
inviio. ter. "o, no4.41 vouch Savor ma. 000118i pat' 01 It OPTIONS Loan Confolidation Ptoonon

APPLICANTS SIGNATURE DATE

CERTIFICATE INSTRUCTIONS

Please complete all of the above information Typo or print clearly (press flard with ball point pen) Complete We fol-
lowing information

I Your full name and complete mailing address.

2 A telephone number where you can be reached during the day hours

3 A telephone number whore you can be reached during the evening hours.

4 Your rectal security number

5. The full name and coinotele mailing address of one creditor you wont (0 include In this consolidation. .

Note. 11 you are making payments to a servicing agent of the creditor. Wore enter the servicing agent's
name The address you enter shOuld be Me same address where YOU now send payments.

G. The account number assigned to your loan(s) by your creditor. This number will assist your creditor to locate
. your loan records and process 1110 certificate II you do not know your account nurnber, enter "unknown".

Note' Although each loan Should be listed separately. you need not repeat the acCount number if it it the
Sarno for all Of yetir loans with the Creditor

7 The balance now Outstanding on the loan II you have more than one loan and your creditor has consolidated the
individual loan balances IMO one repayment schedule, you may enter the aggregate amoulfl outstanding

8 Check "NOW, "GSL" (FISL Is 'a type Of ORE) depending on the type of student loan program under which the
corresponding loan was made.

9 Repeal stops 5-8 for each of your creditors.

10. Sum the Individual balances and enter the total amount in the total box.

11 Sign and data certificate
.

Review the eortifica4 and make sure that all of the above Items have been completed And are Accurate. Contact the
Consolidation Center tf yo need saalatance In completing this form. Return all parts of this form ithd the apphention to the
Coneohdetion Center In the .closed envelope.

RETURN TO
STUDENT LOAN CONSOLIDATION CENTER

0 COX 1006
MERRIFIELO. VIRGINIA 22116

(00O) 11641066

53.
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STUDENT LOAN MARKETING ASSOCIATION
PAN CONSOLIDATION VERIFICATION CERTIFICAIIE

. .

90466e1 aNe0,100171(1M QV1,°" If 111111 4' 01104.4 by 3.0)4 Mae usiffti WIWI/ bo/roaers may apply b. loe. to co...date ...MM. ICOn. mode poa*.Ol to
TOSe IV of the tbgh*. Waco.. Act 01 1041 . Waal. Tne puie,e.ca this to..) re W.I. verrt.aeon ea the ehrtribty to. co....... At M rem,* oolat.1.1.0
...fees, &pees $14/11 07 14). Ides Slobs 400, .0 by It). bisebireer rapelicas1-1 +.0 Vert II by the 1.14. of the booed.,, loam re..talor, Pa. type or pm% 0)0 .4011
Pabne leen

0 APPLICANT NAME AND ADDRESS

17,1uUtrerTketV.iirkiii

corr

CREDITOR 1

nfW11000/

rite Stall 11111

ISOCIAL SECURITY NO

DAYTIME TELEPHONE 1=.1E741N:1 TELE RINE

ACCOUNT NUMBER BALANCEiS)

2

3

OIRCIS 001

N0iSt. 96:

CREDITOR: PLEASE VERIFY ACCOUNT,NUMBER(S) AND YPE OF LOAN
t

INFORMATION OK AS IS P.

D CHANGES

I ale abblYiby to Salto, Mae !of the ttontobdatto. of my stodont goon's) 461.1 here I tval *by request And attthoftre th tbactostoe to SUM Mae ot any Into,
0)5)100. fly Stud..,) 1c.o0)) haled here who. galls/ Ufa need. af 04,1 0111f OPTIC41S14,44 C0^"k74".6 P°717.."'

APPLICANTS SIGNA TURU °DATE
PART 11 TO BE ZOMPLETED BY THE CREDITOR

CREDITOR PLEASE NOTE Total pay-off is the amount you would require
-' __ the borrower to remit to pay his/her loan in full as of the date to the jilt.rarotf DATE

ACCOUNT ti 1 __ACCOUNT n 2 ACCOUNT 113 ACCOUNT #4 ACCOUNT N 5
AC COUNT NIJAADPII

STATUS
5096041101)

SLMA OWNED"
00DSIDIZED7

DATE OPENED
ORIGINAL AMT

L !NTT :REST RATE

44.400 041 MO urn
LAST PAYMENT MADE

1] YES 0 w)
LI YES 0 NO

NIX) PAYMENT DUE
CURRENT PRINCIPAL.

INTEREST OUE
07V01LO095,01).1:0010

TOTAt PAYOF F

STATUS CODES

01 IN-SCIRME 04 DEFERMENT
02 GRACE

01 CI:004Ni
fITPAYMIN7

Li YES 0 NO Cl YES17. 0 NO 0 YES 0 NO
ElYE§ El NO Ii YES, rj No c,) YES El NO

1.15 F0110EATIANCE

OFLINULA I 30-170 OATS

1)7 TIE TAUT T

El YE C) NO
YE( 0 NO

$

PAYOFF REMITTANCE SHOULD OE MADE PAYABLE TO

PAYMENT REMITTANCE ADDRESS II DICE ERENT FROM AROVE

14.0.

STOOL 7111

Cr141.1, CaIttheeteda Cl lb. boll en....10. the Pert ...curate eral 11.11111 h,tti Al*. a .0101. tvoclfno obbbeb.0 çiItIo
apeman/ LIstIover, 11,,, mad. In asceirstarMe bon In. rubes cbbiereing saber the frua/ablebblalsllen1 loan triAn. ..Natve.fdpfect o. 00100. Stment,Loa.
10.51) 1...0nyea by i.et011 0.04 Act as usc lore el Tell 11, vac. Luc,. won noololp isoon 11. been ...M. comp/tame
MO 14 elbf applicable to Ow 10.1 011.1011111eb4.00 411 tee Sfr Mile be end frrilb ceSPeet lb a Wit 0441, tOO nswabc. bib abbe is in aT bybe and .01.0

ALIT106.T60 rpf6,0.11

NN.F

CEO EP)

9.00a101It

(04 )4

Pr TWIN ro
STUDENT LOAN CONSOIJOA119N CENTER

P DOA 1600
mEnnmv.R.,VIRGINIA 22116

(7031 345-105

4.46441.0: 000 Pr Mon W.0 1(001h.r(It o MAVI t At St SCOT) 1.1r 07 OR MIS/IFPIIESEMANON ON TICS FORM IS SUOJEC T10 Pt NAtlY Or LAW

6
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Student Loan Marketing Association
,I)ROMISSORY NOTE/PROMISE TO PAY,.

PROJECTED
DISBURSEMENT

DATE

ti.,,ur Or 66iiiriliA the borrower. promise to pay tO the Student Loan Marketing AMiouiation

Me lender (at P0 Box 1600. Merrifield Virginia 22116 or Cl such other address as desr0nated by the leader). all of ere principal sum of

$ to the trident it is advancolirs an amount equivalent to daily simple interest on the unpaid principal balance
ai lire 000 0, -a-- 00ment per year I will repay this loan in penned. installments In accordance wen the Repayment Schedule set
Mill below It I (Si to pay any of these amounts whoa they are dun I will also pay all charges and other .costs including reasonable
toiney s foes- that are pe4tndled by Federal law and impatiens and are necessary for the collection of these amounts Ii Om loan is re
reined tor collection to an agency that is subject to thin lair Debt C.Mlectmn Practices Act I will pay those collection costs which do not
exceed 26 portent of the unpaid principal and acCreed Interest

ITEMIZATION OF AMOUNT FINANCED
Thu proceeds 01 this Iden will be used to pay ell my liability on the following loans

1

3

Amount Paid To ally Account WithCiedllor Name Student Loan Marketing Aseoclation Amount Paid to Other Creditors

AMOUNT FINANCED TOTALS A. TOTAL B. TOTAL

TOTAL AMOUNT FINANCED (A&B)
\`liaeJ

The amount paid to each creditor represents tne unpaid belance disclosed by the creditor I understand that It. alter payment of the
amount listed there is remaining unpaid Meanco or an account credit, it it my responsibility to mantra the matter with the applicable
creditor

REPAYMENT SCHEDULE/DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

ANNUAL PERCENTAGE PATE FINANCE CHARGE Amount Financed Total of payment.

Tire cost of the Credit as a

yearly rate

The dollar amount the credit

will cost $

The amount of the credit pro-
vided to me or on my behalf.

S

'Rio amount that will be paid
alter all payments have boon
made as scheduled

Repayment of the loan will be in monthly instnementS. Oil the same day of each month, according to the following schedule

payments of $ beginning

payments otS beginning

payments of beginning

payments of $ beginning

payments Of $ beginning .

payments of $ beginning

payments of $ beginning

payments Of $ beginning

payment* of $ beginning

payments of $ beginning

and a lin& payment of $ due

Late Charge: 11 a payment is late, I will be charged $5 Or 5% of the payment. Whichever Is less
Prepayment II I pay off early, I wilt not have to pay a penalty
Sae the full promissory note for additional terms about nonpayment. default. prepayment, and prepayment refunds and penalties

disbursement of this loan is not made on lire projected disbursement date. or if a payment Is not made as scheduled (a g. If ) make
ale payment or it I am entitled to a OE FERMENT). the lender may adjust the repayment schedule.

The lender has prodded me with a copy of this Promissory Note, die receipt of which J hereby acknowledge The terms eel lorth on this
reverse side of thls page are pad of this Promissory Note The karma of this Promissory Note will be interpreted According tO the law (20
DSC. 1071 to 1087-2) and Fed.'s! regulations (34 CFR Part 682) that govern the Federal Insured Student Ulan Program. I will promptly
notify the holder of this loan. in writing, of any change of my name or address

(SIGNATURE OF nonnowEro (STREET ADDRESS)

MCC *p?
(BATE) CITY STATE ZIP CODE

Return To. Student Loan Consolidation Center, P 0 Box 1600, MOrtifield, VA 22116

SALIM MAE COPY

55
COPY
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The lender and I understand that the following terms apply
to this loan:

FEDERAL INSURED STUDENT LOAN PROGRAM

This Promissory Note is evidence of a Federal Insured Stu-
dent Loan which is made

Ed
to the loan consolidation

authority. in Section 439(o of the Higher Education Act of
1055, as amended (20 USC 007 -2(o)).

PREPAYMENT

I may, at my option and without penally. prepay all or any
pan of the principal or accrued intahst of this loan at any
time

DEFERMENT

To the extent authorized by Federal law, payments of pnn-
Opal will be deferred after the repayment period begins.
provided i comply with the procedural requirements set
forth in she Federal regulations governing the lectern! In-
sured Student Loan Program (FISLP). in the following err-
CumstanOeS.
1 While I am enrolled in

k Full -lime study at a school that IS participating in
the F1SLP or a school that is an institution of higher
education or a vocational school and is operated
by an agency Of the Federal Government.

B. A graduate fellowship program approved -by the
Secretary of Education (-the Secretary), or

C A rehabilitation training program for disabled indi-
viduals approved by the Secretary

2 For a period not exceeding throe years for each of the
following while am
A- On active duty in the Armed Forces of the United

States or serving as an officer in ttt6 Commis-
sioned Corps of the Public Health Service:

B. Serving as a Peace Corea volunteer:
C Serving as a full -lime volunteer under Title I of the

Domestic Volunteer Service Act of 1973 (ACTION
programs):

D In lull -limo volunteer service for an organization ex-
empt from income taxation under Section 591(c)(3)
of the Internal Revenue Code of IVA whith the
Secretary has determined is comparable tothe
service referred loin clauses B and C above, Or:

E. Temporarily totally disabled. or unable to secure
emISloyment became I am providing care required
by a pouee who ts so disabled (disability must be
established by a physician's affidavit).

3 For a period not exceeding two years while I am serv-
ing in an internship which the Secretary has deter-
mined Is necessary for me to gain professional rec-
ognition required to begin professional practice or
service.

4 For.,a single period not exceeding one year while I am
ConiseleatiOualy seeking but unable to find lull -lime
ernOoyment in the Untied States.

56
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To be granted a deferment, I MUM provide the tinder with
written evidence of my eligibility. I must subsequently notify
the lender as soon as the condition for which the deferment
was granted no longer exists"

INTEREST

I. I will be responsible for payment of all the Interest that
accrues on this loan.

2 The fender may add any interest that 15 not paid when It
is due. and interest payable by me that accrues during -
authorized deferment periods, to U Uri*/ principal
balance of this loan. in accordance *di Federal regu-
lations governing the FISLP

LATE CHARGES

If permitted by State law. the lender may collect from me a
late charge it I fail to make-any part of an installment pay-
ment within 10 days after it is due, unless I provide docu-
mentation that I am entitled to have the payment de/era:id
as described in Mos Promissory Niro A late Charge may
not exceed 55 or 5 percent of an installment. whichever
amount is leSS

DEFAULT

III default on this loan. the lender may declare the entire
unpaid amount of the loan, including interest. Immediately
doe and payable. A default may also make me Ineligible for
:the benefits desc,ibed under .the DEFERMENT section In
this Promissory Note. Under the Federal regulations gov-
erning the FISLP. any of 1110 following evenly Cbtild be con-
sidered a default my failure to make a payment when It Is
due or, in certain-circumstances. my failure to nolify Iha
lender of a change In my name, address, or school enroll-
ment status.

DISAB1UTlf OR Dolan

III become totally and permanentty disabled or if I die, my
obligation to pay any amount owed on this loan will be
cancelled.

CREDIT BUREAU NOTIFICATION

If I default on this loan. the 'Secretary. using the Wowing
procedure, may disclose information about the loan 10
credit bureau organizations after the Secretary has at-
tempted to collect the debt from me. If the Secretary knows
my address. the Secretary must first notify me that such
distlosure will be made unless I begin or resume payment.
If I do not begin or resume repayment within 30 (Ws of
receipt of this notice, or Such longer period as the SeCre-
Wry may specify.'ihe Secretary will disclose information
about the loan to Credit bureau organisations. If the Secre-
tary does not know my address, the Becrelery may disclose
infomiatIon about the loan to credit bureau organlmitions In
order to teem my address. The lender must provkis Infor-
mation on the repayment status of the loan to credit bursieu
organizations upon my request.
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YOUR BENEFITS COMPARISON

The Chart below compares Inc major benefits you may now have with the benefits you will have whenyou consolidate
your repayment loans under Sallie Maa'a OPTIONS program.

BENEFIT

Prepayment allowed

Maximum repayment term

Interest rate

Cancellation upon borrower death or
total disability

Deferment of principal payments for
periods when the borrower is

In attendance full-time at an g%
approved educational institution Ir.
Serving in the Armed forces. Public
tioaith Service. Peace Corps. VISTA
ur as a full timo volunteer for certain
taxexempl organizations
Serving an internship which is
required to receive professional
recognition and begin professional
practice
Temporarily totally disabled or unable
to secure employment by reason of
the care required by a spouse who
is so disabled
Seeking but unable to obtain
employment

Six month grace period alter deferment

Responsibility for interest during
determent periods listed above and
applicable grace periods

Partial or full cancellation, over time. of
lean for Public Service as.

A full-lime teacher in certain public
or other nonprofit private elementary
or secondary schools
A lull tome staff member in certain
preschool programs ,
A full-time teacher of handicapped
children in a public Or Other nonprofit
private elementary Or secondary
school
A motnber of the Armed Forces of the
United Staten (Or services in an area
that qualifies as an area of hoshlilles
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up to 3 years
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up to 3 years
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up to 12 mos
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up to 3 yews
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up to 2 years
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up to 2 years
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up to 12 mos
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YES 0 NO
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loss the interest on
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the Government white
the borrower was at-
tending school.
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S

S
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NO

NO

NO

NO

NO

NO

NO .

NO

Actual maximum term is based upon total loan balance.
interest rate on GSL loans being consolidated is 7%. the OPTIONS loan will be at 7%

Attendance may be on a halt lime basis but must be at an institution M higher education
But only for loans made before October
But required Interest payments may be deferred and added to the principal amount Of the loan
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Sallie Mae tfr

has already helped
thousands of
student loan

borrowers
cut their monthly
payments by as
mud!' as half.

I

Now let us
help you.



Introducing the Student
Loan Marketing
Association (Sallie Mae)
ovrtoms Program
Remember how happy you felt when your student
loans came through and eased the worry about
how to pay for school? Now that you'vegraduated
you may have a new concernhow to repay your
student loans.

Repaying student loans doesn't have to be over-
whelming, though. With planning and budgeting,
your payments can be manageable. And the Sallie
Mae OPTIONS program can help make your loan
repayment even more affordable.

How Sallie Mae helps
In 1972, Congress chartered Sallie Mae to work
closely with lenders to promote the accessi ility of
student loan credit. In 1981, we were autho zed by
Federal law to create a program that would ake
repayment easier for student loan borrowers. This
new service, called OPTIONS, is another way Sallie
Mae contributes to the national student loan pro-
gram. Under OPTIONS your existing student loans
are combined into one new, manageable, easy-to-
pay loan made under the Federally regulated
Guaranteed Student Loan Program. When you
take adOantage of OPTIONS, you help other stu-
dents who need loans because the OPTIONS pro-, gram circulates moneyback to lending institutions
and schools to help them make new student loans.

:11EST copy
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How you benefit
You keep more money each month.
Borrowers who have taken advantage of the
OPTIONS program have reduced their monthly
loan payments by as much as 40 to 50 %. This
chart illustrates the average reduction for borrow-
ers who have already benefitted from the OPTIONS
program.

Loan
Category

Average
Old

Payment

Average
OPTIONS
Payment

Average
Monthly

Reduction

$5,001- $ 9600 5 58.00 5 38.00
.$7500

$7,501- 122.00 72.00 50.00
$11,000

$11,001- 166.00 96.00 70.00
$15.999

$16,000 214.00 123.00 91.00
or more

These savings mean increased financial flexibility
for you and more money to spend on the things
you need now.

You pick the terms of your repayment.
There are three different OPTIONS repayment
plans to choose from. With each plan you write
one check, once a month to Sallie Mae. In the next
few pages, we'll explain each plan.

How you become eligible
To find out if you're eligible, first add up the ap-
proximate amount of money you still owe on your
GSL, NDSL, Or FISL* loans which are in good
standing and which you want to combine. Keep in
mind that you don't have to combine every loan
you hold. Just as long as the amount adds up to
more than $7,500, you are eligible for OPTIONS.

If the amount adds up to more than $5,000, but
less than $7,500, you are eligible, but only if your
loans are from more than one lender, program, or
guarantor.

*Only Guaranteed Student Loans (G51.). National Direct (Deleose I
Student Loans (NDSL). and Federally Insured Student Loans t ['1St ) qualify

I,
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How the
program works
Sallie Mae pays off your existing student loans
and creates one new loan. If you choose, you can
have more time to repay this loan than you had
with your original loans. These additional months
to repay mean lower monthly payments.

There are three OPTIONS repayment plans to
choose from. Your 'choke should be based on
how much you can budget each montl,for your
loan payment, how long you want to take to repay
your loan, and your income expectations fqr the
future.

OPTION 1: With OPTION 1, your monthly payment
amount will be the same for the entire term of

I the loan. This amount can be considerably less
than the total amount you are currently paying.
And you select the payment that best fits your
budget. You'll never pay any more than the
amount you select. So as your income rises, it's
good to know that your monthly payments won't.

OPTION 2: With op-nor(2, your payments start
out low and increase gradually. So 1 you've just
become established in your career; this may be
the plan for you. It makes your payments manage-
able now and still affordable later. And, within
certain limits, you select how long you want to
take to repay your loan. As a result, you can
control your cash flow.

,

OPTION 3: With op-noN 3, your monthly pay-
ments start out low, then increase more rapidly
than with ocrrioN 2. So if you expect your earning
power to rise quickly, you can pay off your loan
with fewer payments. And like OPTIONS 1 and 2,
you can choose, within certain limits, how long
you want to take to repay your oFrnotis loan.
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How to choose
your OPTIONS
The chart below helps you approximate your
monthly payment under each OPTION. These are
the lowest possible payments for each loan
amount and they are based on the maximum
number ofinonths you can take to repay your loan.

To see how the OPTIONS program works, find the
amount closest to what you currently owe. The
maximum amount of time you can take to repay
the loan is listed next to each OPTION. For OPTION 1,
the approximate monthly payment throughout the
life of the loan is listed. For OPTIONS 2 and 3, where
payments increase every two years until the loan is
repaid, the ,approximate first, midpoint, and final
payments are listed. Remember, you can choose
the OPTION you prefer, and, within certain limits,
the amount of time to repay the loan.

Total
Loan

Amount

. Maximum
Tenn

(kmonths)
First

Payment
141dpoint
Payment

Final
Payment

35.000 OPTION I (Leven 120 $58 $58 $58
OPDON2 (Graduated) 120 39 59 90
MON 3 (Accelerated) 96 39 80 116

310.000 OPTION I (Leven 156 $98 $ 98 $ 98
OPTION 2 (Graduated) 156 70 105 156
OPTXX13 (Accelerated) 127 70 109 214

$15.000 OPTFON I (Leven 192 $130 $130 $130
OPTION 2 (Graduated) 192 98 130 189
OPTION 3 (Accelerated) 161 98 152 236

$20.000 OPTION 1 (Level) 240 $155 $155 $155
On/0112 (Graduated) 240 125 160 216
OPTION 3 (Accelerated) 207 125 179 256
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How to know OPTIONS
is right for you

OPTIONS loans are GSL loans and carry a fixed
interest rate of 7%. If you hold any loans with
a lower interest rate, you will still save money
on your monthly payments with OPTIONS. The
money you save now can offset the increased
interest rate.

With OPTIONS, you don't have to worry about
any origination fee or any other kind of
supplementary charge.

Only GSL, NDSL, and FISL are eligible for the
OP TiONS program. Regular consumer loans or
other student loans Ate not eligible.

You and your spouse cannot combine your
loans, nor can you combine your loans with
loans your parents hold.

As with other GSL loans, you're entitled to
deferment rights with OPTIONS. The only differ-
ence is the way the interest is handled. With
OPTIONS, the government does not pay the
interest during deferment. However, interest
may be deferred by you and added to the
principal amount of the loan.

How to apply
for ovrioNs
Now that you know how to lower your monthly
student loan payments, simply fill out the attached
envelope. We'll begin processing your application
for OPTIONS right away. If you still have any un-
answered questions, call our Customer Service
CenteNt 800-446-4000 toll free.
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Yes, I'd like to apply for OPTIONS

Name How Did You Find Out About OPTIONS?

Address

City

State Zip

Social Security Number

Daytime Telephone

Evening Telephone

Date You Last Attended School (Month/Year)

ti

School
Which one

Bank orother financial
institution
Which one

SallieMae offer

Guarantee agency

Servicer

Newspaper

Other media

Friend/relative

Other

To avoid processing delays, mail this application as soon as
possible. 41'4
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Loan Information

c.)

LENDER PROGRAM
(NDSL. GSL, OR FISL)

AMOUNT NOW OWED DATE REPAYMENT BEGAN/WILL BEGIN

)

TOTAL NUMBER OF:

LOANS

LENDERS

BEST COPY

-1 TOTAL OWED
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THE OPTIONS SELECTOR

1. Select the amount nearest what you currently
owe from those listed at the top of the table.

2. Scan the appropriate column for the monthly
payment you'd be most CarlfOltalie WithiFor
the graduated payment plansOPT1ONS 2 and 3
the first figure shows Your first 24 payments.
The second figure shows your final and highest
payments. The cokimn shows how much your
payments increase every two years.)

a Look to the left of the table td determine the .

4,1vm1 of your new loan.

N the exact amount of your oulstandkg loan Is
not show, its still easy to calculate your pay-
ments. Say you owe $16,752. Subtract the
monthly payment for $16,000 from the monthly
payment for $17,000. Multiply the difference by
.752, and then add that amount to the monthly
payment for $16,000.

If you owe more than $31.000. you can use the
additive feature of the selector to estimate your
payment amount For example, the monthly pay-
ment for a loan of $33,003 for 20 years is $206
($100 for $16,003 at 20 yrs $106 for $17,003 at
20 yrs). Nola: Be sure to use the same OPTION
and term length for both parts of your loan.

In cider to use the percent figure wider OPTION 2
and OPTION 3:

1. Multiply your selected payment by that percent.

2. Add the product to the beginning payment (this
represents payments 26-03).

3. To complete your personalized schedule, con-
tinue computing each 2-year Increment as above
utilizing your last answer as the new starting point.

4. Check your work by comparing your final
answer to the final payment listed on the selector.

The paymonts are approximations based on an annual
percentage rate ol 7% Your actual payment may Mier slightly
based on your balance and the OPTION you select

Student Loan Consolidation Center
P.O Box 1600
Merrif fold, VA 22116
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Mr. Fox. We believe that our program has been workable and
has been successful and following a very substantial investment in
this program, we think it's doing what the legislation intended for
it to do. We would leave to you any policy determinations as to
how many programs of consolidation you think should be out there
and we would hope also that the issues of complexity, consistency
and the like be dealt with in any changes that. you might make.

One comment that you made, sir, about defaults, I would chal-
lenge. We have had a default rate in the consolidation program of
something less than 1 percent, after about 18 months of operation
of the program, and while we don't believe that the default rate is
going to stay that low, we do know that most of the categories of
students, regardless of the amount of indebtedness that they incur
have default. rates that are substantially higher than that.

There is no really good evidence as to what default rates are,
there are definitional changes constantly in this thing, but we do
that a significant number of students will default. They default at
the point in time at which they go in repayment, to a greater
extent than any other time.

I would believe that this program has shown that there is a sub-
stantial decrease in defaults through the consolidation program. 1
would not want to make the claim that. it is solely a function of
consolidation, whether we can quantify it, but when you are look-
ing at default rates that average between AO and 12 percent in gen-
eral, skewed among different populations to be sure and then see a
default rate of something less than 1 percent after a conversion
period, you have to believe that there has been some substantive
decrease in defaults.

Again, I wouldn't want to say how much of that comes about be-
cause of our process. We cannot say what that pool of people might
have done otherwise, but certainly there has been no experience
anywhere else to indicate default rates that low and we hope that
we can maintain that.

When we created this program, our goal was to provide maxi-
mum participation from the borrower in selecting payment terms,
both fixed and graduated, which could be effectively serviced, but
which did not present the borrower with a bewildering array of de-
cisions. We believe that we have succeeded in this effort and I have
appended to the statement that we have given to you all of the dif-
ferent types of documentation attendant to a loan consolidation.

You will get to see in that just how complex a pfocess it is and
this would reinforce your notion that if you do do anything to
change the program, that you try to put in place certain standards,
certain similarities of delivery mechanisms to make it easier for
the students and easier for the people who are participAting on the
other sidethe financial aid officers, the banks and the States.

Just very quickly, we have seen the testimony of Dr. Edward El-
mendorf and also the GAO at your meeting a week or two ago. Our
recollection was that Dr. Elmendorf made a number of comments
relative to the kinds of things in the law of a technical nature
which might allow for certain abuses or for certain costs to the
Federal Government.

In actuality, over a period of time, we negotiated with the De-
pw.t.:-.1ent to put in place an agreement which protected the Gov-
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eminent as well as protected Sallie Mae in putting this-program in
place so I believe that all of these technical kinds of issues that Dr.
Elmendorf was raising can'be dealt with between the Department
and any others who originate this program.

I don't believe that anybody who gets into consolidation auto-
matically has a license to disavow any sections of the statute or
can cause harm unnecessarily. I don't believe the statute is that
badly drawn. It is an easy technical matter to deal with either leg-
islatively or dealing on a regulatory basis with the Department.

,The question was raised about the interest rate in this program.
You may recall that-a 7-percent interest rate was mandated in the
legislation and subsequently the interest rate for students who are
borrowing in GSLP went to 9.

We would support and have supported the notion that if a stu-
dent has originally gotten' his GSL at 7 or at 9 or at 12 or at 14,
'consolidation should be at that level. This, too, can be corrected
through legislation. It has not cost the Government very much to
this poi pt because 'we' haven't consolidated any higher yielding
loans iinhe 12 or 14 category and very, very few of the 9-percent
loans have actually come into repayment yet, in such a way that
they have been eligible for consolidation at 7.

We would hope ,that you would deal with that in this legislEition
and I don't think Quit that's a major problem for any party. I don't
think that would be a disincentive for anybody relative to consoli-
dation. -

There are also a couple of questions relative to section 427 of the. .

act: It was a specific 'concern that if we were to make a consolida-
tionlpan we had to give the check straight to the student pr the
-graduate and have that individual take the proceeds and pay off
the existing loans. That would have put twice the funds into the
hands of the borrower and we didn't think that was appropriate.

We did work dut something with the Department. They feel they
stretched the legislation abit, but they did work it out so that we
could have coenclorsement to send it straight to the banking insti-
tution, We didn't want to see doubling up of large loans like that.
.That, too, may have to be addressed with'legislation, but it's a rela-
tively simple thingit's a technical just to make certain that ob-
vious problems relative to consolidation aren't managed prejudi-
cially to the Government.

Finally, we have seen Mr. Henig's comments from the General
Accounting Office. We expect that his full report will be forthcom-
ing. We have not seen it as yet. It is probably due in the next 2 to 4
weeks. But we believe that when you get the final 'report from the
GAO that it will indicate that loan consolidation is a worthy pro-
gram that Sallie Mae has administered responsibly and fairly and
that we .have managed it consistent with the original legislation.

I think it will also indicate that there has been no material cost
to the Government for having had this particular program in place
for the last 18 months. It is not as large a program as people might
have ptcted it to be. In actuality, something less than 1 percent
of tbe who are eligible for it actually undertake a program
of cohsblidation.'
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It is turning out tij- e what we expected it to be. Those who have
a need and can utilize to better match their income with their out-
flow use it. Others just choose not to.

Finally, as you know, has a sunset on July 31 and because it
takes 60 to 90 days to consolidate a loanit's a very complex proc-
esswe have begun to notify borrowers that it could conceivably
be a problem as of that date. We have indicated to people t.14 it's
our understanding that there is good will toward this progrMi on
the Hill and it probably will be reauthorized, and that there could
be a time gap in therewe hope that there is notbut we asked
them to continue the applicatibn process, given the complexities of
it, and we do hope that in your considerations you do choose to re-
authorize it because we think it has provided modest,,. not necessari-
ly costly service to studentti and that it has not been abused in any
way at the expense of the Federal Govermpent.

Those are my comments, Mr. Chairman.\
Mr. SIMON. Thank you very,, very much. Let me also welcome a .

brandnew member to the subcommittee, Tim Penny from Minneso-
ta. We are pleased to have you as a member of the subcommittee.

Mr. PENNY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. .

Mr. SIMON. I was interested in your comment that those who are
taking advantage of this are people who really are in need. One of
fears has been that consolidation, in fact, is going to be an attrac-
tive option for people who really don't have the needs.

Have you done any intensive study to know that that is the case,
and let. me, just for a moment, be the devil's advocateif you see
somebody who has a default, who has problems, doesn't. that
become an 'unattractive to be providing'consolidation Tor?

Mr. Fox. We don't provide consolidation to people, who are delin-
quent or in default. We have decided that somebody has to be in
good standing. The reason for that is as much operational as philo-
sophical because the process of curing a default or a deliquency, it
means an interaction with the guarantor and the like -and .it could
well be tbat at the point in time in which we are sending f check,
a guarantor is sending a check to the lender as well..

But we feel that if a student can be encouraged to get heir loans
into grace, that they catch up on the default then they c n be eligi-
ble for the process. But we have made it a policy decSion not to
consolidate delinquent of defadlted loans.

Additionally, we have worked out a repayment schedule with the
Department of Education so that a student can't falWa- term and
then.get maximum term under the consolidation which is 20 years.
We believe that at certain levels of indebtedness, they should get
moderate extension; at a 'higher level, evek more extension as a
possibility. In that way we have foreclosed the possibility of egre-
gious cost increase to the GoVernment. Somebody with a_ $5,0,00
note can't automatically say, "I'll pay nothing back for.20 years
and then pay it the 20th year," which would be the maximum cost
to the Federal Government. . .

.

We' would spread that out and give that person three. options,
-, one of which would be no cost increase to the Government, which

is a graduated repayment on such a schedule. of graduation that
the average indebtedness over the tirrieframe is exactly the same as

...

4
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it was before. All it does is must moderate the up front payment.
So that costs the GoVernment nothing.

The second one, which is graduated repayment, tries to match
the income of the student to the payback and, in most cases, that
stretches out the loan to maybe 13 or 14 years from a 10-year maxi-
mum before, It's only when you get a very large loan, which is
probably where your higher incidence of default comes anyway
that you give the person the opportunity even to get out close to 15
or 20 years.

I don't think you are going to find that the cost- is that great on
the interest benefits under the special allowance.

Mr. SIMON. In terms of costs, what are we talking about? You
can define them on a per consolidated loan average or however you
want to define it. What are we talking if we authorize a major pro-
gram here?

Mr. Fox. Well, I think you have already authorized it and it
hasn't proven to be that large in any case. The issue here is if that
program should be shared or diffused in terms of who offers it.ABut
I don't think the program is that much larger we have already de-
fined because we have had nationwide advertisements, as you
know, and have sent out publication's to millions of eligible people
and we just haven't gotten the kind of response that suggest that
there are a lot of very heavily indebted students out there who
want to use this thing. -

But we bear costs 'certainly as an originator. The cost of 'out-
reach, finding the individual, and nsolidating. Those are costs
borne by Sallie Mae. We get no cost lowance, we don't charge the
student an additional insurance prenu m or anything like that.

The cost to the government is the fact that you are extending the
loan and in so doing, you are going to be making interest benefits
available, possibly, depending on interest rates, for a longer period
of time than otherwise might have been the case,

That might extend the average life of the loan perhaps 30 per-
cent, depending on the conditions under which the student under-
takes to extend. The offset to that is, presumably; a lesser amount
of operational costs to the different people who are holding those
four, five or six notes, which only have to service one. Second, to
the extent that you can reduce' defaults, those defaults occur early
on in the process, that's on offset to the higher interest costs.

If you recall, this program was designed in this way to offer con-
solidation because they couldn't consolidate all of the programs up
front. It was felt that if you had some kind of a screening device, if
after the student had graduated, you put in place oertain kinds of
tests to make .certain that only those who have high indebtedness
or multiple borrow relationships would only be in the firsts place,
which you could limit. Those tests seem to be working.

I believe that the 'costs for this are modest. I don't think you are
going to be able to document those exact costs fof long periods of
time--

Mr. SIMON. But can you give us some kind of ball park figure? In
other words, if we go ahead and say, "From August 1 on this whole
program is reauthorized," what kind of terms are we talking in for
fiscal year 1984?
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Mr. Fox. Well, the General Accounting Office has indicated that
for each $100 million of this, based on certain interest rate assump-
tions and certain default assumptions, something less than 2 per-
cent of additional cost would be added, roughly $2 million per $100
million. That's in their report, I bOeve.

We are not in a position to judge what the Federal cost is going
to be on this thing. We have not 'studied it, but don't find that it
would be anythingwe don't belieVe it would be materially greater
than what the General Accounting Office has suggested. .

Mr. SIMON. And, then finallyI kuess really it's a philosophical
questionthere Life those who would argue the business of Con-
gress and this committee, this subcommittee, is to see that students
get to college. Once they get to college, how they handle their loans
after that is their business and we shouldn't really be worried
about that too much. How do you respond to that?

Mr. Fox. I believe that there has -'been much greater reliance on
credit the last 5 years than anybo y had expected. I think that you

a-created a debtor class. You ha a Operation of people who 10
years ago would have seen their education paid by the moneys
saved by their parents and now we have put the burden on these
people to get an education, to tap their future earning stream for
payment of their education.

To the extent that we can facilitate the repayment without need-
lessly increasing costs to the Federal GOvernment, giving these
people the opportunity to pay back their ldans, I think, is a valua-
ble kind of an exercise. These kids are mobile, they borrow in a
number of different places. The programs have changed a number
of times over the last few years so that they have been required to
scratch and bite and -try to find debt wherever they could. You
have made them eligible for NDSL's or health programs, GSL pro-
grams, you have disenfranchised them from time to time, and in
order to get through school, we find that those who have multiple
borrow relationships, have three or four relationShips, three or four
guarantees or guarantors, in some cases.

I think that if we can provide a means by which they can facili-
tate their repayment, we are not giving particular additional costs
to the Government and I don't feel we are, and if we can reduce
the defaults which seems to be a statistic which people seem to
dwell upon in this country, then We have accomplished something.
We have done in a way not costing the Government anything, any
material amount and it's just facilitating. .

The costs of this are borne primarily by the student and by the
originator." We do all of the work in it ying to locate this person,
making them aware of the program that is available and it's a very
costly process, much nipre costly than a normal loan origination.

The student, frequently, is actually going up to a higher interest
rate and you are getting your 3 percent money back in your NDSL
or whatever, whenever orm of the students chooses to go to a 7-per-
cent or a .9. percent loan. So a student is actually choosing to pay a
bit more interest for the opportunity to consolidate and better
manage their financial affairs.
' I really see nothing wrong with it. I really think. it's a very posi-
tive kind of a program. I really at this point don't see any cost of



any magnitude that Should make you squeamish about extending
it.

Mr. SIMON. Mr. Gunderson.
Mr. GUNDERSON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you, Mr.

Forc, for coming before us to discuss one of the more complicated
programs we deal with in this subcommitee.

You have said in your statement that if we go to some kind of a
national program which allows the States and the lenders to be in-
volved, that you are very concerned it be a uniform program.

What suggestions would you have in that particular area as to
how a national uniform should be structured or administered?

Mr. Fox. Well, certainly to the extent that there are policy
issues, that would have to come from you, but first, the eligibility
requirements are set statuteyou might want to amplify on some
of those eligibility statutes. Do you want to limit whether people
have the opportunity to consolidate if they are delinquent or in de-
fault. Right now that is just something that we are working out
and it's not something that is specifically in the statute.

Do you want to perhaps mandate repayment terms that would
limit against just offering the program so that everybody could con-
vert to a 20-year loan and get the maximum Government subsidy,
whether it's needed or not. We have put in place, in consultation
with the Department, a schedule that limits the amount extensions
somebody could get based on their loan size. That extension is
where the cost comes in, because each additional year that loan is
on the books, the Government may have to pay an interest benefit
on it.

So certain rules relative to how much extension you can give, the
eligibility requirements of ityou may wish to look at things
likesince these students have loans from more than one guaran-
tor, in many cases, who would be the vehicle of choice to offer the
consolidation?

It goes on and on. But these are things that either have to be
dealt with through regulation or through specifistic law, but which
make it very clear that this not a program `to be abused and to
offer maximum benefit to anybody that desires it, that it be po-
liceable, that there be reporting requirements, because the Depart-
ment of Education needs data coming from the originators so that
they have an idea of what the old loans, where they came from and
the like, because they have a lot of requirements that require anal-
ysis.

So solid reporting, origination practices, limitations of costs
through certain devices, certain rules relative to eligibility, certain
rules relative to perhaps making fees available to people who are
not going out and competing and trying to throw money at institu-
tions for converting or whateversomething that gives some aura
of consistency, both from the Government's point of view, from cost
and from the operational nature of the program.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Do you personally have any feelings as to
whether or not we should extend loan consolidation to the States?

Mr. Fox. I have reported to you that if it's a policy issue that we
are not going to argue against it. We have said that monopoly is
something that is difficult to defend and we would try to defend
against monopoly at .this time.
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DF GUNDERSON. Someone suggested that the present loan con-
solidation program is one that's very cost effective, no cost at all to
the Federal Government. They are not sure that that would
happen if we extended the authority. I guess that is one of the big
areas of controversy, as to whether or not we would then get into
some kind of cost to the Federal Government.

What is your analysis? Do you think if we extend loan consolida-
tion to the States or lenders that there will be a cost incurred to
the Federal Government?,

Mr. Fox. I don't think that there is any doubt that there is ade-
quate capital available fot this program, but I don't think that is
the issue. The issue is that,there are a number of institutions that
have been created to provide service in their geographic district
and they want to be able to offer full service and feel that they
should have the opportunity to provide that service, in their juris-
diction.

t can't argue that. I think' that the costs that you have to deal
with are administrative costs' to the Federal Government, certain
redundancies that might come about in terms of cost of putting
these programs in place. We are not talkihg about a very large pro-
gram here. People keep thinking that we are talking about a multi-
billion dollar thing and it just hasn't happened, and I don't think
that we have found a single State where there's any very large
amount of these loans proportionate to their pool.

But there are going to be costs of administration at the local
level to do it right, the cost of reporting, which are redundant. I
think you are going to find that there are administrative costs and
regulatory costs to the Federal Government and certainly there is
the cost associated with the revenue. What those amounts are are
being analyzed by others and I would look to the Department of
Education to tell you what they think the administrative costs
would be.

I have no doubt that the States, or any others for that matter, if
they so desired, could put this program in placeI don't believe
they have got it yetbut they could put it in place and it would be
a fine type of program.

But I think there are costs. I think you have already decided in
the past that those costs would not inhibit you from other pro-
grams.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Finally, do you project any need in the near
future to raise the interest rate on consolidated loans?

Mr. Fox. I think that there are a number of students who will be
coming into the progress in the next. few months, let alone the
next few years, whose borrowing has been at 9 percent. It would be
inappropriate for those to get an additional subsidy, which would

be mandated under the existing programs.
We created a program with a 7-percent interest rate and the

same legislation created a new type of borrower at a new rate and
I don't believe it was intentional. There has been some speculation
that the 7-percent rate was meant to be an inducement for some
low consolidate. I don't believe that was the intent at all. It was to
give people an opportunity to manage their affairs and not to give
them additional subsidy.
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You also have the possibility of other rates associated with
parent loans, last loans, the like, and I think that anybody who's
borrowed should have a refinancing fairly at the terms at which
they originally borrowed. This is an accommodation. It's not a sub-
sidy program. And I would be strongly in favor of reworking the
legislation in that way.

Mr. GUNDERSON. In the absence of the Chair, he has asked that I
continue the hearing, and we'll do so by calling Mr. Penny.

Mr. PENNY. I have no questions.
Mr. GUNDERSON. Mr. Packard.
Mr. PACKARD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I appreciate the testimony of Mr. Fox. Following up on the ques-

tion regarding interest, would it be feasible to consider tying that
with the prime rate, like many of our current lending institutions
are with regular conventional financing?

Mr. Fox. Well, prime rate is a curious phenomena. Very few
people seem to be borrowing at prime anymore. It seems to be
more of a memo figure from the banking system to give an indica-
tion more of direction of rates more than anything else. We have
found over the last few years in trying to find ways ip which we
might tie the student loan to some kind of a rate, thatl'

Mr. PACKARD. By that I meant a variable rate, then rather than
tying it directly to prime rate. Some formula that would give it a
variable rate that would relate to the fluctuations of a true interest
rate.

Mr. Fox. We have found that relating the student loancto the
cost of funds of the institutions was better than trying to relate it
to prime which is with their lending rate. Last year alone, for ex-
ample, we have seenfor the last 2 years we have seen prime any-
where from 10 to about 22 percent.

When currently prime is 101 /2, I think a student loan is yielding
somewhere around 121/2 today. When prime was at 221/2 a student
loan was yielding around 17, significantly below the prime rate. We
have found that there would be less volatility in the rate with the
T-bill as opposed to prime and sinc what we a etrying to do is
insure that those who lend in this p ogram A arow their funds
in the short-term environment, hay sompxki of a yiel on their
loans that moves pretty much with theta cost -fir ds, and that
was best done if you tied it to the Treasury ball plu som kind of
an increment. It's also ela number that is reated eve y week
through an actual auction rather t an bein come mein figure
that the bank postsArbitrarily.

,

IiiIt is something which is dependable, some 4 on which the
banking has come to.depend upon in terms of t e yield ip this prat"
gram. This program does not yield Anywhere n ar as muCh as tra-
ditional consumer loans, but it is more predict ble; which is very
useful to lenders. - M.Mr. PACKARD, Generally speaking, does the banking industry
seek out these kinds of loans or are they doing hem to accommo-

.date and serve a. need?
iMr. Fox. Well, you know, I think we have gorite through a very

dramatic change, Congressman; 10 or 15 years ago, when the pro
grim was a more embryonic stage, yields were lower, changes were
sometimes relatiVely thoughtless relative to operationS and the

\
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lik Banks were doing this as a lost lender and because the Ameri-
can Banking Association and others said, "This is something that is
appropriate 'foitc you to do." Lending was very modest. There was
not access and 'I can tell you that most banks lost money on this
thing and were doing it as a public service.

But over the years there has been much more concern about the
operational aspects of the program and the legislation that comes
out of here. The loan has been indexed in a way that at least gives
some assurance that they are not going to be whipsaw9d if the in-
terest rates move tip or down because you know in the old days the
rate was set quarterly by a committee; there was no formula.

So by having indexed the instrument, by having more attention
to detail, by having the program decentralized to the States and
getting closer surveillance and management. of the program on a
Statelby-State basis, improving the timeliness of payments from
the Federal Government by putting the penalty burden on the Gov-
ernment if they didn't pay on timeall of these dings have made
lenders much more willing to participate in the progYam.

What has also happened is now you have a number of institu-
tions who are willing to make loans on a nationwide basis. There is
no shortage of private capital in support of this program rightirow,
which is a marked change from just 5 or so years ago.

The gentleman who is going to testif170 after me represents one
such institution where there is a willingness to make loans of last
resort around the country. This becomes a part of their strategy for
interstate banking to try to get clients all over the country. So it
works.

Mr. PACKARD. VerY,good. Do you see any group of people, minori-
ties or poor people or any specific groups of people, that are not
being served by this procedure? Is it available to everyone and does
it really serve the total needs that are out there?

Mr. Fox; There was a provision in my law that said that we
could not deal with anybody who denied access to a loan for rea-
sons of race, sex, religion, and the other EEOC kinds of things. It
also said that you could not do business with Sallie Mae if you re-
quired a prior business relationship with the institution.

We are pleased that we have been a part of a process over the
past 10 years where banks have stopped that kind of provision in
most parts of the country and we think that it was our legislation
that germinated here, which, to a great extent, pushed that.

Theri may be isolated pockets where small groups don't get
access t the program, but if they can be identified, we believe that
there are others who will make loanS available to them. We hear
very infrequently, of People who claim that they don't have access.

We did hear a week or two ago testimony from former Under
Secretary Clohan that prospective small borrowers, those who
borrow very small amounts, have difficulties getting loans. That, I
believe, is a cost problem associated with the banking industry
today which is passing through the costs associated with high yield
ing deposits, in terms charging for service and small loans just
don't pay the freight. For us, the high cost of servicing for small
loans doesn't pay the freight.

So if anybody is being disenfranchised, it would seem to be the
very small prospective borrower, who may not have to borrow at
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all. I think that the last hearing suggested that reauthorization
deal with that and I know there are groups of people now, based on
that hearing, that are trying to -address that issue.

Mr. PACKARD. Thank you.
Mr. GUNDERSON. Are there any other questions?
[No response.]
Mr. GUNDERSON. If not, thank you again very much, Mr. Fox, for

your testimony and for your cooperation. All of us, I suspect,-will
be talking to you again either informally or formally before we
complete this process.

With that, we call our next witness, which is Stephen Biklen,
vice president, Citibank.

[Prepared statement of Stephen Biklen follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF STEVE BIKLEN ON BEHALF OF THE AMIERICAN BANKERS
ASSOCIATION

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee. I am Stevg Biklen, Vice Presi-
dent in charge of Citicorp's student loan business and repersent the American
Bankers Association.

Our Association's membership includes more than 90 percent of the nation's full
service banks. While our members range in size from the smallest to the largest
banks, approximately 90 percent of them have less than $100 million in assets.

I am pleased to be here today to discuss the United States General Accounting
Office Report on the Student Loan Marketing Association's (Sallie Mae's) loan con-
solidation program. The extension of the consolidation program is of interest to
lenders with respect to the cost impact it may have on the guaranteed student loan
program and the effect it may have on lenders to the extent that they are not able
to offer loan consolidation if they wish. The ABA believes strongly that the ability
of lenders to offer loan consolidations would greatly simplify administration of the
program, particularly in those situations where all of the loans to be consolidated
are held by one lender.

The American Bankers Association has been asked to comment specifically on the
May 25, 1983, report of the GAO, and as such our comments will primarily address
points relating to private lenders.

As noted on pages 1 and 2 of the GAO report, Sallie Mae has an excltuzivo fran-
chise to provide consolidated loans to student borrowers. This places private lenders,
who intend to hold student loans during the repayment period, at a serious competi-
tive disadvantage. For example, Sallie Mae can purchase the more :profitable higher
balance loans while private lenders cannot compete on an equal basis.

Page 2 of the report notes that as of December 31, 1982, Sallie Mae had consoli-
dated 10,648 loans totaling $66.9MM from 5,473 borrowers. It would be useful to
know the breakdown of these consolidated loans in the following ways: Number of
loans from the same lender, same guarantor, number of loans from same lender,
different guarantors, number of loans from different lenders, different guarantors.

We believe that such information might substantiate the need for private lender
participation in the consolidation program. ----

As a point for clarification pages 2 and 3 compare the monthly payments for con-
solidated loans versus nonconsolidated loans. The report notes that a borrower with
nonconsolidated loans would pay $166 per month for 10 years while the borrower
with a comparable consolidated loan would pay $96 for 16 years. These numbers
appear inconsistent because the total payments of the consolidated loans would be
less than the unconsolidated loan as follows:
Unconsolidated:

Monthly payment (multiplied) $166
Number of years (multiplied) 10
Months (multiplied) 12

Total payments $19,920

Consolidated:
Monthly payments (multiplied) $96
Number of yeacis(multiplied) 16
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Months (multiplied) 12

Total payments $18,432
Logic would dictate that the total of the payments over 16 years should be greater

than the total of the payments over 10 years. This point should be clarified.
Another point to be made is that while the consolidation program will reduce a

borrower's monthly payments, the total to be paid back by the borrower will be sub-
stantially increased. This is demonstrated by the following schedule:
Finance charge at 7 percent for $7,500 borrowed for the term indicated:

10 years $2,950
15 years 4,634
20 years 6,455

Pale 3 notes that Sallie Mae estimates that the consolidation program will cost
the Federal government an additional $2 million for every $100 million of loans con-
solidated. Assuming that the consolidation rate remains at 7 percent. we would
expect that the cost to the federal government will increase over time, simply be--
cause the larger portion of the loans being consolidated will carry a 9 percent inter-
est rate and, therefore, the cost of the special allowance will increase when the rate
is reduced to 7 percent. Therefore, we recommend that the Congress consider in-
creasing the 7 percent rate in order to reduce the cost of the program to the federal
government..

The bottom of page 3 notes that. Sallie Mae used a conservative 2 percent default
rate in its assumptions for consolidated loans. Based upon input from state guaran-
tee agencies, it is our understanding that over 50 percent of total defaults result
from first-time payment defaults. Additionally, the consolidation program appeals to
those borrowers who are most interested in repaying their loans. Based upon these
underlying assumptions we agree that a two percent default rate looks conservative.
This is further supported by the narrative on page 4 of the GAO report which notes
that the annual default rate for the guaranteed student loan program is 10 percent.
Here again we understand that over half of this rate is due to firt-time payment
defauFts.

The ABA agrees with the Department of Education that the consolidation default
rate cannot. be compared to the normal guaranteed student loan default rate or
NDSL default rate. It. would be very meaningful, however, to understand what the
average stage of repayment was for those loans that Sallie Mae has consolidated to
date, and compare that to the default rate for GSL loans at the same stage of repay-
ment. If such information can be obtained, an accurate assessment of the impact of
the consolidation program on default rates could be made.

Page 5 of the report begins a discussion of the various program alternatives as
seen by the GAO. We would like to comment on these alternatives as follows:

Extending loan consolidation authority to State programs
The GAO considered extending the consolidation program to states but did not

consider extending it to private lenders operating in the guaranteed student loan
program. The ABA supports extension of the authority to make consolidation loans
to all private lenders in the guaranteed student loan program. These private lenders
are making student loans today and many of them hold the loans as they move
from the in-school phase into repayment. If a student has more than one loan, the '/r
lender normally consolidates those loans into one loan for the repayment period.
Thus, lenders have experience in this consolidation process. Additionally, the ABA
favors lender particpation in the consolidation program, particularly in the instance
where. the loans being consolidated are held by one lender, or by two lenders under
the same guarantee program. The administrative process of consolidating the loans
would be greatly simplified, becasue there would be fewer parties involved. It would
not be necessary to call upon another party such as Sallie Mae or the State second-
ary market to become involved in the transaction. The concept of having lenders
particpate in the consolidatioin program is further supported by Sallie Mae's find-
ing (noted on page 12) that 93 percent of loans consolidated were under the GSL
program.

Pages 1C and 11 of the GAO report discuss issues relative jo the administrative
cost allowance [AC/k] and insurance premiums. Allowing private lenders to offer the
consolidation product would contribute to the resolution of these issues and would
probably result in reduced cost to the federal government. We would recommend
the following:

Same lender, same guarantor.Lender would consolidate the loans using the same
guarantee. There would be no need for the ACA or insurance:
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Same lender, different guarantor.The loans could be insured directly by the De-
partment of Education as Sallie Mae does now, or a guarantor could opt to insure
he total consolidated loan with no ACA or additional insurance.

Different lender, different guarantor.These loans could be consolidated by the
lender and insured directly by the Department of Education as Sallie Mae does now.
There would be no need for ACA or additional insurance.

Averaging interest rates
We agree with the conclusion of Sallie Mae and most state programs that the ca-

pability to determine the consolidated loan interest rates on an average or weighted
basis could be implemented, but that this process would cause severe administrative
problems with the special allowance billing. To alleviate this situation, the ABA rec-
ommends that either one rate, say 8 percent or 9 percent be used, or that the bor-
rower's GSL rate be the determinant of the consolidated rate. For example a bor-
rower with a 7 percent GSL would obtain a 7 percent consolidated rate. A 9 percent
borrower would obtain a 9 percent consolidated rate. Implementation of either of
the recommendations would reduce the cost of additional special allowance to the
government.

Revising qualifying loan amounts
Here again the ABA recommends simplicity and perhaps raising minimum quali-

fying amounts and limiting the repayment terms to help hold down the cost to the
government. Rather than using many different repayment schedules, we recom-
mend a simple table of options such as the following:

Maximum
maturity

Consolidated loan amount: (yeara)
Over $7,500 10
Over $10,000 12
Over $15,000 15

Page 15 of the GAO report discusses situations where the borrower may not qual-
ify for consolidation, but may have several loans and, therefore, be paying several
minimum payments. The concept of allowing lenders to participate in the consolida-
tion program would help alleviate this situation particularly where the loans in-
volved were guaranteed student loans. The lender could simpI3, consolidate the bor-
rower's loans at tile original rate of the loans, which would have to be either 7 or 9
percent, and keep fiat repayment terms to a maximum of 10 years. This would
reduce the borrower's monthly payments because the effect of applying the mini-
mum loan payment to several loans is eliminated.

As a point for clarification page 14 notes that lenders would usually require at
least the $50 minimum monthly payment for GSL's due to loan servicing costs. It
should be noted that the minimum $50 payment is not subject to lender option but
is required by law.

Eliminating the special allowance on consolidation loans
The ABA agrees that the special allowance on the NDSL portion of the loans

should not be eliminated. Elimination of the special allowance for NDSL loans
would give little incentive for anyone to consolidate thoet loans. Additionally, NDSL
loans comprise only 7 percent of the total loans being Consolidated and therefore,
would have a relatively small impact on the total cost of the program.
Summary

In summary, the ABA strongly recommends that private lenders be allowed to
participate in the consolidation programs. They are an integral part of the guaran-
teed student loan program, and they have experience in consolidating loans today.
Inclusion of private lenders would greatly simplify the consolidation process by
eliminating the need for another party, such as Sallie Mae or a state agency, to get
involved in administratively processing the loans.

Second, the ABA strongly recommends that the consolidation program be kept as
simple as ible. The rate structure should be simplified and use of a higher rate
than 7 t would help defray the" cost of the program. The repayment terms
should be pt to a minimum of 3 or 4 options rather than a sliding scale. This
would greatly simplify the administration of the program and result in a better un-
derstanding of it by those who benefit from it most, thee borrowers.

Thank you very much for the opportunity to comment on the consolidation pro-
gram at this hearing. If you have any questions, I would be more than happy to
answer them.
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STATEMENT OF STEPHEN C. BIKLEN, VICE PRESIDENT,
CITIBANK (NEW YORK STATE), N.A.

Mr. BIKLEN. Mr. Chairman, members of the subcommittee, I am
Steve Biklen, vice president in charge of Citicorp's student loan
business and represent the American Bankers, Association.

Our association's membership includes more than 90 percent of
the Nation's full service banks. While our members range in size
from the smallest to the largest banks, approximately 90 percent of
them have less than $100 million in assets.

I am pleased to be here today to discuss the U.S. General Ac-
counting Office report on the Student Loan Marketing Associa-.
tion's [Sallie Mae's] loan consolidation program. The extension of
the consolidation program is of interest to lenders with respect to
the cost impact it may have on the guaranteed student loan pro-
gram and the effect it may have on lenders to the extent that they
are not able to offer loan consolidation if they wish.

The ABA believes strongly that the ability of lenders to offer
loan consolidations would greatly simplify administration of the
program, particularly in those situations where all of the loans to
he consolidated are held by one lender.

The ABA has been asked to comment specifically on the May 25,
1983, report of the GAO, and as such, our comments will prima\rily
address points relating to private lenders. As noted on pages 1 and
2 of the GAO report, Sallie Mae has an exclusive franchise to prO,,,
vide consolidated loans to student borrowers. This places private s\
lenders who intend to hold student loans during the retainment \
period at a serious competitive disadvantage.

F'or example, Sallie Mae- can purchase the more profitable,
higher balanced loans while private lenders cannot compete on an
equal basis.

Page 2 of the report notes that as of December 1982, Sallie Mae
had consolidated 10,648 loans totaling $66.9 million from over 5,000
borrowers. It would be useful to know the breakdown of these con-
solidated loans in the following ways: The number of loans from
the same lender and the same guarantor; the number of loans from
the same lender, different guarantor; the number of loans from dif-
ferent lenders and different guarantors.

We believe that that information might substantiate the need for
private lender participation in the consolidation program.

There were two other pointsifor clarification in the report. One
dealt with a schedule in there that indicated that a borrower with
nonconsolidated loans would pay $166 per month for 10 years while
the borrower with a comparable consolidated loan would pay $96
for 16 years. Those numbers appeared inconsistent to us in the
sense that the total payment to the consolidated loans would be
less than the unconsolidated loan as follows: The unconsolidated
loan amount to total payments of $19,-920 over the 10-year period
whereas the consolidated loan amounted to $18,432.

Logic would dictate the total of the payments over the 16 years
would be greater than the total of payments over the 10 years. We
think that point should be clarified.

Another point to be made that was not brought out in the report
is that while a consolidation program would reduce the borrower's
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monthly payments, the total to be paid back by the borroWer will
be substantially increased so that if you have a 7-percent loan of
$7,500 the finance charge over 10 years.would be $2,950 and over
the 10-year period it would be over $6,000.

Page 3 notes that Sallie Mae estimates the consolidation pro-
gram would cost the Federal Government an additional $2 million
for every $100 million of loans consolidated. Assuming that the
consolidation rate remains at 7 percent, we would expect that the
cost to the Federal Government will increase over time, simply be-
cause you will have more of the 9-percent loans going into consoli-
dation. Therefore, we recommend that the Congress consider in-
creasing the 7-percent rate in order to reduce the cost of the pro-
gram to the Federal Government.

The bottom of page 3 notes that Sallie Mae used a conservative
2-percent default rate in its assumptions for consolidated loans.
Based upon input from State guarantee agencies, it is our under-
standing that over 50 percent of total defaults result from first-
time payment defaults. Additionally, the consolidation program ap-
peals to those borrowers who are most interested in repaying their
loans.

Based upon these underlying assumptions, we agree that a 2-per-
cent default rate looks conservative. This is further supported by
the narrative on page 4 of the report, which notes that the annual
default for the guaranteed student loan program is 10 percent.
Here again we understand that over half of this rate is due to first-
time payment defaults.

The ABA agrees with the Department of Education that the con-
solidation default rate cannot be compared to the normal guaran-
teed student loan default rate or the NDSL default rate. It would
be very meaningful, however, to understand what the average
stage of repayment was for those loans that Sallie Mae has consoli-
dated to date, and then compare that to the default rate for GSL
loans at the same stage of repayment. If such information can be
obtained, an accurate assessment of the impact of the consolidation
program on default rates could be made.

The report begins a discussion of various program alternatives as
seen by the GAO. We would like to comment on the alternatives
as follows:

The first alternative was extending loan consolidation authority
to State; programs. The GAO considered extending the consolida-
tion program to States but did not consider extending it to lenders.
The ABA support extension of the authority .to make consolidation
loans to all private lenders in the program. These private lenders
are making student loans today and many of them hold the loans
as they move from in-school into repayment.

If a student has more than one loan, the lender normally consoli-
dates those loans into one loan for the repayment period. In this
way, lenders have experience in the consolidation process today.
Additionally, the ABA flivors lencter participation in the consolida-
tion program, particularly in the instance where the loans being
consolidated are held by one lender or by two lenders under the
same guarantee program.

The administrative process of consolidating the loans would be
greatly simplified because there would be fewer parties involved. It
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would not be necessary to call upon another party such as Sallie
Mae or the State secolclary market to become involved in the
transaction.

The concept of having lenders participate in the consolidation
program is further supported by Sallie Mae's finding that 93 per-
cent of loans, consolidated to date were under the GSL program.

Pages 10 and 11 of the GAO report discuss issues relative to the
administrative cost allowance, the ACA, and insurance premiums.
Allowing private lenders to offer the same consolidation product
would cohtribute to the resolution of these issues and would prob-
ably result in reduced costs to the Federal Government.

We would recommend the following in the situation with the
same lender, same guarantor. The loans would simply be consoli-
dated. There ould be no need for ACA or insurance.

In the si ation of the same lender, different guarantor, the
loans could insured directly by the Department of Education as
is done no with Sallie Mae, or a guarantor could opt to insure the
total consolidated loan with no ACA or additional insurance.

In a situation of different lenders, different guarantors, those
loans could also be consolidated by the lender and insured by the
Department and there would be no need for ACA or additional in-
surance.

On the issue of averaging interest rates, we agree with the con-
clusion of Sallie Mae and most State programs that he capability
to determine the consolidated loan interest rates on an average or
weighted basis could be implemented, but that this process would
cause severe administrative problems with respect to the special al-
lowance billing. ,

To alleviate this situation, the ABA recommends that either one
rate, say 8 percent or 9 percent be used, or that the borrower's GSL
rate be the determinant of the consolidated rate.

For example, a borrower with a 7-percent GSL would obtain fa
7-percent consolidated rate. A 9-percent borrower-would obtain a
9-percent consolidated rate. Implementation of either of those recom-
mendations w uld reduce the cost of additional special allowance to
the Governor nt.

In terms o revising the qualifying loan amounts, here again, the
ABA recom ends simplicity and perhaps raising minimum qualify-
ing amounts and limiting the repayment terms to hold down the
cost to the Government. Rather than using many different -pay-
ment schedules, we would recommend a simple table such as, Over
$7,500, the maximum maturity might be 10 years. Over $10,000, 12
years and over $15,000, 15 years.

Page 15 of the GAO report discusses situations where the bor-
rower may not qualify for consolidation, but may have several
loans and, therefore, be paying several minimum payments. The
concept of allowing lenders tb participatk in the consolidation pro-
gram would help alleviate this situation, particularly where the
loans involved were guaranteed student, loans. The lender could
simply. consolidate the borrower's loans at the original rate of the
loans, which would tither be 7 or, 9 percent, and keep the repay-
ment terms to a maiimum of 10 years. This would reduce the bor-
rower's monthly payments _because the effect of applying a mini-
mum loan payment to several different loans would be eliminated.
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As a point of clarification page 14 notes that lenders would ,psu-
*ally require at least the $50 minimum monthly payment for t)1SL's
due Co loan servicing costs. It should be rioted that the minimum
ff50 payment is not subject to lender option. but is required by law.

On fir subject of eliminating the special allowance on c ... ida-
tiori loans, the ABA would agree that the special allowanc on the
NDSI, portion of the loans shout not be eliminated. Elimin ion of
the Special allowance for NDSI, 1 ans would give little incentive for
anyone to consolidate those lo ns and., additiAally, the NDSI_,
loans comprise only 7 percent Of the total loans being consolidated
and therefore, would have a relatively small impact on the total
cost of the program.

In summary, the ABA strongly recommend hat'private lenders
be allowed to participate in the consolidatio programs. They are
an integral part. of the guaranteed student. loan program, and they
have experience in consolidating loans tocigiy. Inclusion of private
lender*. would greatly simplify the consolidation process by elimi-
nating the need for another party, such as Sallie Mae, or a State
agency, to get involved in administratively processing the loans.

Second, the ABA strongly recommends that the consolidation
program be kept as simple as possible. The rate structure should be
simplified and use of a higher rate than 7 percent would help
defray the cost of the program. Repayment. terms should be kept to
a minimum of three or four options rather than a sliding scale.
This would greatly simplify the administration of the program and
result in a better understanding of it by those who benefit from it
most, the borrowers_ .

Thank you very much for the opportunity to participate in this
hearing. I' would glad to answer any questions you might have.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Thank you for your testimony.
The chairman df the committee said at -this point in time we

would insert in the record a letter from you and the chairman's
reply. I think it was-dated May 16 nd without objection that will
be inserted in the record.

.I.With that, we call on Mr. Penn .
Mr. PENNY. Maybe you don't have this- information. I am curious

to find out the relationship between private lenders and State lend-
ers in the student loan field and appr&imately how much of the
need is being met by private financial institutions.

Mr. BIKLEN. I don't have the numbers available, but I think basi-
cally the relationship is such that in a number .of States, private
lenders provide the capital needed to meet the demand for student
loans.

In a number of other States, that capital -has not been adequate
and we have seen the State bonding authorities fulfill that need in
a sense that they come in as a secondary market, buy the loans
from the originating lender and then the lender in turn would be
free and would haye capital free up to make additional loans.

I don't have access to the numbers involved at this point.
Mr. PENNY. Could you run through again for me the approach

you would like to see applied for determining an interest rate on a
consolidated loan? 4'

Mr. BIKLEN. We have one of two recommendations. One would be
simply changing the consolidation rate from 7 percent to a higher

:((p ' () -I

97



4

99

rate, say 8 percent or 9 percent, and that would help to reduce the
additional cost or special allowance to the Federal Government.

An alternative would be to tie the consolidation rate to the rate
of the guaranteed student loa_p that it was being consolidated with,
which would either be 7 percent or 9 percent and that would avoid
the situation where you would be taking a 9-percent loan down. to 7
percent and then causing the special allowance payments to in-
crease over time.

Mr. PENNY. So the second recommendation is just to leave it at
the level of the GSI. instead Of averaging it perhaps with otherloans that might--

Mr. BIKLEN. Well, right now all loans that are consolidated
would go into one loan that would carry at 7 percent. We would
recommend that instead of doing that, if they had a 9-percent GSL,
they would consolidate it at 9 percent.

Mr. PENNY. They do that at 9 percent. I have no further ques-
tions.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Mr. Blakey, the majority counsel.
Mr. BLAKEY. You mentioned in your testimony, Mr. Biklen, I

think on page 5, that some private lenders already are consolidat-
ing loans. My question is, are they simply consolidating in a more
practical sense, that is, puttingAthe loans together, or are they, in
fact, initiating a complete new instrument?

Mr. BIKLEN. Well, in the sense that loans are already on the
books of the lender, they are putting those together, but they are
putting them into a new instrument that results in one loan which
now has a repayment schedule that has to be negotiated with their borrower.

Mr. BLAKEY. Have you estimated at all how much it would cost,
for example, Citibank, to implement a consolidation program along
lines similar to the one that Sallie Mae is ow pursuing?

Mr. BIKLEN. No, I have not. There wou be some additional cost
involved, obviously, but we have not estimated what that cost
would be.

Mr. BLAKEY. And finally, your testimony is directed almost exclu-
sively to the guaranteed student loan progranit. Under present law,
both national direct student loans as well as HEAL loans also can
be consolidated, although no HEAL loans are being consolidated.
Would you have any difficulty, if, in addition to the current GSL
loans, also national direct' student loans and auxiliary loans that
were made to graduate or undergraduate students as opposed to
parents were also included in consolidation.

Mr. BIICLEN. Won't have any difficulty with that.
Mr. BLAKEY. Thank you.
Mr. GUNDERSON. Sure. Mr. Biklen, as I listened to your testimo-

ny and as I read it over, correct me if I am wrong, do you seem to
suggest that we could, if we' extended consolidation authority to
lenders, use yyu in lieu of Sallie Mae and, in essence, replace Sallie
Mae?.'

Mr. BIKLEN. No.
Mr. GUNDERSON. Or do you see a rode for Sallie Mae even with

the consolidation authority?
Mr. BIKLEN. Yes. I am not suggesting that they would replace

Sallie Mae or the States. I am just suggesting that they would be
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providing the service in addition to Sallie Mae and the States, if
they are alto included.

Mr. GUNDERSON. You indicate that the ability of lenders to offer
loan-consolidation would greatly simplify the administration of the
program. Would you like to elaborate on what you foresee as how
we would achieve that?

Mr. BIKLEN. Yes. I am talking about, the situation where the,
loang to be consolidated, where, say,, the student had all of those
loans with one lender or with two or more len ers operating under
the same guarantee pi-6gram or even operati under different
guarantee wgrams.

But basically what you hre doing is you are keeping the whole
process with a lender that's already got one of the loans. So you
are not having to bring in an additional party, and that's why I
think it would be administratively simpler.

Mr. GLJNDERSON. Do you think iii a situation where we extended
this consolidation authority to a lender, that in order lo participate
in consolidation of loans, there should be some kind of tie-in,
should at least one of the original loans ought, to be held by that
particular lender or ought that not be a requirement?

Mr. Bixt.EN. I don't know that that would necessarily be a re-
qu,irement. I think it would make it easier for the students to do
that and they would probably opt. to do that anyway. I don't know
that you would have to make that a requirement.

Mr.,fluNDERsoN. You don't think there would be any problem or
any Ricentive one way or the other with a financial institution as
someone coming in not hying original loans with that particular
financial institution in getting that financial institution to partici-
pate?

Mr. BIKLEN. No; I think that if that happened though .you would
have the same situation where now you have brought in another
party that was ,ever part of it. But other than that, I don't think
it, would'necessarily have to be a requirement.

Mr. GUNDERSON. If States and lenders were given consolidation
authority and in addition to that, We allowed consolidation of loans
across State lines, would you foresee any problems in the various
State agencies of private lending agencies in perhaps dealing with
the different criteria: interest rates, et cetera, in that situation or
not.?

Mr. BIKLEN. I think there would be an issue in terms of the.in-
surance premium. If you had a Rate guarantee agency that was
now consolidating loans that had previously been guaranteed by
another agency, I think that's an issue that needs to be addressed.

We suggested a solution to that. Either they would accept these
additional loans without additional insurance or the loans would be
insured by the Department of Education and there would be no
need for an additional insurance premium.

t There would be somein the case of going across State lines, and
operating with different guarantors, the different guarantors do
have different requirements, but that's the situation we have today
that Sallie Mae would have to deal with when they are consolidat-
ing loans from different guarantors. 8o other than having addition-
al parties that would have to deal with that situation, it wouldn't
be any more difficult, I wouldn't think.
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Mr. GUNDERSON. One of the criticisms we have heard previously
of Sallie Mae is. that they take all the, frankly, the big loans, and
leave all the private lenders with a wh31e series of sikall loans that
you really can't do much with in terms of investment'or anything
like that.

Yet, in your statement, you recommend _raising the minimum
qualifying amounts. Fir t, Do you have any sugestions, as to what
the minimum amount should be. Second, I guess I am a little curi-
ous that the ABA is proposing that for consolidation because I have
heard that's one of the contentions from the other side from the
financial jnstitkttions. AMr. BIKLEN. Yes; the recommendation for possibly raising the
minimum amount is simply aimed at helping out on the cost side
of the equation, helping out the Federal Government so you don't
have everyone consolidating loans.

Getting back to your original point, that is very true And I think
that is a major point that the ABA is making in that we are being
put in a position here where we can t offer t product, but the
loans that we wind up selling are the largest I sand that fact
remains that it costs the same to service one of those as it does
much smaller loans.

We are losing the bigger loans and that's by we would like to
be able to offer the service as well.

Mr. G NDERSON. Do you have any Idea of the pEirticipation of
banks t Cat would occur if we provided this, co solidation authority?

Mr. BIKLEN. No, _I don'-t. I have talked to a number of other lend-
ers and I know that they have serious concerns about the number,
of loans they are selling. I don't know haw many banks would ulti-
mately wind up participating in this, although I would suspect that
you would have participation in most states by a certain number of
lending institutions.

In terms of lending institutions that might do it acFoss State
lines, I just couldn't answer that. I 'don't know I think the larger
institutions probably would. ,

Mr. GUNDERSON. OK.
Do you have any other comments that you would like to make?
Mr. BIKLEN. No.
Mr. GUNDERSON. Thank you very much for your testimony and

participation.
'andAt this tit* we would like to call the panel tind Pam going tb

ask i.hat they all come up at once. First of till, Paul Borden, execu-
tive Optetor of Kentucky Higher Education Assistance Authority;
John Madigan, the executiveslirector, Rhode Island Higher Educa-
tion Assistance Authority; Rays A. Nicholson, executive director, In-
diana Secondary arket for Education Loans, Inc.; and Douglas R.
Sqjpelt, director, guaranteed student loan program, Colorado... -

If anybody h a preference, fine. Qthervvise we'll just go down
the list as your names are called, prbgent testimony and we will
withoquestio ing until all of 'you have_ submitted your state-
ments.

As is always the case, your entire statements will be made a part
of the 1-ecord. If you choose -to summarize feel free to do so.

Go ahead, Mr. rden.
[Prepared stateme Paul Borden follows:]
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PREI,AlkED STATEMENT oF" PAul, 1, nolliwN, Ex ErliTivE DIREcroit, KENTI,c1{Y 1 lira ii-li
EDUCATION ASSISTANCE AUTHORITY, AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, KENTIA;KY IIIGHER
EDUCATION STUDENT LOAN OHM.

. ,
,

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, I am very plearted to hare this op-
portunity to appear before you today to,disc.uss the several issues relating to loan
consolidation. As you know from fmy prior testimony befOre this Isubcommittik, I
have long been interetsted in the agrAciltwhich I represent having the capability to
particiwe in loan consolidation services now exterlded under Federal Law only to
the Stuaent Loan Marketing Assirciation. My.interest in this additional authority is
directly related to our efforts to provide comprehensive; student loan benefits to all
Kentucky qualified residents and to residents .6f other states ,who choose to pursue
postsecondary education in Keltucky. Wer1ow have in place the.necessary adminis-
trative structure to insure loans, to make direct loans to students who cannot re-
ceive such benefits from private participating lenders and to provide loan purilrs-
-ing (i.e., liquidity benefits) to 257 private lenders now participating within the Com-
monwealth. I believe until such time as all guarantee agencies itnd state or local
secondary markets are affdrded access to the loan consolidation program on.terms,,.._

--comparable.. to those now enjoyed by Sallie Mae that such agencies will be operating
at a competitive disadvantage which threateps kbeiracontitrued capability to exist.

In your invitation to appear before the Subcommittee, you identified three points.
to be addressed. The balance of my remarks are organized around those three points
followed by limited comment upon the General Accounting Office report presented
to you onlday 25. , . 10

1. Kentucky41 ability to consolidate student loans. --The General Accounting Office
IGA44. in its testimony before the Subcommittee on May 25,- 19.8:3, concluded that
the states have or could obtain the necessary administrative and technic:1d

agency IKIIEAAI operated a a direct lender

capabil

e. ir
Y to operate a loan consolidation program_ I agree with the GAO conclusion. With

respect to Kentucky, the guarante
undor the federally insured program from .1971 until the fall' of 1911i., During that
period, KHEAA develo exttaisivv data processing capabiities rr the lending,
billing and collection f notions. In anticipation of becoming a guarantee agency,
KIIEAA substantially piodified the original servicing system so that by the fall of
1978 computer software was available for all functions relating to the,ipsurance of
student loans. Included within the current data processing system is thcNcapability
to handle multiple interest rat:6AM multiple loan repayment terms. KIIEAA is, in

tact., currently administering, on this system, consolidated repaymomts bf students
who have7 both federally insured arid state insured student loans. KIIEAA has, at
various times, provided National Direct Student Loan collection services to an edu-
cational institution in the Commonwealth. The system-Y.0SP °curtains the necessary
structrfre to generate purchase diSbursements to holders of loans which woulchbe
consolidated and already computes repayment schedules on the basis of all of the
notes for any borrower currently within the system. The only si nificant missing
item within the current system is -ffie capability to genera grad ated cepbyment
schedules similar to those currently offered in the Salliv'7VIrie tions progranrj
KIIEAA certainly has the technical ..capability to develop such repayment plans
promptly following any extension of authority to utilize them. Although the current
data processing system is capable of loan consolidationli, we have, during the pat
two years, developed a new generation student loan servicing system which will be
completely operational by the end of this year. We are already administering the
new Auxiliary Loan Program on this system. This new processing system contem-
plates the availability of loan consolidation authority and will fully satisfy any who
take the. time to examine it that the capability to e ctively offer consolidation
services new exists with the Commonwealth of Kentncky..

2. Desirability of agency consolidating student loons.---T'he current situation in
which Sallie Mae consolidates loans held by other lenders throughout the nation
leaves other holders at a substantial competitive disadvantage. Dependent upon the

' long term siccess of the$.0ptions program, this advantage could cause severefinan-
cial difficulges for other large holders of student loan portfolios. Additiontilly, to the
extent Sallie MaeTonsolidates loans through prepaymept of loans held ire portfolios
financed by tax exempt securities, there is a substantial increase in the net cost of
those :loans to the Federal Government. This net increase is apparent in the follow-
ing table: i t

t
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Quarter ending

December 31, 1981

March 31. 1982

June 30, 1982

September 30,41982

December 31. T982

March 31. 1983.

9ti

4

Increased special
allOW3TICe paymentsHelm on post tkt

Return on 1 percent by the federal
buns bekrby Sallie

I. 1980 / percent
Government resulting

loans held by ux
Mae from Sallie Mae

exempt entmes
Roman of a tax

exempt financed loan

4.

./ .1,

15 92 11 46 4.46

1106 12 03 5.03
16 46 . 11 13 4.73

13 36 10 18 3.18

11 75 9.50 2.25

11.88 9.50 2 38

The alige increase in special allowance payments on acquisitions from tax-
exempt: hIlfilers'from" the inception of the Sallie Mae program in December, 1981
thrmigh March 31, 1983 is 3 66 percent. The General Accounting Office report fails
to discuss this increased cost Perhaps. the failure is predicated upon an assumption
that the acquisition by Sallie Mae cau4es the tax exempt security to be retired. Thy
vast majority of student loans financed through tax exempt securities in recent
months have utilized short-term instruments (i.e., three to five years) backed by
Sallie Mae commitment agreements or commercial bank letters or lines'of credit 'or
commitment agreement. Generally speaking, these issues do not contemplate re-
tirement of obligations prior to the stated maturity. Consequently, the acquisition of
such a loan by Sallie Mae results in the Federal Government covering both the rev-
enue losses associated with issuance of the tax exempt security and increased spe-
cial allowance payments associated with loans held by Sallie Mae. An additional
and related exposure for -lenders, such as Kentucky's Student Loan Corporation, is
that a highly successful Options program will-increase the risk associated with spe-
cial redemption through unanticipated pilepayment of loans. One of the principal
fears of investors in student loan securities is that special redemption calls will
occur prior to the stated maturity! This fear is directly related to the fact that stu-/ dent loan bonds are very similv to housing authority bonds. In the housing indus-
try, mortgages, over the past few years, have been prepaid at rates exceeding 80
percent and, as a result, many of these bonds have been redeemed early..the hous-
ing industry problems are best explained in terms of interest rate disk and should
not be equated to the statutorily set interest rate market in which we operate. The
unfortunate reality is that tl?is fear of spechil redemption is afTtitilig the market-
abilityy ostudent loan securities anyd the emerging significant v es of the Op-
tions program loan consolidations will tend to exacerbate these fears. Another seri-
ous concern is the effect that the options program will have on the average loan
balance per borro)er in our portfolio. The GAO has repOrted that the average con-
solidated loan under the Options program is $12,232 with the GSL port of that
averaging $7,179 end the National Direct Student Loan portion averaging 2,488. To
the extent the large balance loans are taken from our stgilent loan portfolio!), we are
marginally less able to continue to acquire<and service small balance loans. As I am
sure has been stated to this Subcommittee many times before, the cost of servicineti
small balance kiwis roughly equivalent to the cost of servicing a large balance loan
while the income streams are, of curse, substantially different. To the extent that
we lose 'the very at,tractiye income streams generated by large loans, it will become
necessary for our Obrporation to reconsider our policy of purchasing lotans at par
irrespective of the average indiVidual portfolio balance. To the extent that we are
forced to replicate the par purchase requirements of Sallie Mae (i.e., average loan
'balances in excess of $4,500), we will severely impact the origination of the smaller
loans wit in the Common*ealth. This would be an extremely seric5us problem in
Kentucky because we do have a large number of small loans originated each year
within th ite. To illustrate this'point, the Corporation's portfolio as of March 31,
1983, had an outstanding principal of $179,477,000 and an average outstanding in-
debtedness per student of $3,003 representing 59,766 student bortowers. Clearly, this
portfolio has a number of loans which are small b'alance loans and, based up6n my
current understanding of the Sallie Mae par purchase requirements, the entife port-
folio would not qualify for 'a Sallie Mae purchase at par.

The GAO Report indicates that data is not readily available to identify persons
who could benefit from load consolidations. Since pie gdarantee agency in Kentucky
currently has terminal's located in several major educational institutio in the
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Commonwealth and is rapidly expanding cm-line communications with the educa-
tional in:illations and lenders, we believe we would have the capability to readily
identify persons who have holdings under the guaranteed pLogramaind the National
Direct Student Loan kograrn that would qualify for loan consolidation. Whether
this makes it desirable for the agency to have theconsolidation authority.is, of
course, dependent upim whether the consolidation program is modified in ways to
more reasonably accommodate the consolidation of NDSL with GSL. Tb the extent
such consolidations are expanded under the current statute, the increased cost of
special allowance payments associated with an efficient borrower identification
system would be substantial, if not prohibitive. However; one of the related benefits-
of such capability is that most of the data needed to consolidate !pans would already
be within the consolidating agent'; data processing system, thus providing cost say
ings to the consolidation program. An additional potential benefit to extending the
consolidation program to agencies is the demonstrated capability of state agencies to
keep default rates at reasonable levels while providing broad access to the loan pro-
gram. '

.
Recommerautions.---Based upon review of the GAO study, and the testimony by

Dr_ Edward Elmendorf before the Suhcommittuf, and review of Sallie Mae materials
[elating to the Options program. I would recoramend the following to the Subcom-

j7)
mince

IA) The current legislation shouldlbe amended to provide eor utilization of
weighted average interest rate rounded up to the nearest integer. This will reduce
the special allowance payment obligation to the Federal Government in all cases
except where disproportionately large NDSLS are included within the consolidated
loan. Also, the administrative difficulties of dealing with innumeral* loan rates in-
volved in computing special allowance payments will be substantidlly reduced for
the Departmenk.of Education. Subjectively, this methodology would probably yield
rates ranging between seven and 10 percent The Subcommittee may. also, wish to

" consider a floor interest rate of 7 percent on all consolidated loans as a way of dis-
couraging consolidation 'by borrowers who may be predominantly financed by
NDSL.

(B) The legislation should incorporate 'repayment extension periods based upon
the applicable aggregate loan, balances. The repayrnen! schedules and methodologies
developed by Sallie Mae in cooperation with the Department of Education seem to
me to be reasonable for incorporation into the Act. An alternative would -be to
extend to the Secretary the authority to regulate the extension periods.

Tin' legislation should. delete the provision of administrative Mast allowances
on consolidated loans and should, also, delete consolidated loans from the reinsur-
ance trigger In conjunction with this, the legislation should prohibit the charging of
insufance premiums on loan consolidations but should permit loan balances to be
considered in ,leteriaming adequacy of any loan guarantee r -erves. I am sure that
many of my peers w the guaradtee agencies and secondar market agencies will
disagree with this recommendation_ However, speaking on for Kentucky, we be-
lieve that there are no substantial increased insurance cos or servicing cots

with consolidated loans. For agencies which insure ti service loans for hold-
ers. the potentially available income stream from such large balance loans will be
sufficient to offset the absence of either ACA or insurance premiums, particularly, if
such loans are not subject to reduced reinsurance rates.

(Di The legislation should require that all loan consolidation agents (i.e., Sallie
Mae, state agencies, etc.) offer consolidation benefits to qualified borrowers who are
delinquent up to GO days on loan repayments. If, in fact, a principal justification for
offering loan consolidation is to reduce defaults, then it seems imminently reasona-
ble that borrowers who are experiencing difficulty in repayment. ought to be the
principal beneficiaries of the program. I would be in favor of extending consolida-
tion benefits at any time prior to the occurrence of a default but recognize, under
the current Sallie Mae methodology, that this could lead to very difficult monitoring
problems to ascertain that loans which are being consolidated have not previously
been the subject of a default. claim.

:E) As an alternative to the recommendations in (C) above, the Subcommittee may
wish to simply provide that all loan consolidations he insured directly by the Secre-
tary. This would simplify the loan consolidation program and utaIte it more manage-
able by the Department_ My primary concern in this respect is that the Secretary,
because of cost containment pressures, would attempt td regulate the program so
tightly as to discourage Many eligibie Participants. Additionally, I am concerned
that Sallie Mae, as a result of both size and proximity, would exert undue influence
over the program. On balance, however, I believe this direct insurance approach is
the preferable course for the Subcommittee to follow.



(F) The legislation should limit consolidation rights to lenders which have insured
or own at least one note made by the borrower. The effect of this would be to sub-, stantially reduce data acquisition costs by .ensuring that the; loan is consolidated
into the existing billing and collection system rather than added to an entirely new
servicing system. In the event a qualified student does not have any note owned by
an authorized consolidation agent, the student should be permitted to go directly to
Sallie Mae for the loan consolidation. A requirement. for disclosing whether or not
consolidation services arc available could be incorporated into the notification neces-
sary when any loan is made or purchased by a secondary market.

(th The legislation. should delete all but in-school deferments but permit forbear-
ance for up to one year This will prevent the Federal Government from having to
assutne both interest subsidy and special allowance costs for anything other than a
return to enrollment. Additionally, the forbearance procedures are very effective in
reducing defaults.

Mt The legislation should correct the Section 427 requirement that consolidatiOn
loan checks be made payable to students and requi,re instead that such checks be
machie directly to the holders of the loans to be consolidated. Additionally, the legis-
latio4 should Ake the several other technical corrections requested by Dr. Ehnen-
dorf in his recent -testimony to this Subcommittee. Of particular concern is the not-
withstanding clause cited on page five of Dr. Elmendorf s testimony. My concern is
that on the basis of this clause Sallie Mae and any new consolidation agents could
choose to ignore other provisions of the statutes.

(I) In conclusion, and most importantly, the legislation shoulr! leave Sallie Mae,
secondary markets, other knaers and guarantee agencies in eqhal positions to pro-
vide consolidation services Co borrowers. To leave any of the entities with competi-
tive adVantages substantially increases the risk that the other un' ities will not. have
the continued capability to service low balance loans and/or to meet servicing costs
on 'their current portfolios.

4. Comments regarding the General Accounting Office Loan Consolidation Study.
In my opinion, the GAO Study accepted and utilized bad assumptions, is inconsist-
ent and-fails to address in any depth the two principal areas of inquiryprogram
costs and impact on defaults. On page 10 of the study they state an inability to come
up with precise cost figures for extending loam consolidation authority to the states
Veause of the difficulty in obtaining reliable is ormation on several of the elements
needed to compute relative costs. On page four the study they conclude it is too
early to assess the °IAA program's impact on loan defaults. They completely fail
to address the benefits of he reduced special allowance-payments which result from
tax exempt financing of student loans generally and, also, fail to make the point
that consolidation of a loan currently subject to the reduced special allowance may,
in fact, cause the Federal Government to incur both the loss of revenue attributable
to issuance of the tax exempt sectfrities and tI increased special allowance pay-
ments attributable to purchase of the loan by a taxable entity. Additionally, all the
cost data anl most of the assumptions incorporated into the study were provided -by
Sallie Mae and were not sufficiently justified as to reasonableness. For example, on
page three of the study, there is an assumption that -investors incur no expenses
associated with the purchase of Sallie Mae securities, and, therefore, pay federal
income taxes on the full amount of interest earned. While this may or may not be_ a
good assumption, it should bt! pointed out that Sallie Mae is exempt from state,
local and District ofWolumbia taxes and that there is, therefore, a potentially sub-
stantial loss of revenue associated even with Sallie Mae financing. Additionally,
also, on page three, there is an assumption that added special allowance KytWents
will exceed savings resulting from fewer defaults. While that would appear to be a
reasonable assumption. it is too genehd to be of any substantial benefit. What will
be the magnitude by which special allowance payments would be expected bo exceed
de-fault savings? I would suggest that a more studied inquiry could answer these and
the several other questions raised which have been presented to the comVnittee.

Again, I express to you my appreciation for this opportunity and want to close by
strongly recommending that loan consolidation benefits be extended to guarantee
agencies, secondary markets and direct state lenders.
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STATEMENT OF PAUL I'. BOUDEN, EXECUTIVE' DIRECTOR, KEN-
. TUCKY HIGHER EDUCATION ASSISTANCE AUTHORITY, AND EX-

ECUTIVE DIRECTOR, KENTUCKY HIGHER EDUCATION STUDENT
15 LOAN CORP.,

Mr. BORDEN. Thank -you, Mr. Chairman. I am Paul Borden from
. Kentucky. Since none of my friends here at the table volunteered,
guess I will go first.

f surnmaria my remarks and request that the full
statement previously provided to you be incorporated in.to the
record.

I find that in many respects my testimony is actually a summary
of some of the other things that you have heard here this morning.
In Kentucky I am, perhaps, in an unusual position, being the exec-
utive director of the guarantee agency and also the director of a
secondary market and direct lending entity so I come to you with
some perspective from all three of those entities.ds they participate
in the guaranteed student loan program.

We do priesently in Kentucky have the necessary administrative
capabilities to insure, make, purchase, and, in our opinion; consoli-
dateloans. We have been a leader under the federally insured pro-
gram for a ninither of years prior to in 1978 converting to a guar-
antee agency State. So we do have some experience directly ;appli-
cable to the private lender participation.

We have developed over that period of time an' extensive data
processing capability. We do-capture extensive data on all of the
people participating in any aspect of the loan programs. So we
think we have within the system virtually all of the data thtit
would be needed to effect consolidations.

Additionally, we do have terminals out with many lenders in the
State and also at educational institutions in the State so thatithe
problem of identification of borrowers eligible for consolidation
could, we think, be dealt with effectively in Kentucky.

- The invitation from 'the chAirmun gives the opportunity to ad-
dress three specific issues. OnVis the desirability of extending con-
solidation benefits to the agencies. We believe that it is not only
desirable, but that it is necessary that consolidation benefits be ex-
tended.

There have been statements made this morning to the point that'
there are no or inconsequential increases in cost as a` result of the
loan consolidation program. I will call yclur attention to the table
on page 4 of my testimony which does show that consolidations by
Sallie Mae of student loans which are presently held by tax-exempt
entities does result in substantial increased cost in terms of special
allowance payments on thgse particular loans.

I guess that could be_,.. ized that the tax-exempt securities
would then be retired. But I w. Uld suggest that that loss of"reve
nue cost is effectively a cost/that has Already occurred and that the
causes of the structure of the to exempt financing, it is very un-
likely that those securities would b , in fact, retired following cort-
solidation.

The current monopoly' with re pect to consolidation 'hlso in-
creases a, special redemption risk perception by borrowers. That
risk being that if the options program is highly successful, and as a
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result, many loans are prepaid, as in the housing industry, that it
),would be necessary to call bonds.

So, while I don't think that is a very good assessment of the tax-
exempt financing because we don't have the interest rate risk that
the housing industry has, it is certainly a -real perception on the
part of investors.

Perhaps a more important area which makes it desirable for us
to have the capability to consolidate loans is the effect that the cur-
rent loan program has on the average loah. balances. We have ..to
keep the high balance loans in our portfolio in order to be able lo
purchase 'and, continue the availability of the low' balance loans.
The income streams are very, very different and with respect to
the Student Loan Corporation; the secondary market in Kentucky,
to the extent that we see the large balance loans being taken from
us, we will have to reconsider the policy of purchasing all paper at
par because those very small loans simply would not support the
servicing costs retated to them.

Finally, I think, if you examine the statistics, you will find that
the State agencies, be they guarantee_ agencies secondary markets
or direct lenders, dO have .6 very good record in the administration
of the student loan program and do have the capability to keep the
defqult rates low.

Our recommendations I will go through very quickly. They are
outlined specifically in my statement. I believe we ought to use a
weighted average interest rate because that considers both the.
NDSt1 loan and it also considers the higher interest rate_ HEAL
loans. There is some of all of those consolidated lo.ans. I think there
is benefit to tying loan consolidation to an entity which is already'
the holder of one of the loans because\ it does have the benefit of
mincing cost.

I think there ought to be careful consideration of limi defer-
ments to inschool periods and I think that on consolidated loans
there ought to be some procedure f r giving at least so mited
forbearance in periods of financ difficulty. I do think that we
need to have the statutory difficulty to make consolidation checks
payable to the holders.

Finally, and most important, I think that you need to leave all of
the participants in an equal position with respect to loan consolida-
tion.. the extentAhat we have a capability to offer consolidation
services similar to that, to Sallie Mae, to Citicorp, or to any other
entity, I think you are providing the very best service to the stu-
dents of the country because access will increase to this partionlar
benefit.

Mr. Chairman, I appreciate this opportunity and will be happy to
answer any questions at the conclusion.

Thank you.
Mr. GUNDERSON. Tank you.
Mr. Madigan.
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-. _,
STATEMENT OF JOHN E. MAI)IGAN, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,

RHODE ISLAND HIGHER EDUCATION ASSISTACE AUTHORITY
AND RHODE ISLAND STUDENT LOAN AUTHORITY

Mr. MADIGAN_ Tharik you. My name is John Madigan. I am exec-
utive director of Rhode Island Higher Education Assistance Au
thority, a guarantee agency, and also executive director of Rhode
Island's Student Loan Authority, a secondary market.

I am very grateful to have this opportunity to address the matter
of student loan consolidation and the possibility of having the op-
portunity for such consolidation .extended to State agencies, par-
ticularly those agencies involved in the business of providing stu-
dent loqn secondary markets for their local lenders.

I halk had the opportunity .to read the statement provided the
subcommittee by Mr. Morto Henig of the General. Accounting
Office and, in fact, have had the opportunity to express my own
views to members of Mr.. Henig's staff on the telephone during the
development of that report. I do concur with many of his endings.

First of all, let me say that I believe loan Consolidation is impor-
tant in both easing the burden on students who may have incurred
substantial debt andin avoiding defaults in those casegotwhere stu-
dents have not reached the earnings potential they hoped for when
they accrued such debt.

I would certainly not want to see the consolidation privilege
eliminated by failing to extend authorization for the program
beyond-August 1983.

While I particularly wish to address the need to expand eligibil-
ity to the States rather than have only Sallie' Mae authorized to
operate this important function, I do feel a bit like the person who
appeared before Solomon in his dispute over the rightful parentage
of the child. I do believe it would be better to lose the right of par-
entage than to have the child die,

Happily, consolidation, unlike children, can be divided amongst
the contenders and the splitting can provide renewed health and
vigor to the program.

Rhode Island ha4been operating a secondary market since late
1981. We have contracted with our local lenders for the purchase o
some $100 million of student loans. We must assume that our lend-
ers have committed these loans to us becauge they see advantage in
working in a local market that they do not see it the Sallie Mae
market-7the .advantages of local investment, strengthening the
local economy, more flexibility in the size and timing of purchases,
and other tangibles or intangibles that appear beneficial to them.

I know you are aware that for many of these loan purchases we
do not receive the full special .11owance. Loans made October 1,
1980, or after and mirchased with tax-exempt bond revenues ars....
limited to only one-I-1111f the special allowapce or a minimum of 2.5 ./
percent on 7 percent loans or 0.5 percent on 9 percent loans.

Because our existing bonds have a 91/4-percent interest rate and
because pie maximum return that we have beer; receiving in
recent quarterls only 91/2 percent, you can seethat we are operat-
ing on a very s m tilargin. As a matter of fact, when we consider
our servicing costs, we actually lose money, on those post-October 1,
1980 loans.
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This has the effect of redu ing the margin in our overall portfo-
lio and on those loans for vyhiich we receive the full spe6ial allow-
ance.

Permitting only Sallie Mae to provide loan consolidation exacer-
bates this problem for us. As you might suppose, lenders tend to
hold on to loans during the in-school period when the servicing cost
is smallest and to sell loans just before they go into repayment
whep servicing costs increase to their maximum. It has already
happened that upon our agency, purchasing loans about to go into
repayment, and incurring the colt,s(of initiating re,payment terms,
and setting up the repaymen ivity, we find that Sallie Mae
pays off the loan to a consolidation agreement. The startup- costs,
which we have borne and which !night have been amortized over
the life of the loan, have instead beep incurred without the possi-
bility of being met through future income.

This would not happen if we also could offer a consolidation op-
portunity to our borrowers.

The second reagon for concern is the clear intention of providing
debt consolidation only for the higher cost loan plus the expecta-
tion that those borrowers most likely to use that opportunity would
be those with the higher obligations and -therefore the greatest dif-
ficulty in paying the higher monthly costs.

If Sallie Mae or any other secondary market purchases principal-\ ly our higher average loan obligations, we will be left with a lower
average -loan portfolio. Since loan servicing costs are rough13, the
same irrespective of the dollar size of the debt, our smaller average
portfolio whiclt clearly cause our unit costs to be higher and fur-
ther limit our ability to operate in a sound financial manner.

We have felt that the extension of loan consolidation to the State
agenciessome have felt, rather, that the extension of this privi-
lege to State agencies would somehow increase costs to the Federal
Government. Some of this expectation is based at least partially on
a mistaken assumption that the Federal Government would be
paying administrative costs twice l'ot the same loan.

This would not be trice in our case at least since it is not our
guarantee agency but our secondary market that would be doing
the consolidatiqg and that agency receives no administrative cost
allowance ()the!' than the income derived in the same fashion as
any other holder of loans, banks or Sallie Mae included.

Also, insurance of new loans made to consolidation of old loans
should be handled for the States the same as handled for Sallie
Mae, through direct insurance by the Secretary.

One point of advantage that might be considered in determining
the desirability of extending the consolidation service-lo State.
agencies is the fact that secondary market programs are already in
touch with the borrower directly at the time repayment begins. To
the extent that consolidation is needed and is important, all bor-
rowers for whom the option might prove advantageous should be
equally informed about its availability.

Because of our immediate and direct contact with the debtor,
both at repayment time and at various times throughout the repay-
ment period, one whq needs to avail him or herself of the opportu-
nity wouldn't need to depend on advertisements or secondhand in-
formation. We would include consolidatiqn information for all who
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'` had loans falling within the-eligible limits and especially for those
evidenced difficulties in handling a debt of a given size.

These then are my -concernsto maintain a consolidation pro-
gram for the benefit of those who need an easing of the burden and
thereby prevent default-, second, to allow State agencies which are
either direct lenders or secondary markets to share the opportunity
to ciffez;\ consolidation without cost increases to us over which we
have no control; and finally, to permit all borrowers to become
equally familiar with the opportunity to ease their debt burden
through consolidation and to do so at those times in the repayment
cycle when it is most advantageous to them.

Thank you for this opportunity and I shall be happy to answer
any questions.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Thank you.
You have probably been hearing the bells ringing during yoqr

testimony. What that indiczites is we have a vote in progress on the
floor of the House. What we are going to do is temporarily recess
this hearing so that we can go and record our votes and come back
as soon as we can.

If the panel will just stay informal at the table, we will recon-
vene as soon as we get back.

[Brief recess.]
[Prepared statement of John Madigan follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF JOHN R NiADIOAN, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, RHODE ISLAND
HIGHER EDUCATION ASSISTANCE AUTHORITY AND RHODE ISLAND STUDENT LOAN AU-
THORITY

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee, I am grateful to have this op-
portunity to address the matter of student loan consolidation and the possibility of
having the opportunity ,for such loin consolidating extended to state agencies, par-
ticularly those agencies engaged in the business of providing student loan secondary
markets for their local lenders. I have had the opportunity to read the statement
provided to the Subcommittee by Mr. Morton Henig of the General Accounting
Office, and in fat, had the opportunity to express some of my views to members of
Mr. Henig's staff, by phone, during the development of that report. I concur with
many of his findings.

First of all, let me say that I believe loan consolidation is an important activity in
both easing the burden on students who may have incurred substantial debt, and in
avoiding defaults in'those cases where students have not reached the earnings po-

% tential they hoped for when they iEcurred such debt. I would certainly not want to
see the consolidation privilege eliminated by failing to extend authorization for the
program beyond August of 1983. While I wish tp address the need to expand eligibil-
ity to the states rather than have only SLMA authorized to operate this important
function, I feel like the person who appeared before Solomon in a dispute over the
rightful parentage of a childit would be better to lose the right of parentage than
to have the child die. Happily, consolidation, unlike humans, can be divided
amongst the 'contenders and the splitting could provide renewed health and vigor
for the program.

Rhode Island has been operating a secondary market since late 1981. We have
contracted with our local lenders for the purchase of-some 100 million dollars of stu-
dent loans. We must assume that our lenders have committed these loans to us be-
cause they see advantages in working in the local market that they do not see in
the SLMA marketadvantages of local investment, strengthening the local econo-
my, more flexibility in the size and timing of purchases or other tangibles that
appear beneficial to them. I know you are aware that for many of these loan pur-
chases we do not receive the full special allowance. Loans made October 1, 1980, or
after, and puvbhased with tax "exempt bond issues are limited to only one-half the
special allow4nce, or a minimum of 2.5 percent on 7 percent loans and .5 percent on
9 percent loans. Because our bonds have 91/4 percent interest rate and because the
maximum return we have been receiving in recent quarters is only 91/2 percent, you
can see we are operating on a very slim margin. As a matter of fact, when we con-
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sider our servicing costs, we may actually lose money on those post October 1, 1980
loans, which has the effect of reducing the margin even on those loans for which we
receive the full special allowance_

Permitting only SIAM to provide loan-consolidation exacerbates this problem for
us. As you might suppose, lenders tend to hold onto loans during the in-school
period when the servicing cost is. smallest, and to sell loans just before they go into
repayment, when servicing cost increase to their maximum. It has already hap-
pened, that upon purchasing loans about to go into repayment, and incurring the
cost of initiating repayment terms and setting up a collection activity, we find that
SLMA pays off the loan in a consolidation.agreement. The costs which we had borne
and which might have been amortized over the life of the loan have instead been
incurred without the possibility of being met through future income. This would not
happen if we also could offer a consolidation opportunity to our borrowers.

A second reason for concern is the clear intention of providing debt' consolidation
for the higher cost loans only, plus the expectation that those borrowers most likely
to use the opportunity would be those with higher obligations and therefore, the
greatest difficulty in paying the higher monthly costs_ If SLMA, or any other sec-
ondary market purchases, principally, our highest average loan obligations, we will
be left with a lower average loan portfolio. Since loan servicing costs are roughly-
the same irrespective, of the dollar size of the debt, our smaller average portfolio
would clearly cause our unit cost to be higher and further limit our ability to oper-
ate in a sound financial manner. Sonic have felt that the extension of loan consoli-
dation to state agencies would some how increase costs to the federal government.
Some of this expectation is based, at least partially, on a mistaken assumption that
the federal government would be paying administrative costs twice for the same
loans. This does not appear to be true in our case at least. It is not our guarantee
agency, but our secondary market agency that would he doing the consolidating.
That agency receives no administrative cost allowance other than the income de-
rived in the same fashion as any other holder of loans, including SLMA. Also, insur-
ance of new loans made to consolidate old loans should be handled by the States the
same as handled by SLMA-- either direct insurance by the Secretary or where feasi-
ble, by insurance through a State guarantee agency. While 71 the latter case, and
under present rules, there would be additional administrative cost allowces by the
federal government, such payments would also be made if SLMA used a guarantee
agency to provide insurance.

One point of advantage that might be, considered in determining the desirability
of extending the consolidation privilege to state agencies, is the fact that secondary
market programs are already in touch with the borrower directly at the time repay-
ment begins To the extent that consolidation is needed and is important, all bor-
rowers for whom the option might prove advantageous should be equally informed
about its availability- Because of our immediate and direct contact with the debtor,
both at repayment time and at various times throughout the repayment period, one
who needs to avail himself or herself of the opportunity wouldn t need to depend on
ads or second hand information. We would include consolidation information for all
who had loans falling within the eligible limits, and certainly for those who evi-
denced difficulties in handling a debt of a given size.

These then are my concerns: 's

To maintain a consolidation program for the benefit of those who need an easing
of the burden and therefore to prevent defaults.

To allow state agencies which are either direct lenders or secondary markets to
share the opportunity to offer consolidation cost increases over which the agency
would have no control.

Finally to permit all borrowers to become equally familiar with the opportunity to
ease their debt burden through consolidation and to do so at those times in the re-
payment cycle when it is most advantageous to them. I thank you for this opportu-
nity. I shall be happy to respond to any questions.

Mr. SINION. Mr. Nicholson, executive director of the Indiana Sec-
ondary Market for Educational Loans.

STATEMENT OF ROY A. NICHOLSON, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
INDIANA SECONDARY MARKET FOR EDUCATION LOANS, INC.

Mr. NICHOLSON. Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommit-
tee, I am pleased to have the opportunity to testify on the student
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loan consolidation issue.. I will summarize my testimony and ask
that the entire statement be placed in tUfrecord.

Mr. SIMON. It will be, as will all the others, if they have not al-
ready.

[Prepared statement, of Roy Nicholson follows:1

PREPARE; STATEMEZIT OF ROY A. NictioisoN, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, INDIANA
SECONDARY MARKET FOR EDUCATION LOANS, INC_

Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee, my name is Roy Nicholson. I
am the Executive Director of the Indiana Secondary Market for Education Loans,
Inc. (Indiana Secondary Market). I am pleased to have the opportunity to testify on
the student loan consolidation issue.

ITACKGRI,/lIND

The Indiana Secondary Market is a not-for-profit corporation which was author-
ized by the Indiana General Assembly in 19P0 and in the same year was designated
by the Governor of Indiana to serve as re state secondary market for education
loans.

The creation of the Indiana Socriadary Market resulted from findings and recom-
mendations of a Task Force appointed in 1979 by the Governor of Indiana. The Task
Force was comprised of prominent representatives of the state government, indus-
try, and ace education and financial communities of Indiana. The Task Force was
charged with determining whether the then current delivery mechanism for educa-
tion loans was sufficient to meet the demtpds of the 1980's and beyond. The Task
Force accurately forecasted the rapidly escalating demand for education loans, and
further determined that the supply of loans would not be sufficient to meet that
demand. The Task Force recommended the creation of a state secondary market
which would provide liquidity isd thereby encourage and enable lendere: to satisfy
the growing demand for loans_(

The Indiana Secondary Market has met the challenge. We have been fully oper-
ational since August 1981. We. have purchased 43,730 loans totaling greater than
$85 million. We have entered into loan purchase commitments totaling $130 million
with approximately one-third of the active originators of student loans in Indiana.
Those- lenders account for approximately 70 percent of the annual student loan
volume in Indiana. Wp- have also introduced an ALAS/PLUS Purchase Program
and a Lender of Last Resort. Program. To the best of my knowledge, all qualified
applicants are able to obtain' student loans in Indiana. Indiana lenders have in-
creased their annual volume of guaranteed student loans from $30 million in 1979
to a current rate of approximately $122 million per year.

We have successfully financed our loan purchqse program by issuing tax-exempt
debt during the 'period of time in which the tax-exempt debt market was at its all
time worst. During the same period of time unemployment rates have been at the
highest level in forty years and yet we have been able to maintain a default rate
below 2 percept of loans in repayment.

We offer a service which students, families, schools, and lenders of Indiana need
and desire_ Given our success in becoming operational and growing under recent dif-
ficult conditions, we are optimistic that we will be able to continue to provide vital
support in the future.

EXTENDING CONSOLIDATION

The Indiana Secondary Market strongly supports the consolidation of student

The key elements of loan consolidation are (1) the ability of the consolidating
party to act on behalf of a student borrower to aggregate his/her student loan in-
debtedness under one promissory note, and (2) more importafirly, the ability to pro-
vide such borrowers with a repayment lirrangement at more favorable terms, par-
ticularly a longer repayrient schedule and therefore lower monthly payments.

The loan consolidation program represents a logical change in the evolution of the
Guaranteed Student Loan Program [GSLP] since 1965. Annual and cumulative loan
limits as well as the cost, of-borrowing as evidenced by the .interest rate payable by
the borrower and the imposition of an'originati9n'fee have increased dramatically,
however, the maximum repayment term of ten years has not changed.

Eight years ago, a borrower who had accumulated the maximum amount of guar-
anteed student loan deb. ($10,000) would be lequired to make monthly payments of
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$116.11 for ten yesirs Today, the borrower who incurs the maximum GS1, debt
($25,000) would have .to make monthly payments of $316.69 for ten years, almost
three times as much. Obviously, the addition of ALAS/PLUS debt would significant-
ly increase the monthly repayment obligation. Under the loan consolidation pro-
gram, the monthly payment on a 20 year schedule would be a more manageal?le
$193.82 and even lower on a graduated payment basis.

There has been a trend in the last fpw years in the face of governmental budget
constraints on one hand and rapidly escalating costs of education on the other hand
to impose an increasingly large share of the burden on the student in the form of
loans. Ina§much as the goal is to collect the loans, it makes no sense to blindly en-
force unrasonable, inflexible and outdated repaynment terms which are more apt to
precipitate a default or bankruptcy.

AUTHORIZING STATE SECONDARY MARKETS AND DIRECT I.ENDEtitS TO PO i4S OLIDATE LOANS

The present network of direct lenders and secondary markets, including both
state secondary markets and the Student Loan Marketing Association [Sallie Mae],
represents asystem of support for students, families, schools and lenders which has
been eminently successful in ensuring an adequate flow of capital into higher educa-
tion during a period of rapid increase in demands on the GSLP_

FeW would deny that private lenders could not have satisfied the tremendous
demand for student loans without the active support of the network of secondary
markets and direct lenders.

As the holder of student loan accounts of approximately 24,000 borrowers, the In-
diana Secondary Market is frequently requested to consolidate s on behalf of
student borrowers. We routinely contact the other holder or holders he borrow-
er's loans, however, we are able to aggregate the borrower's loans only i those in-
stances where the other lehder is willing to deliver the promissory note fo sale and
in the event that the other loans are guaranteed by the Indiana guaranty agency.
With loan consolidation authority we could take initiative on behalf of the borrower
to pay off any loan made under the Higher Education Act of 1965 and execute a
new note with the borrower. We could also of course lengthen the repayment period
for larger debts. .

We have the interest and ability to implement a loan consolidation program on
behalf of borrowers served by us. The authorization to consolidate loans however is
not simply a matter of being able to provide a valuable service to borrowers to help
them avoid a default or bankruptcy situation. In fact, the viability of many second-
ary markets and direct lenders is threatened by the continued operation of the loan
consolidation program in its present form.

To date, the Indiana Secondary Market has been able to purchase all student
loans at par, thereby creating no disincentives to lenders who make small balance
loans. The average outstanding principal balance of loans in our portfolio is $3,200.
Given that servicing costs are approximately equal on small and large balance ac-
counts and that revenues vary directly with account balance, we lose money on each
small balance account. The problem is aggravated by the fact that account balances
decrease during repayment while operating costs, including wages, rents, costs of
supplies and correspondence,'are increasing. It is imperative that we have a suffi-
cient number of larger balance accounts which generate surpluses to offset the
losses on the smaller accounts.

Under the current loan consolidation program, Sallie Mae has removed from our
portfolio $425,000 in loans with an average indebtedness of $6,250, approximately
twice the size of our average loan account. Given the relatively high cost of borrow-
ing in the tax-exempt market at this time and the fact that we receive only one-half
the special allowance for most loans in our portfolio, the present loan consolidation
program operated by Sallie Mae poses a threat to our continued viability. Our abili-
ty to repay our outstanding bonds and to secure additional capital could be jeopard-
ized if a large portion of high indebtedness accounts were taken from our portfolio.

At the very least, if we are unable to offer a comparable consolidation program
we will be forced to establish certain minimums with respect to loan sizes eligible
for sale. This will have the unfortunate effect of discouraging lenders from making
smaller loans and may cause serious hardships for vocational and commuter stu-
dents in Indiana. .

On the other hand, we are in a position to implement loan consolidation as an
additional service to complement our present services to borrowers and lenders. Our
success in encouraging lender participation in the GSLP is evidenced by the fact
that in less than two years we have developed working relationships with 157 Indi-
ana lenders which account for approximately $85 million of GSLoans per year. Our
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ability to operate a responsible secondary market is further evidenced by a clefault
rate of less than 2 percent.

LEGISLATIVE CHANGES

I recommend that the authority to consolidate loans be extended beyond August
1, 198:3 and that state-designated not-for profit secondary markets and direct lend
ers, as well as Sallie Mae, be authorized to participate in a loan consolidation pro-
gram. The existing network of secondary'markets and direct lenders has served all
parties extemely well. The continued strength and viability of the current system
requires a shared responsibility for loan consolidation. Sallie Mae and the state-des-
ignated entities together can best effect the maximum benefits of the loan consolida-

"Lion program_ Loan consolidation reduces the incidence of default and bankruptcy,
and represents a logical change in the evolution of the GSLP.

I recommend that the interest rate for consolidated loans not be set at 7 percent
which is presently the case, but riither be determined for each consolidation by
averaging on dollar weighted basiS the interest, rates on the loans being consoli-
dated and rounding the-resulting average to the next highest whole per cent. For
example, a borrower with $10,000 of 7 percent GSImans and $6,000 of 12 percent
ALAS loans would have a weighted Average rate of 8.875 percent and would receive
a consolidated loan at 9 percent. The borrower who avails himself of lower monthly

4 payments should not also enjoy the benefit of a windfall reduction in the interest
rate as may occur under the present loan consolidation program.

I recommend that the minimums for determining eligibility for consolidation be
eliminated, so long as the length of repayment periods is determined by aggregatib
loan amounts. For example, under the current, program if a borrower owes two lend-
ers $2,000 each, his or her loans are not eligible for consolidation because of the
$5,000 floor. The Indiana Secondary Market would like to he able to act on behalf of
the borrower in that case to consolidate his loans into one $4,000 account. The bor-
rower would nevertheless be required te repay the debt within the current ten year
maximum period

Finally, I recommend that consideration be given to reducing the level of special
allowance payments made by tht Federal government with respect to consolidated
loans. I believe that loan consolidation, including 'extended repayment periods, is a
necessary change to assist in controlling default and bankruptcy claims, and repre-
sents fair and reasonable treatment of individual borrowers who have been required
to carry an increasing share of the rising costs of education. I understand that ex-
tending repayment periods increases the government's liability for special allowance
payments. Recognizing the conflict between the need to offer extended repayments
on one hand and the increased cost to the Federal government on the other, as well
as the "profitability" of consolidated loans, I would support a reduction of the level
of special allowance payments on consolidated loans.

Thank you.

Mr. NICHOLSON. Thank you.
The Indiana Secondary Market has successfully financed its loan

purchase programs by issuing tax-exempt debt under extremely dif-
fiCult market conditions. During the same period of time unemploy-
ment rates have been at record levels and yet, we have been able
to maintain a default rate below,,,2 percent of loans in repayment.
We offer a service which the citizens of Indiana need and desire.

The Indiana Secondary Market strongly supports the consolida-
tion of student loans. The board of directors of the National Coun-
cil of Higher Education Loan Programs is also on record in favor of
extending loans consolidation authority to its members.

The loan consolidation program represents a logical step in the
evolution of the guaranteed student loan program. Annual and cu-
mulative loan limits as well as the cost of borrowing, payable by
the student borrower have increased dramatically. However, if the
maximum repayment period of 10 years had not been changed.

Today the student who borrows the maximum amount has
monthly payments almost three imes the size as the student who
borrowed the maximum 8 years There has been a trend in
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recent years in the face of govonment budget. constraints on one
xiand,tind rapidly escalating costs of edu ion on' the other hand,
/to impose an increasingly large share of e burden on the student

in the form of loans.
Inasmuch as the goal is to collect the lo ins, it makes no senselo

enforce unreasonaIe and inflexible repa ent terms which are
more apt to precipitate a default or a bank uptcy.

From the perspective of the Indiana condary et, the au-
thority to consolidate loans is not situp a nr ter o being able to
provide a valuable service to- borrowe. s to h ip them avoid a de-
fault or a bankruptcy. In fact, the fut re viability of many second-
ary .mackets and direct lende s ay be threatened by the contin-
ued operation of the loan- consolidation program in its present
form.

To date, the Indiana Secondary Market. has been able to pur-
chase all studelit loans at.par thereby creating no disincentives.to'
small lender's who wish to make small balance loans. The average
outstanding principle balance of loans in our portfolio is $3.,200..
Given that servicing costs are approximately equal on small and
large balance accounts' and that revenues vary directly with ac-.
count balance we lose money on each small balance account.

It is imperative therefore that we have a sufficien't -number of
larger balance accounts in order to generate surpluses to onet the
losses on the smaller accounts.

Under the current loan consolidation program Sallie Mae has re-
moved from our portfolio $425,000 in loans with an average indebt-

t edness of $6,250, almost twice the size of our average loan account.
Given the relatively high cost of borrowing in the ax-exempt
market at this time and the fact that we receive on one-half the
special allowance for most of the loans in our portfolio, the present
loan consolidation program could threaten our ability' to repay our
outstanding bonds and to acquire additional capital.

If we are unable to offer a comparable consolidation program, we
will be forced to establish certain dollar minimums with respect to
loans eligible for sale. This will save the Consalidation program.

Third, I recommend that the minimums for determining eligibil-
ityity for consolidation be eliminated as long as the length of the re-
payment period is determined by the aggrepte loan amounts.

For example, under the present program If a borrower owes two
lenders $2,000 each, his or her loans are not eligible for consolida-
tion because or the $5,000 floor. The Indiana Secondary Market
would like to be able to act on behalf of thatt-borrower to consoli-
date his or her loans. into one $4,000 account. The borrower would
nevertheless be required to repay that debt within the cin-rent 10-
year maximum period.

Fourth, I recommend that consideration be given to reducing the
level of special allowance payments with respect to consolidated
loans. I believe that loan consolidation is necessary to assist in con-
trolling default and bankruptcy claims. I also understand that ex-
tending repayment periods increases the government's liability for
special allowance payments.

Recognizing the conflict between the need to offer, extended re-
payments on one hand and the increased cost to the Federal Gov-
ernment on the other, as well as the profitability of consolidated
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loans, I would support a reduction of the special allowance pay-
ments on consolidated loans.

- Thank you.
Mr. SIMON. We thank you.
Our final witness on panel is Mr. Douglas R. Seipelt, the director

of the Colorado guaranteed student loan program.
[Prepared statement of Douglas Seipelt follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF DKGLAS R. SEIPELT, DIRECTOR, COLORADO GUARANTEED
"STUDENT LOAN PROGRAM

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, I am Douglas R Seipelt, Director
of tke Colorado Guaranteed Student Loan Program. I thank you for the invitation
to speak today on the issue of loan consoli ation in the Gua ;anteed Student Loan
Program.

At first glance, the issue of loan consaida ion is simple. It should work to allow a
holder of loans to assist students who are heavily indebted to one or more lenders to
spread out their length of repayment and to consolidate payrhents when they owe
more than one lender That's where the simple part ends and the complexity of the
Guaranteed Student Loan system takes over. Issues of interest rates, terms,-guaran-
tors, lenders, secondary markets, and division of state and federal, responsibilities
complicate the proceedings.

From a guarantor's perspective, the terms of the present Sallie Mae consolidation
system are straightforward. The current guarantor of record is replaced with a fed-
eral guarantee and my agency canceAls the loan and I have no further responsibil-
ities. It is clear, simple, and to date has been acceptable to Colorado residents.

But, on the other hand, as the number of students facing repayment problems
grows, other entities such as the secondary market in my stat?!.and individual lend-
ers who hold these students loans are asking why they are not allowed the privilege
of consolidating at least their own loans. The secondary mar also asks why
should they not have the same eligibilities as Salligk Mae under Higher Educa-
tion Act since they are structured to perform thr same function on a statewide
basis. My lenders and the state secondary market are concenntid with issues °oan
management, portfolio costa, customer liaison and cultivation\ In addition, Sallie
Mae is perceived as having an unfair market advantage in this area.

In the long term, these issues affect lender and holder decisions as to profitability,
restrictions on new loans, and overall participation, thus they cannot be ignored.

As Sallie Mae indicated a little over two weeks ago, in related Congressional testi-
mony, they do not wish to maintain a monopoly in the field of loan consolidation.
The GAO study related that numerous state secondary markets were both request-
ing this authority and capable of administering it. These two facts make me believe,
that within established national standards, state Agencies and statewide secondary
markets should be granted loan consolidation authority.

However, .this decision (in the part of the Congress, would, create some questions
that would have to be answered.

1. How would my and other agencies be compensated for the additional length of
guarantee commitment (student fees)?

2. Existing bond issues set limits on the types of loans that can be purchased and
terms of repayment. Would all new or special bond financing be required to offer
loan consolidation?

3. Could statewide consolidators move across state or guarantee agency bound-
aries to purchase loans?

4. Would my or other agencies receive additional federal administrative allow-
ances to manage the "new loan"?

5. If a state did not participate in loan consolidation, who would be eligible to
offer this service to students in that state, Sallie Mae, other secondary markets,
other state agencies?

6. Would the students in Colorado receive the same consolidation benefits and eli-
gibilities as students who consolidate with Sallie Mae or in other states?

Assuming suitable answers to these questions and others which might surface are
forthcoming, Congress should extend loan consolidation to the states to create parity
with Sallie Mae.

This suggestion thou does not solve the problem of national or statewide lend-
ers who wish to hold their GSL loans. They should not be asked or forced to sell
them to Sallie Mae or state consolidators when they wish to maintain their relation-
ship with the students who.have high balance debts.
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Keeping in mind the original legislative intent, I propose ?he following idea to
help these lenders.

To understand This recommendation; we must note the distinction between "con-
solidation'! and extended re-payment terms. I propose that the GSL statutdry repay-
ment language be extended to 15 year for certain student& This gives existing hold-
ers the option of performing the stated goal of debt management without utilizing
the full component package of "loan consolidation "; while maintaining their market
share. The following could be the parameters for such a change:

L current holders (lenderii) could offer students a repayment plan with a 15
amortization if the student's GSL debt exceeded $7,500.

2, The interest rate for the extended period would remit-5'1 at the stated G
rowing rate, or' if long term budgetary costs prohibited the Congress from ain
ing the 7 percentsor 9 percent rate, the rate could be increased to 9 perc t or 11
pereent for the extended berkfits. .

3. Existing lenders or secondary markets could purchase all other GSL loans of
the student guaranteed by a single guarantor to meet the dollar minimum of $7,600.

4. The OPTIONS package of Sallie Mae for NDSL, FISL, and GSL mites would
still be available but only to eligible loan consolidators. ,

Extension of the repayment terms does, increase special allowance costs to the
Federal Government. However, I believe that increase is not as substantial today;
speCial allowance costs -are less than default costs; special allowance rates are down,
as a result of lower national interest costs; and a minimum balance combined with
potentially raising the interest rate should overcome past opposition. This move
Would keep GSL loans with their existing lenders and potentially lessen the overall
demadd for students utilizing the-loan consolidation program.

To reiterate, I recommend (1) we extend the "loan consolidation" capabilities of
the Higher Education Act to guarantors and statewide secondary markets; and, (2)
propose legislation that would extend the length of repayment for selected GSL bor-
rowers to allow national and statewide lenders'to maintain their portfolios as they
deem appropriate.

1 thank you for your time and consideration and would welcome your comments
or questions.

STATEMENT OF DOUGLAS It SEIPELT, DIRECTOR, COLORADO
GUARANTEED STUDENT LOAN PROGRAM

Mr. SEIPELT. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I
thank you for the invitation to be before you today. Rather than
reading my testimony, I would request that it be entered in the
record-

Mr. SIMON. It will be.
1 Mr. SEIPELT [continuing]. And try to respond to some of the gen-
eral comments that my colleagues here have made rather than
going through my prepared text.

I believe the issue of loan consolidation is out in front of us for
some very good reasons. There are some major concerns that I as a
guarantor in the State of Colorado have and also the lenders in my
prograni in Colorado and also the direct secondary market in the
State of Colorado.

The issues that have been brought in front of you this morning
concerning the repayment problems of students, the problems of
bond indentures as- they relate to potential payoffs, as Mr. Borde
has dicated, the problem of lenders not being able to consolidat
debt with students that they have are all important issues' in the
pro am that loan consolidation brings to bear as it relates to the
issue of whether Sallie Mae is the only loan consolidator in the
cou ry and should that extension be granted to States' guarantor
agencies nd secondary markets?

I blink would like to draw your attention beck to just a little
history o loan consolidation which many of yolu well know. The
issue of an consolidation arose, in my opinion, for two reasons.
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No. 1, the issue of students who were indebting thopselves to a
number of different programs, the natignal direct or national d
fense student loan in the old days, the guaranteed student loan and
the federally insured student Imp program.

There was an issue amongst many students and Members of Con-
gress that-students were getting into so many programs that the
issue of their repayment terms and privileges could become an
issue for potential defaults or the ability to repay. So the issue of
loan consolidation then was created to solve that problem.

As an offshoot to that, and one of the' considerations that I would
like to put in front of you today, was that at the time we were
making that decision, you were also making the decision concern-
ingaan issue of the indebtedness level of students under the guaran-
teed student Ilan .program. We had, at that point in time, in-
creased the debt limit of a student capable of borrowing on a
yearly basis and also the aggregate limits to the extent that today
we have students under the GSL only capable of borrowing a maxi-
mum of $12,500 as an undergraduate and $25,000 as a graduate
student.

So the issue of the students' ability to repay that in a 10-year re-
payment program under the concept of the current guaranteed stu-
dent loan program was very vivid in many people s minds at the
point in time that we made the decision of loan consolidation as an
eligibility for debt repayment.

I think that the dilemma that I have had trying to address the
policy question of whether the States are granted, quote, unquote,
"the privilege of loan consolidation" versus the issue of extended
repayment benefits in the guaranteed-student loan component of
that issue has been difficult for me because I do, not have another
vehicle in which to really address the issue.

The only way that the problem of the guaranteed student loan
'comporient of this issue in terms of the high debt balance of stu-
dents and also the issue of my secondary market as it relates to
debt that they have incurred under the program to purchase guar-
anteed student loans and the issue of lenders in my State as it re-
lates to their ability to maintain rapport and customer relationship
with students who they have lent their funds to, who they wish to
continue having a rapport with those students through the repay-
ment process comes to bear.

That is why my testimony has related that as long as the only
vehicle for this discussion in terms of trying to solve the concerns .

of the Colorado lenders in the secondary market relates to the
issue of extending repayment benefits' under the guaranteed, stu-
dent loan program so that students have the ability to consolidate
that debt, I believe the issue then should be that the State of Colo-
rado and other lenders under our program and State agencies do
need to have the benefits of loan consolidation.

But I would also draw your attention back to the discussion that
we had in those days about extended repayment benefits in the

aranteed student loan program. One of the issues that we ad-
ressedwe did not, as you will remember, feel that it was impor-

tant at that point in time to extend the repayment benefits because
of the Federal costs in the outyears as it relates to the costs of the
special allowance.
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At that point in time wewere looking at special allowance rates
1,which were almost equal to the cost of the direct subsidy. Special

allowance at that time was 71/2, 8, 81/2 percent, 9 percent, as it re-
lated to the 7 or 9 percent consideration of the direct subsidy.

Therefore, the outyear costs and the budgetary costs for extend-
ing repayment' terms in the guaranteed student loan program were
quite significant. I believe at this point in time that I am not sure
that that budgetary constraint is still there, as it relates to the
issue of extended repayment benefits in the guaranteed student
loan program'.

Therefore, my recommendation, is that I believe that we must
have a vehicle to address the concerns of bhe secondary market in
my State and the lenders in my State. I do not believe that those
two yitities should be precluded from continuing wrelationship
with students who they have lent to under their college degree as
it relates to their repayment privileges and not be forced or other-
wise to -ell that loan off to a loan consolidator whether it be the
State age , whether it be Sallie Mae or some other entity that is
given that pi er.

I think it's imp nt that we also, at the same time, address the
policy question of ex ending consolidation benefits to the States,
that we address the concern of extended repayment benefits in the
privileges of the piaranteed student loan program as one compo-
nent of the issue of loan consolidation as it relates to NDSL, feder-
ally insured loans, potentially ALAS loans and also the 'guaranteed
student loan component.

In my paper I have given you some recommendations as it re-
lates to that and I would like just for a second to go through those.

I believe that the issue for my lenders, at least the direct. lenders
in my State, the commercial lenders, that issue would be solved if
we were to grant them the condition of extended repayment bene,
fits under. some constrained lending requirefnents such as the e
tended repayment benefits would be for 4 15-year period under the
guaranteed student loan program and that we commit those repay-
ments to only students who have a consolidated GSL,debt of at
least a $7,500 loan amount.

I believe also that to address the concerri;-.t personally believe
that the interest' rate as it relates to the consideration of special
allowance today could remain the same for this extended repay-
ment benefit, but if it was the consensus a the Congress that for
budgetary constraint that that cost was too great to offer these ex-
tended repayment benefits, then I would propose that we do then
raise the interest rate for the consolidated repayment loan under
GSL to a figure of 9 percent for 7 percent loans or a figure of 11
percent for 9 percent loans and there is nothing magic about those
two numbers.

I think those two numbers would be set as it relates to the budg-
etary constraints or the cost to the Federal Government under the
special allowance program.

tthinly that at that same time if you were then to grant the con-,
solidation benefit _to ,the State of Colorado or the secondary market
in the State of Colorade that the needs of Colorado residents as it
relates to consolidating NDSL's, FISL's and GSL's could well be
met, but the other factors of lenders in my State who wish to main-
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twin their relationship and customer rapport with their lenders
would also be solved at the same time.

I think also, at least in the State of Colorado, what you would
find is that the need of loan consolidation as an entity would be
lessened because the major component in my State of indebtedness
is in the GSL faction of ttis equation not in cross referencing a
number of two or three or four different other programs.

With that, Mr. Chairman, I would be more than happy to answer
any questions you might have.

Mr. Su 60N. Thank you very much.
Let me just make a few comments as I sense where we are.
No. 1,' as an accommodation and a convenience for those who

have borrowed, this is a desirhble thing, but probably not a high
priority thing from the viewpoint of the Federal Government.

No. 2, on the cosk factor, I have a hard time getting hold of any-
thing. Is this doing to cost the Federal Government $2 million, $80
million? I don t know. That is a concern.'

Flo. 3 goes beyond the accommodation -factor. To what extent,
when we have consolidation do we help institutions to make money
available to other students through NDSL repayment? To what
extent are we encouraging the lenders, the banks, to stay in the
field?

I don't know whether the gentleman from Citibank who testified
is still here.

ruf Mr. BIKLEN. I am.
Mr. SIMON. If you don't mind pulling up a chair and if I can call

on you againI wonder if you would comment on those general
kind of categories and specifically, I would be interested in what
you think the perspective is, not only of Citibank, but for banking
institutions' attitude toward this whole question. Maybe if I can
refer this to you first.

Mr. BIKLEN. Yes. I think I can speak for most of the other lend-
ers. As I indicated earlier, I have spoken to a number of other lend-
ers on this subject and I think there is a real concern, given that
lenders cannot offer this particular product or service, that they
are put in a position of really competing unfairly. What we find
happening is that we are losing our high balance loans. The fact"
remains that those loans cost us the same to service as any other
loan does. That is a real concern to us.

I think complementing that is the fact that we lenders have had
experience in consolidating loans, given that any time you make
more than one loan to an individual you have to consolidate those
loans into one when they go into repayment and you negotiate a
new repayment schedule and so forth.

So this is not entirely new although this would be a somewhat
different process. The other point I madeearlier was that I think
in ail administrative sense that having the lenders participate in
this program I think would ease the burden on students. There
would be no need necessarily to bring in an additional party that
would have to purchase the loans. One of the lenders that already
have them would simply buy the rest of them. So you wouldn t
have to bring in another party and it would just be a lot simpler to
effect.

Mr. SIMON. All right.
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comments from any of the others on my reactions here?
Mr. MADIGAN. If I might, Chairman Simon.
Mr. SIMON. Yes.
Mr. MADIGAN. I understand what you mean you say this is

a matter of accommodation and probably not a matter of high pri-
ority to the Federal Government, but if I might have you consider
some of the extreme cases. We happen to be in Rhode Island, a
direct lender in the HEAL program, and we have a number of stu-
dens who are going into a variety of health professions institu-
tions.

One of our greatest concerns recently has been students to whom
we have been advancing as much as $10,500 a year to attend veteri-
nary school. They are graduating with a $20,000-plus debt, not to
mention other debts thy may have incurred either in GSL or
NDSL in undergraduate school or even in their veterinary program
for costs other than direct tuition. We have students graduating
with $60,000 worth of debt and the typical starting salary for a new
veterinary is about $18,000.

It seems to me that we have to express concern for the ability of
those students to meet that kind of obligation and consider it some-
thing more than an accommodation. It becomes a necessity, I
think, to avoid the excessive costs that might be incurred in bank-
ruptcy and ether kinds of default. Many of these stude ts, their
first contact is to say, "I have a big probleVi and I hav to have
graduated repayment," and we are attempting to deal wi that.

But I think the fact that we offer the program and that udents
take advantage of it in anticipation of some great capacity o repay
and then to find out that this hasn't occurred and that ey need
help becomes something that has to be of considerab e social con-
cern.

Mr. SEIPEI.T. Mr. Chairman, I would like to follow up on Mr. Bik-
len's comment. My testimony and my proposal is directly related to
the structure of the State of Colorado as it relates to the lending
community. I have concerns for the secondary market in the State
of Colorado because they are a purchaser of student loans as it re-
lates to liquidity in the State of Colorado.

On the other hand, my secondary market in Colorado is not a
direct lender. All of the loans made in Colorado, almost $300 mil-
lion to date in the last 3 years, are direct loans made by lenders in
the State of Colorado, about 225 individual lenders. Over 80 per-
cent of that paper is still held in those lenders' portfolios_ Most of
those lenders that do not sell to the secondary market in Colorado
have participated in the program because it is a customer relation-
ship program. it is a program that they utilize to both cross-sell
other lender services in relationship to other loans, deposits,
'demand deposits and other things, that they have visualized the
guaranteed student loan program as part of a generalized credit
package to an individual and a family.

'Therefore, it is very important to them if their consideration,
both from a cost factor and a participation factor, is whether or not
they can maintain that graduate student's indebtedness after the
student has gotten out of school and goes into repayment. If they
cannot maintain that account for the next 10 or 12 years in the re-
payment status and potentially make other loans and other credit
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and other banking relationships available to that customer then
they, I feel, are not totally willing to participate on the front end
in making that loan in the first place.

So I have some considerable concern about their eligibility to
participate in this, quote, unquote, "loan consolidation mecha-
nism."

Mr. NICHOLSON. Mr. Chairman, I would like to comment on your
first two points as well and tie them together. The matter of loan
consolidation or extension of repayment as a c nvenience, I want
to concur with my \colleagues that it really is ore than a matter
of convenience. In the long run, the Federal G vernment is apt to
save money, not lose money by avoiding the defaults that come
with forcing repayments into a 10-year period.

From day one of the program, 1965-
Mr. SIMON. If I may interrupt. One of my concerns here is that it

looks to me like maybe we are helping the students Wh0 are not
likely to default anyway. Those who have defaulted are not going
to get consolidation. Is that correct?

Mr. NICHOLSON. Yes.
Mr. SIMON. Those who have defaulted are not. So what we are

doing is that we are taking the low-risk student and providing as-
sistance?

Mr. NICHOLSON. There is an argument, Mr. Chairman, that the
high indebtedness students are more apt to repay their loans, that
the default rate on those loang is lower. I think that's documented.

On the other hand, there are many studentsand we have expp-
rienced this situationwho have graduated owing a lot of money
and simply cannot repay it within the 10-year period. In 1976, the
most you could borrow in this program was $10,000. Now in GSL
alone you can borrow $25,000. Now your payments will be three
times as high. It will be over $300 a month as soon as you leave
school and enter your base period.

So I think there's a need. But there is also very definitely 4 cost
to the Federal Government. On a 10-year repayment on a $20,000
the Federal Government will pay $3,000 in special allowance over a
10-year period on a $20,000 loan. Now if that $20,000 worth of loans
is consolidated for 20 years and extended for 20 years, the special
allowance payments would be five times as much; it would be over
$15,000. So there is a very real cost to the Federal Government of
this program.

I would like to suggest that that cost is greater than it needs to
be. I think that there is a need for loan consolidation and recogniz-
ing that need, I think that there ought to be a concession made on
the part of those people who think there is a need, recognizing the
budget problems of the Federal Government, that the special allow-
ance on consolidated accounts be reduced.

The Indiana Secondary Market is able to operate in the black
buying accounts that average $3,200. Sallie Mae is able to generate
handsome profits buying accounts that average $5,000. The ac-
counts that we are talking about here are averaging well over
$10,000. There is a profit potential there that can be reduced with-
out creating significant disincentives for those of us who wish to
consolidate loans on behalf of students.

Mr. SIMON. Yes?



Mr. BoRDEN.,Mr. Chairman, I, too, would like to make some com-
ments. I don't think that anyone else has addressed tok. relation-
ship of the educational institutions and the possibility tough loan
consoiidations of, in effect, prepaying NDSL's and putting more
money into circulation in the institutions.

I did, in fact, talk with a person at one of our major institutions
in Kentucky- yesterday on this particular point. To his credit, I
guess, he called me rather than me calling him. The point he was
making is that he can not cover his servicing costs on NDSL at the
3-, 4-, and 5-percent incomes and he, therefore, is very interested in
runn.ing some social security number sdrts with us for us to tell
him which of those borrowers have GSL's so that'he can then send
lists of names to Sallie Mae.

I explained to him that we rather like those high balance GSL's
because they make it possible for us t make those low-balance
loans available t.o his students.

We could do this. We could identify afl of peop who are eligi-
ble for consolidation and probably need consolidation bdt it's eco-
nomically not a very good decision for us. to cream our own portfo-
lios of the high-balance loans.

So there is a great interest on the campus in that area of consoli-
dation.

On a couple of other points that you mentioned, the cost factor, I
agree that it is very difficult to get a hold on that, but would again
refer to the table on page 4 of my remarks. While it's difficult to
get a hold on the cost. of setup, the cost of advertisement, acquisi-
tion-, it's not too difficult t.o get a hold on the cost by which spexial
allowances increase when a loan is consolidated out of a portfolio
that has been financed in the tax-exempt market.

We get half the special allowance; the non-tax-exempt people get
a full special allowance. So certainly, to the extent. that we are
losing accounts, the special allowance is going up substantially cut
rently.

I think if the justification for the program is to have an impact
on defaults, we ought to simply require the people who are 60, or
perhaps even more days delinquent, be eligible for consolidation as
well. I recognize there are some difficulties in that, but certainly I
think those difficulties can be managed. I am sure that we could
manage 60-day delinquent consolidation in Kentucky.

Finally, you addressed the issue of Whether this would help keep
lenders in. I agree with the gentleman from Citicorp that it would,
because they are very, very aware of servicing costs and they know
that if large volumes of loans get consolidated out,. that their serv-
icing costs may not be met on those lower balance loans.

So I think you hit three very excellent points with respect to this
issue and it seems to me that it's solvable by extending it and by
making the law much more specific.

Mr. SIMON. One final question.
A couple of you touched on the-need in commenting. I wonder if

the other three of youif I can pull yeti in as a witness again here,
Mr. Biklento what extent is this really a need or to what extent
is this simply an accommodation that maybe "we ought to make,
but it is not a high- priority item if the costs are going to be a major
factor here?
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Mr. BIKLEN. To the extent that it is a need, I think it's difficult
to comment on that. We have seen our sales of these things picking
up dramatically in the last two months, I would say. I would at-
tribute that primarily to the advertising campaign that has been

.going on.
In the sense of what is the need out thereand I think this

really gets back to how does all of this really tie to the default rate.
Would these people pay regardless Of whether or not they could do
this program? I don't know the answer to that. The only thing I
could suggestand I don't know if this information is available,
but as I said earlier, if it were possible to determine at what point
are these loans being consolidated, at what point in repayment are
they being consolidated and get a fix on thatare they 1 year into
repayment, are they 2 years or whatever, and then you could com-
pare that to, if it was available again, the history of defaults that
have occurred in the normal GSL and NDSL programs up to that
point in repayment. Then we could get an assessment of what is
really the impact of this program on defaults and, until we know
that, I don't think you can really make the judgment of what is the
need for this program.

IVIT. SIMON. Any further comments?
Mr. SEIPELT. Mr. Chairman, I believe that the need in this con-

text is sort of like a moving freight train. The statistics to date as
it relates to the Sallie Mae loan consolidation numbers are really
insignificant as it relates to the total portfolio that is setting out
there in the guaranteed student loan program, the NDSL and/or
potentially in the ALAS/PLUS component.

I believe though that the circumstances that we are seing that
the gentleman from Indiana proposed is that as we continue
through the cohorts of the guaranteed student loan program
through the next 3 to 5 .years of the massive amount of loans that
we put under guarantee in this program, as those loans become
due and payable in the repayment sequence, the need for a struc-
tured extended repayment, extended potential payoff, students will
increase dramatically; because, as wejust over the last 2 years
from the guarantee agency perspective, we have increased the av-
erage debt per student by over $1,500 per student. That is quite sig-
nificant in less than a 2-year time period. What we are seeing is
that due to the cost of education and other related student aid pro-
grams, that debt burden of students is rising and they must contin-
ue to borrow as their higher education costs continue. So I believe
that the issue may not be as grave and needy today, but in the
next 2 or 3 or 5 years, it will increase dramatically.

Mr. SIMON. That's a good point.
Mr. MADIGAN. Chairman Simon.
Mr. SIMON. Yes?
Mr. MADIGAN. There is one other area too that has not been

brought up in any testimony so far and that is the problem of po-
tential consolidation for parent loans, which, of course, is a rela-
tively new program. But here is .a situation where parents make
consecutive loans for 4 years in a row up to a maximum of $3,000
and find that these obligations are accumulating each with its own
separate repayment period and potentially with different interest
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rates, we already have some parents, of course, who borrowed at 14
percent and then made additional loans at 12 percent.

It may be important to consider the need in that particular area
for potential consolidation as well.

Mr. BORDEN. Mr. Chairman, with respect to the need for consoli-
dation issue, I tend to agree completely with Doug's statements
that the future need may be greater than the current need.

However, it's one of those kinds of issues where you almost need
to legislate good judgmeht on the part of the people offering to con-
solidate because we see a lot of cases where students may have
only $4,000 or $5,000 in loans and they need an extended repay-
ment period because they either haven't completed the educational
program or they are simply in an occupation which won't support
those kinds of repayments.

But it's a two-edged sword to the extent that you raise that
$5,000 threshold, you are, in effect, limiting the' consolidation pro-
gram to the doctors, the lawyers, graduate students, who have
probably gone through the programs and completed many of them
and have the highest capability to pay.

To the extent you lower that threshold, you are, in effect, encour-
aging extensive increases in special allowance payments that would
be due froth the Federal Government. So, I just sympathize with
the fact that it is a problem as to how you solve that dilemma. But
subjectively, and based upon our'experience. with about $179 mil-
lion in student loans in Kentucky, we see a lot of people who have
a need to consolidate some extended and reduced repayment terms,
but they- are -not just -above- $5;000.

Thank you.
Mr. SIMON. We thank you.
I am going to call on Mr. Penny in a moment, but we may want

to get back to you. We are going to have to move rapidly on this
now and make some decisions soon.

Mr. Penny.
Mr. PENNY. Mr. Chairman, this may have been, covered while I

was gone, but I am curious about the competition between all the
lenders for consolidating loans and whether that is going to result
in the circumstance where Sallie Mae is no longer going to partici-
pate in the consolidation at all, if we open it up to private lenders
and to direct lenders, to States who might be direct lenders.

Mr. 1\11cHotsoN..If I may, I would like to comment on that.'
My colleague from Citibank isn't going to like to hear me say

this, but I don't think that-it would be'a good idea to extend con-
solidation to all lenders. Lenders would be 'then highly motivated
to take in as many large balance accounts as they can, because, as
I said, large balance accounts are profitable accounts.

That will, leave those of us who don't have a choice but to buy
studentqoans in jeopardy. We will be left with the smaller balance
accounts..We are not in a position of the banks, where if we can't
operate in the black or break even at what we do, then we can't go
out and make car loans or second mortgages. We are in this one
business because basically the Congress has put us there.

We offer a valuable service to citizens of the States. To allow
banks, as well as Sallie Mae, as well as State secondary markets all

1,
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to compete in this program, I think, would be detrimental to the
future of the program as we know it and of its recent success.

Mr. BORDEN. I think one way to perhaps limit that competition is
to incorporate a requirement that, the first attempt at consolida- '

tion be made by an entity which is a holder of one of the loans to
be consolidated. One of the benefits of this is that you substantially'
reduce the cost of data collection in convOrsion to the consolidated
loan.

Another thing is. that if you are dealing with secondary markets
or direct lenders, you could require that at the point the loan is
made, there be a disclosure as to the capability or the availability
of consolidation by that particular lender.

I would then say that if you have a borrower who is eligible that
no other consolidation agent holds a loan for that, that person
ought to have the capability to go directly to Sallie Mae.

Mr. PENNY. Thank you.
Mr. SEIPELT. Mr. Chairman, could I make one response to that?
I believe, Mr. Penny, that my testimony speaks directly to the

issue that Roy just raised. I personally do not believe that it' is good
pfiblic opinion to offer the quote, unquote, "loan consolidation
mechanism" to over 1,500 entities in this country as it relates to all
the potential lendersState secondary markets, State agencies
themselves.

On the other hand, due to the points that I made before, I think
we need to be very careful not to put the lenders, the lenders them-
selves who put up the money in the first place, many of which hold
their loans through repayment, into an untenable situation that
they cannot compete with the secondary market in Colorado or the
secondary market in Indiana or Kentucky or otherwise, because
the issue for them is extended repayment benefits on loans that
they wish to hold, not the issue of, quote, unquote, "loan consolida-
tion.'; So I think we have to be careful not to forget where the
funds come from in the first place.

Mr. BIKLEN. Yes. I would echo what Doug just said. In terms of
your original question, "What might this do to Sallie Mae?" I still
think that there would be a need for Sallie Mae to the extent that
they would be making consolidations that might run across guaran-
tor lines, that would run acrosIL NDSLI don't believe they are
consolidating HEAL loans nowwbut I think you would still find
that type of need.

Again, in reflecting on what Doug just said, I think what we are
really talking about is if the lender has a loan with them, to allow
us to make the consolidation, too. I think that's the basic issue.
Otherwise, you are at a tremendous competitive disadvantage and
you would really have some questions about the program.

Mr. MADIGAN. If I might comment briefly also.
We are really not so interested, at least from my point of view,

in competing as we are in protecting oukselves against loss. If we
suffer loss, we are in a real difficult sitd`ation. As Mr_ Nicholson
pointed out, we cannot get into other markets. So once those high
dollar average loans are gone or once we put loans up in repay-
ment at startup cost and then have those loans bought immediate-
ly, we suffer real substantial loss and we have to protect ourselves
against that.
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Mr. PENNY. I have no further questions.
Mr. SIMON. I think minority counsel has some questions. Mr.

Dean?
Mr. DEAN. I would like to ask the panel to comment on a state-

ment made by Mr. Fox earlier.
On page 20 of his testimony he says, "We do not believe that the

concept of a weighted average interest rate is a viable one." Mr.
ox goe's on to say, "If weighted rates were applied, the number of

p mtations in combinations of monthly payments would be infi-
nite, and the borrower could not be informed up front of the new
payment schedules until after the new promissory notes were gen-
erated."

That's the first thing I would like you to comment on. The
second one is, "It would be extremely,difficult to accurately gener-
ate at4d control the Government interest billing if weighted rates
are reported to and must be validated by the Department of Educa-
tion."

If each of you could comment on both of those, whether you
agree or disagree with Mr. Fox, and if you do dis*ree, why you
don't think these are problems with the weighted raft.

Mr. BORDEN. I believe that if you permitted averaging to two or
three decimal places, that certainly you would have a great deal of
problems. But if you average and then round up to the nearest in-
teger, there should be no problem. In fact, the great majority would
be 7-, 8-, or 9-percent loans and we are going to have all of those
anyway. There might be some tens if we have HEAL loans in-
volved, and possibly it could go up to 11. But so long as you keep it
in that direct relationship of a full-integer interest rateand the
rounding-up would also have the benefit of reducing special allow-
ance costs for the Governmentit seems to me that both Sallie
Mae and the Department of Education have 'demonstrated a capa-
bility to handle special allowance billings on that basis. It's just
adding a couple of other categories.

Mr. NICHOLSON. I can't improve on what my colleague from Ken-
tucky has said. I think he has said it very well.

Mr. DEAN. Please comment on the fact that the borrower will not
know the monthly schedule until after the note is issued: Again, it
would be a weighted average and the borrowers wouldn't know
how much the consolidation amount would be until they got the
original notes from the holders.

Mr. BORDEN. I don't really understand that point because when
you get the information on the student loans to be consolidated, it's
a relatively simple matter to then run that through the machine
and see what the total amount to be paid off would be and what
the repayments would be on a monthly basis. It may create an in-
tervening step that would add some expense. You get the informa-
tion in and then you) send back to the borrower and say, "If you
choose to consolidate, these will be the terms, conditions, and re-
payment rates for such a consolidation or these are the options
that you have with respect to that."

So it seems to me that that should be a problem.
Mr. DEAN. As I understand thisyou wouldn't be able to know

exactly what the repaythent amount would be because you don't
know what the balance is if a loan has been in repayment for 6
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months. Let's say that one is a 7-percent loan anu then you have a
couple of 12 percent loans at various other stages. You wouldn't be
able to tell the student, depending on how you were going to deter-
mine the weighted average, either the interest rate that they were
going to be paying or the monthly payment on it. This is because
you wouldn't know what the balance was until after you had al-
ready sent notice to the holders of those notes and those notes bad
come in.

Mr. BORDEN. I think that's the equivalent of closure on a bond
issue where you are refinancing other debt. You have to pick a
point in time at which the consolidation would occur and you reach
that agreement or you state that date to the borrower and to the
other holders of obligations for the borrower and then you settle up
with t e prio holders as a part of the closure mechanism.

It's in that many of us have been through and I continue
to think that it s not an insurmountable difficulty.

Mr. NICHOLSON. What Mr. Fox has said is correct with respect to
the idea that you would average out to two or three decimal places.
The picture is changed entirely when you talk in terms of rounding
up to the nearest whole percent. With respect to the difficulty for
the Federal Government to audit bills; again, he's entirely, correct
in saying that that would be nearly impossible for them ti do, if we
were talking about rounding out to one or two or three decimal
places. It's not true if we are talking about rounding up to the
whole integer.

Mr. DEAN. You would probably double or even triple the number
of different interest rates that would be in a portfolio for billing a
special allowance.

Mr. NICHOLSON. Yes; that's possible.
Mr. BIKLEN. I think that what he might be getting at there is the

fact that if you have one rate or two rates and you know what
those rates are going in, an individual would know what their out-
standing wus and it would be very simple to calculate based upon
the repayment termwhat the monthly payments were to be.

On the other hand, if you were going to come up withif you
were going to start averaging rates, you would not be able to refer
to a simple table. You would have to go through this weighted av-
erage calculations I think that is what he was getting at there.

Mr. MADIGAN. I might just make the point also that our second-
ary market already purchases loans in repayment and we do have
the capacity for determining what the balance would be.

Mr. DEAN. Let me ask`, one last qUestion.
Do you see problems with interfacing a weighted average interest

rate on these loans with the graduated repayment' program? I un-
derstand that would be extremely complex and be nearly impossi-
ble to implement. Do you think that you could Implement this'?

Mr. NICHOLSON. Yes, .Mr. Dean, I do. Once the rate has been es-
tablished at 8 or 9 or 7 or 10, then the matter of applying the grad-
uated repayment formula is the same whether we are talking
about a 7-percent loan in the first place or an 8 or a 9. That's what
computers are for. [Laughter.]

Mr. MADIGAN. We work with a servicer and I checked with him
specifically to see what kind of problems he ,would have. Let me
say up front that he admitted that it is a very difficult problem to
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solve initially, but it is a matter of solving how to proKram it and
once it is programed it no longer becomes a difficult problem.

Mr. BORDEN. Maybe the report language ought to specify that
Sallie Mae ought to share that technology with the guarantee
agency. [Laughter.]

Mr. SIMON. We thank you very much for your testimony.
We may very' well be -getting back to you for your reaction to

what we will be putting together.
Thank you very much. The hearing stands adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 11:49 a.m., on June 8, 1983, the subcommittee

was adjourned.]
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